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Key Figures EEZF | 2022-2023

Information Reach | 2 &%
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Online Price Watch
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Mass Media
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Press Releases
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School and Community Programmes
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Primary School Students
B
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School Students
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6,726 100%*

Persons with Special Needs
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* Note: applicable to programmes implemented in 2021/22 school year only
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Protecting Consumer Rights

RIEHEEER

Direct Assistance
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Consumer Legal Action Fund (CLAF) JHE&&FAE
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Research, Test & Survey
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First-ever Product Tests
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Operational Sustainability

Sustainable Office FIFHEMAE
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Protecting Our Environment
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Council Highlights SEEEFEE) | 2022-2023

Launch of WeChat Official Account
HEEEAMEATRMKER LG

A handy “consumption encyclopaedia” for WeChat users in both Hong Kong and the Mainland,

the Council's brand new WeChat Official Account is a wealth of practical information such as
shopping guides, articles on hot topics, tips on consumption traps, price comparison tools, as
well as complaint status checking and supplementary document submission functions.

FENDHELMEARTEN "ELHEENE2E R
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B XE - BOREEM  HBER  BREIR LIRS
BEARERER SER A ERITNEE

More in “Disseminating Consumer Information”

HIFU2R TEREEAR, &
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“Fostering Consumer Trust — Ethical Artificial Intelligence in
E-commerce” Study Report Released

955.: B CEEHELHER RESFEBATIZERE) B

The Council published the captioned report, its first-ever study on the use of artificial intelligence

(Al) in e-commerce in Hong Kong. Acknowledging the pros and cons of Al, the study identified
6 key areas of concern and put forward 6 recommendations to advocate responsible and ethical

Al through the collective effort of the Government, traders and consumers. As part of an

extensive publicity campaign, the Council co-organised a webinar with the South China

- » . o . o . . . .
-— = Morning Post, facilitating discussion among industry leaders.
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More in “Advocating a Fair Marketplace and Legal Protection for Consumers”
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The First Revamped Consumer Rights Reporting Awards g1

(CRRA) Presentation Ceremony

2HER HEESIERER  HRAE

The 22nd CRRA, the first edition since a revolutionary revamp, concluded with a presentation

voting for 2 awards.

& LIREREHEBIRRTSIAARIRE

More in “Disseminating Consumer Information”

2R TEEEENR . &
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ceremony conferring a total of 34 awards handpicked from a record-breaking 311 entries. The
overhauled CRRA pioneered multiple innovations, including a
new social media category, Topical Reporting Award promoting
discussion of a selected consumer protection issue, and public

F22F HERRNERER ) REHUKER  HIKE
311 B B(ER - FIREFICHE - MG FHAR 34 @8
H - 2 HRVFERBSERBMEEN - BESIARHHER
FEHR - e TEEEEAR ) DERRARNREES

Taking Sustainable Action for Hong Kong Book Fair
NEEERERUFETH

For the first time ever; the Council fully replaced paper forms with e-forms, and

introduced 2 new digital payment methods — Octopus and PayMe — at its Hong
Kong Book Fair booth, actualising sustainability and digitalisation efforts. An 85%
cashless rate was recorded across all transactions.

HEREMN 2022 FHNEREN - BRUETREZEBATINRRE » AR
FEIAN 2 BEFNAN | NEBK PayMe » SERNTERAIRFERRNSE
TACROFTR » WREIZ ST - SFIRE 85% -

More in “Disseminating Consumer Information”
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HKloD 25 An Dinner
' cum Prasentation of Directors Of The Year Awards
Wothesday 23 November 2022
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Proudly Awarded Directors of the Year Awards 2022
RE "2022 FEBGHESE

The Board of Consumer Council received the prestigious captioned award by
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors, a profound recognition of the Council’s
longstanding commitment to strong corporate governance and dedication to

consumer protection.

HEGRTAREFEERBUIENRE DB EAE —ELURHERENRES
BERBNREHBERBNTIIF -

More in “Commendations and Compliments”
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Launch of Virtual Reality Initiative for Consumer Education
B ERBRAEEYFEY
The Council piloted a groundbreaking virtual reality (VR) initiative for its well-received
“Support Programme for Persons with Special Needs”, leveraging the immersive

technology for role-play simulation of sales malpractices in 2 scenarios — fitness and
beauty centres.

AEH "RHRBEALTEE ) HEHURAREL - FRERBEMRFEISIA
EHER (VR) ARHRES > ERANERANE  RERHRUE—SHARR
BEFONERGREZRTARLRENARBEEFE -

More in “Empowering Consumers Through Education”

HIFT 2R "UREEDRAEEEARRESLEN, — 8
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“Travel Matters” Takes Top Complaint Category with
+158% Rebound
" REESRTE o FERAEF 168% FIEE
Complaint figures and trends are indicators of current affairs and consumers’ top concerns.

The year under review witnessed the hardest hitting fifth wave of COVID-19 and the gradual
recovery. Most notably, “Travel Matters” became the top complaint category with a steep year-

on-year rebound of 158% as borders reopened in early 2023. Complaints related to “Internet
Shopping” and “Food & Entertainment Services” rose by 68% and 29% respectively, while that
for electrical appliances hit an all-time high with over 3,000 cases.

SEMHERFETNES R RAFNBEEIRARNIEE - £/ &
BERERBRILIE 5 R AR ER - IS 2023 ENES BN T REEE . B
FER RIS — 7 - B SEIRTE 158% - 108, A T R RIRE | 1B
PR 68% K 29% + T BBAG 1 IRIFESLHHE + 2198 3,000 SURF -

More in “Resolving Disputes Between Consumers and Businesses”
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2022-23 FERELE 7



Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing, BBS, MH, JP

REREEEERREERRRRRRES .| [hnassid . (RTEE LB KFEHT
Chairman Ef&

In the wake of the technology megatrends and the paradigm shift in sustainable
consumption, | am pleased to report that the Consumer Council has proactively
responded to the rapid changes in consumer behaviour and set new horizons in
consumer protection, particularly in artificial intelligence (Al)-led consumption.
During the year, the Council prioritised safeguarding consumer interests in both
the physical market and cyberspace, and it will continue its mission as we embark

on our 50th year.

Technology has taken us to a new world. Various new technologies have
emerged from time to time in the past decade. While Fintech has long been
leading the digital transformation, the real game-changer is the use of Al,
particularly in the consumption landscape. All these cutting-edge technologies
have had a significant impact on consumer decisions, purchasing patterns,
consumer behaviour and interaction among businesses. In light of this, the
Council understands the importance of staying abreast of these irreversible, fast-
changing developments and advocating for policies that promote consumer

protection and trust.

Consumer Council 2022-23 Annual Report
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‘ Chairman's Message E[ERYEE

The Council has also been closely monitoring and engaging with the
development of online shopping and digital payment systems, which have
become part of the new normal in the post-pandemic period. For instance,
more e-payment options are now available to consumers, while numerous
consumption traps and scams have also cropped up. Indeed, a substantial portion
of the complaints the Council received during the year, 44% to be exact, were
related to online shopping.

Managing Double-edged Technologies

One of the reasons why the Council is concerned about Al is that many
Al applications process personal data. The more consumers leave their
digital footprints, the more exposed they are to being profiled.
Future technologies may be able to comprehend consumer
preferences even better than the consumers themselves,
yet the predictions and outcomes may also be biased. The
use of Al can definitely benefit consumers, but it is also
necessary to mitigate its associated risks to safeguard
consumer interests.

EIBRTERAASH LBYNEFAE
EAE-—ERY)ERHBERNBES $ﬁﬁm%
DHER > I EF A RBEBEETRKT BELEE
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AR -
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HEEERS® 2022-23 F% 9



In our pioneering study on this topic, “Fostering Consumer Trust — Ethical
Avrtificial Intelligence in E-commerce”, the Council found that many consumers
have not yet developed habits to protect their personal data, which might
expose them to abuse by unscrupulous traders. To further responsible
Al development in Hong Kong and empower consumers to enjoy the
convenience and benefits brought by Al, it is crucial to advocate a responsible

and ethical Al policy direction.

In view of this, the Council recommended a three-pronged strategy to
continually enhance the policy framework, the effectiveness of digital
governance among traders, and the capacity of consumers to protect
themselves. An extensive campaign was also rolled out in major media,
along with a webinar event, co-hosted with the South China Morning Post,
that brought together local and regional e-commerce leaders, e-tailers and
techpreneurs for such a discussion.

During the year, the Council actively participated in many different public
consultations regarding the digital economy, including the e-HKD, virtual
asset (VA) trading platforms, following the submission of our views
concerning crypto assets in the previous year. As Hong Kong is one of the
leading jurisdictions to regulate VA trading platform operators, we believe
the best way for Hong Kong to protect consumers is through proactive

policies and measures.

Another area worth highlighting is digital payment fraud, as a result of more
consumers linking their credit cards to their digital wallets, which on one hand
offers great convenience, but on the other hand introduces new risks that
consumers should be aware of. The Council also addressed the emergence
of the “"Buy Now, Pay Later” approach, a credit product similar to monthly
instalments, generally used for small-value payments for daily transactions.
Despite the claims to be “interest-free”, consumers should fully understand
the fees and related charges, and examine the terms meticulously to avoid
falling into the over-borrowing consumption trap.

As technology advances, so must our governance system. In the increasingly
complex cyberspace, the Council believes it is necessary to reform the
cybercrime law, including the introduction of an accreditation scheme for
certifying cybersecurity professionals, as detailed in its submission to the Law
Reform Commission. A champion of financial inclusion, the Council also supports
fair digital finance, which was at the top of the agenda of World Consumer
Rights Day in 2022. The Council will continue to proactively work with the
various stakeholders, law enforcement and the regulatory authorities to enhance

consumer protection in all these areas.

Spreading Consumer Messages Across Digital Media

Technology also offers new opportunities for engagement with consumers.
Recognising the increasing use of digital systems between traders and
consumers, the Council followed the online trend by encouraging various
media to promote consumer protection information through the Consumer

Rights Reporting Awards, which we have proudly organised for 22 years.

Consumer Council 2022-23 Annual Report

FR - ASHEEREMEN CERBEE LR
RESTHBALERRE) MFmE  EHF
LHBERARBNRE[ABERNEE  HBR
EHEWARENEFANA - BT E—SRER
BRESALERREK RFEHESRAZR
AT SRR RENLT R - B DERSTE
EEANFEERNATERERRSA -

HE AR ASEZRM=EE THIR -
BENETERRER  BREAFSERIBER
FEBERN - DURRRHE BN B RRERE
Do st BMTEBTERBFEZES
W (FERR) AMERATE BF TR
HEANSTEEEM  BELRIREER

PRI T RAR R ©

BREELISN - HER—F IR T HINBEENER
R AENFFETEB2ET ZEEHEH
FIOBENARER  BEEEET  EREE
(VA) RSZFEE - TREEREERZTHE
BESH  AERHEBRLCHAUNAEZEEERE
Z— BFEERELE  BIEEBURNE
It > RAREHEEENR AR

HET I HENFRES — ARSI
- BERRALHEEREHFESTER
WE > HAEEERRERN  BHEBRFTE
E—ERR HEELARRGED AETE
BYMFEEN "RERMY, HERX > &
BUNHNFMEEER  BEANRB BN
Ry BEBEE "RE . HEBENAFH
TREPRESMRESMES  DeBABE
BERHERM -

BEERHRRES - BAINERRATMAR L
T o MR TBEN  NERRHEVER
P2HEBREERNES  BESIARBREZE
EALREE BRUARETFRERNMERR
EREERRTHAMNERE - FRELESR
MEEE  AE2NXF 2022 FEEHEES
ERHEREBRNATEIESH - R TE
BEERASTNE WERBENEERES
E > ERTE BRI EEERIREE -

EREBRERRHEE GRS

METMRR Y B2 EOHE B RB R OB S
PINBRBZEFAASESTIE  BBEXR
MEHBEER ZHMR - @8 ERBER
RETARERA  BRBFRINERT 225
HUEE AT RESR - SEE 2 EARRE
DARNFEEBREHEENEN °



As the first-ever trial among similar awards, we introduced a new category,
“Best Use of Social Media in Consumer Advocacy”, which acknowledges the
use of social media to advocate for consumer rights and interests. Another
whole new award, called the “Topical Reporting Award”, was introduced
to actively promote discussion of a specific consumer protection issue. The
first theme for 2022 was “Protecting Consumers under E-commerce”,
selected in response to the large number of new e-business models that had
flourished and the related consumer risks. The aim of this annual topic was to
urge the e-commerce industry to improve its service quality and to educate
consumers on the relevant legal safeguards. We also piloted public voting for
two categories, the “News Photography Award” and the “Tertiary Student
Journalism Award”, introducing direct interaction with consumers to engage
them in recognising outstanding journalists, organisations and media outlets
that have contributed to consumer protection and advocacy. The endeavour

was an unprecedented success.

To continue developing new avenues for engagement and advocacy, the Council
launched the Consumer Council's WeChat Official Account in June 2022.
As an important step to broaden the Council's presence on social media, the
WeChat account provides timely and relevant information, including 450 free
shopping guides, hot consumption topics, price-comparison tools, and common
consumption traps and complaints for incoming tourists to be aware of — all at
their fingertips.

The Council understands that new technologies have to be applied proactively
to our operations, especially to fulfil consumers’ growing demand and heightened
expectations for more efficient and effective complaint handling. During the
year, we spearheaded our new online dispute-resolution system, and we plan
to introduce a brand new interface in the next year or two to help consumers
around the world shopping in Hong Kong to resolve consumption disputes and

complaints in a cost-effective and time-efficient manner:

Rising Need for Sustainable and Environmentally
Friendly Consumption

Hong Kong people have become significantly more aware of their surroundings
due to the pandemic. One example of this is that many are concerned about
sustainable consumption, particularly the environmental impact of throwaway
items, such as face masks and rapid antigen test (RAT) kits, which were used to

safeguard human health during the pandemic.

Also, as consumers have been spending more time at home, combined with
rising local electricity costs, they have become increasingly concerned about
energy efficiency when purchasing household appliances. The Council’'s tests on
all electrical appliances therefore endeavour to include a comparison of energy

efficiency to cater for this rising trend.

These environmental issues have been aggravated by other worldwide events,
particularly the global energy crisis, which sparked a dramatic increase in
electricity prices in the year under review. As a result, consumers around the

world are clamouring for cleaner and more affordable energy.
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In 2022, over half of the newly registered private cars in Hong Kong were
electric vehicles (EVs), thanks to a first registration tax concession whose aim
is to reduce air pollution. With the rapid adoption of EVs, however, the Council
recorded a whopping 339% year-on-year spike in the number of EV-related
consumer complaints, owing mainly to parts shortages and delayed delivery. In
the reporting year, 79% of all complaints related to the purchase of new cars
were related to EVs, involving a total of over $43 million. Furthermore, the
Council is actively involved in issues related to the energy market. Examples
during the year included our submission on the Mandatory Energy Efficiency
Labelling Scheme (MEELS), supporting the addition of three more product types,
i.e. gas cookers, gas instantaneous water heaters, and Light-emitting Diode (LED)
lamps, in the fourth phase of the Scheme.

Recognising the global trends in the transition to clean energy, the Council
supported the World Consumer Rights Day's theme this year to act against
extreme weather resulting from global climate change by alleviating consumers
from the rising cost-of-living and helping to meet the net-zero targets by
promoting global access to sustainable energy. Some 80% of consumers
worldwide are making serious adjustments to pay for energy, according to
Consumers International, and the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
aims to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by at least 40% by 2050. The growing
Hong Kong consumer attention to the environment was also exemplified in the
government’s initiative to raise the plastic bag levy to HK$1, which received the
most votes in our annual Top 10 Consumer News voting campaign in 2022.

More Consumer Empowerment in the Next 50 Years

The Coundil is thrilled to be celebrating our 50th anniversary next year. For half
a century, the Council has played an instrumental role in ensuring that businesses
operate ethically and transparently, and that consumers are empowered to make
informed choices. It is truly remarkable to observe how the forces of digitisation,
and in particular; consumer forces, have radically altered our society and economy
in the past 50 years. Each decade was characterised by its unique consumer
issues and consumption environment, and through identifying and addressing
both time-specific and longstanding key consumer concerns and opportunities,
the Council has contributed to shaping many positive developments in Hong
Kong's history of consumer protection. As we celebrate this milestone, we owe
a debt of gratitude to our founders and past leaders, who laid a solid foundation
and set a positive momentum that we strive to maintain today.

Since our establishment, we are proud to have become the trusted voice for
consumers, yet our endeavours to champion consumer rights will not end there.
Looking ahead, we are more than ready to face the new challenges brought
by emerging technologies and the rapidly changing consumer landscape with a
positive and proactive attitude, to continuously evolve and progress in sync with
today's dynamic world.

Consumer Council 2022-23 Annual Report
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Our forward-thinking missions are embedded in our three-year strategic
plan from 2022-23 to 2024-25, which we will continue to work towards —
the Council will focus on safeguarding consumer interests under the digital
economy, enabling informed consumption choices for better quality of life,
equipping targeted vulnerable consumers with proper knowledge and skills
for self-protection, sustaining and developing partnerships to synergise works
in consumer protection at the international, Mainland (including the Greater
Bay Area) and local levels, and upholding the Council as an effective, high-
performing statutory body through staff enrichment and strong corporate
governance.

Having been on the board since 2014, | am no stranger to the work and
people of the Council. Yet in my first year as Chairman, | have tangibly felt an
even greater responsibility now to work closely with more stakeholders and
Council Members to uphold the Council's mission and pave the way for the
years to come. | am particularly thankful to our team of dedicated staff and
management, who pulled together, worked even harder, and went beyond the
call of duty during the difficult three-year pandemic. My heartfelt gratitude also
goes to all Council Members and the many important stakeholders and partners
with whom we have worked during the past 12 months for their unwavering
support and guidance. Indeed, the board's efforts, both the current Members
and all our predecessors, were acknowledged by the prestigious “Directors of
the Year Awards 2022", presented to the Council by the Hong Kong Institute of

Directors in recognition of its high standards for corporate governance.

A series of public activities have been planned to mark the Council's important
milestone next year, one of which is our first-ever “Consumer Rights Week”
with fun and engaging activities for the public. At this momentous juncture, the
Council remains unwavering in its passion and commitment, and will stay vigilant
against various risks against consumer rights. We will continue to advocate for
transparency, faimess and ethical practices in the marketplace, to build a brighter,
safer and more equitable future for consumers in our city.

Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing, BBS, MH, JP

Chairman
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The Consumer Council navigated through a crucial yet challenging time during
the review period and produced a few groundbreaking advances amid the
consumer paradigm shift made possible by new technology. We adapted and
responded to the changing needs at different stages of the pandemic period,
preparing ourselves in accordance with the preceding three-year strategy plan to
meet more challenges in the new normal and impending economic recovery. As
the Council is about to cross its half-century mark, we will work to expand the

new horizons for protecting and empowering consumers in Hong Kong.

For the Council, it was a year of déja vu. The fifth wave of the pandemic,
which was severe and had spread quickly, brought to light a series of
problems, including the scarcity of rapid antigen test (RAT) kits, and delays
in the delivery of online purchases and food orders. After the pandemic
had passed and the city had reopened, traffic-related problems reappeared.
The Council occasionally had to reprioritise its work based on the scenario
at hand, but it never stopped promoting consumer education with the use
of technology, cultivating media relationships, and providing legal support
through the Consumer Legal Action Fund.
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Even though the pandemic is over, it would be difficult not to wrap up our
work for the year without highlighting some of the novel strategies the Council
adopted in this unusual period. At the height of the most contagious season for
COVID-19 in early 2023, the Council established a search tool for registered
over-the-counter pharmaceutical products containing paracetamol, following a
skyrocketing demand for medication for fever and mild pain, and after receiving a
number of complaints about over-pricing and late delivery.

Our annual “Top 10 Consumer News — Year of the Tiger” provided a solid
illustration of what consumers were worried about the most. We discovered
that pandemic-related articles, such as RAT kits, flight reservations,
consumption vouchers and store closures, made up the top half of the

list. But the news story “Plastic Bag Levy Raised to $1  Frozen/Chilled
Foodstuff No Longer Exempt” topped the list with 3,463 votes,
accounting for 73% of the total number of voters, highlighting the
importance and application of sustainable consumption in consumers’

day-to-day lives.
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Buyer-Beware Cases During the Pandemic

Almost all businesses were hard hit by the protracted pandemic. We
stepped up and provided timely help and support to customers of affected
businesses and took the lead to coordinate with traders in handling issues
with consumers. Subsequent to the closure of 2 major fitness centre
chains in December 2021 and March 2022, whom we urged to properly
handle relevant customer service work, such as informing each customer
of the remaining prepayment balance and unused services, more fitness
centres shuttered during the year in review, which by industry, accounted
for more than 30% of all complaint cases related to shop closures in the
last financial year.

The untimely collapse of Crostini, a local bakery chain, which led to cake
voucher holders losing money last year, served as a reminder of consumer
interest in prepaid vouchers, another important subject that we dealt with.
Likewise, the demise of a 56-year-old travel agency, Hong Thai Travel,
during the extended travel shutdown, though it did not have a great
impact on travellers, shocked locals owing to its long history and leadership
position in the industry, as exemplified by our readers’ selection of the Top
10 Consumer News 2022.

Trade Malpractices in the Spotlight as Global
Travel Resumes

Particularly when cross-boundary and international travel resumed in early 2023,
travel-related complaints saw a sharp 158% increase to 3,341 cases, ranking
among the top complaint categories during the review period. In 2022-23,
concerns related to travel rose to the top spot, with 70% of the complaints
about online travel purchases. Over 80% of these were associated with
airline tickets (45%) and hotel reservations (38%), while some of them were
connected to the change in travel policies in Hong Kong and other places during

the pandemic.

To prevent imported cases of COVID-19, all arrivals from outside Hong Kong
were mandated to book accommodation at designated quarantine hotels from
December 2020. Complaints involving quarantine hotels when the mandate
was in effect rose by 4.8 times to 917 cases in the reporting period. Similarly,
complaints related to staycations, which were a favourite pastime of locals during
the pandemic, were mostly about sales practices or contract changes. These
short-term, post-pandemic problems are expected to improve as the city returns

to normal.
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The Return of Sales Fraud Against Mainland Tourists

As an international city, it is just as important for Hong Kong to uphold the
consumer rights of visitors as it is for locals. Sales malpractices and bad service
targeting Mainland visitors negatively impact the visitor experience and harm the
reputation of the Hong Kong's tourism industry, leading to visitor dissatisfaction
and frustration. Therefore, it is imperative for the travel industry to take proactive
measures to eradicate these problems and ensure a fair and enjoyable tourism

experience for all visitors.

Many of the sales malpractices involved the sale of Chinese medicine, as
customers must carefully examine the calculations involving price, currency
exchange and units of measurement (such as catty or tael) to ensure that they
are clearly stated on their receipts. We always emphasise to consumers that if
a merchant avoids price enquiries, they should be vigilant, stay calm and avoid
engaging in questionable or forced transactions.

Recovering from the Pandemic to the New Normal

While many of the changes experienced during the pandemic were temporary,
others ushered in a long-term new normal. As we returned our focus to the
main livelihood items that concern local consumers, we found in our annual
survey of supermarket prices that the aggregate average price of the principal
items in three major supermarket chains increased by 2.1% in 2022, the greatest
increase in 10 years, more than the 1.9% increase in the composite consumer
price index. The Council took a step further by analysing the average prices of 80
items before and after the three-year pandemic (i.e. from 2019 to March 2023)
using its supermarket price comparison tool “Online Price Watch”. It revealed a
12% increase in the aggregate average price of the 80 products. The worst was

canned food, which was 30% higher than it was before the outbreak.

We urge supermarket groups to assume their social responsibility by striving
to control prices of necessities like staple foods and groceries, because as the
Chinese saying goes, “firewood, rice, oil, salt, sauce, vinegar and tea” are all
necessities for every family. The Council will continue to closely monitor price

changes of daily necessities to help the public make wise decisions.

™ Chief Executive's Message #EEERIEE

\

HERMRFAVIGFHERLER
EREREBANS » RERDHEEERRE
RENHBREASER - HHRBIRBNOFR
REMFARESRY  HIRELBHERR
R ENBEORRATRE - AL IR
3 A R IRE IR A RS L PR
RFEIREAEAT RIGRAIEEER -

AORREWMFEMARNEHERR  HES
EREHEERF  BULEMOFTELZHE
B EXNEBEEM (M) LERERLE
MER ERER - BB REREE 542
EHERSEEAMERE HEEERFED
RRE MBREENRKEIRRE  BRIERS -

REEhER LA THERE,
HFATRIGHBERSEE D EERM B —
LAERE THER N—2 - BERMKE
AENEH R AEEERSNERRL
—F—ENBRHSERATRIE > 202243
REHBTFEERWREHEKR LA 21%
Foi 10 FLUIRMERARFIE @ WBEIREHEY
BEIEE 1.9% IWFHIE - ASE—TFIFHBHER
TH "RELER—BE, K0 EER T8
IS8 (2019 & 2023 4 3 A ) I FEHEK
B BIBEEERWEFHEER 12%89F
18 - B AN EEBERR  FHEEREE
IREEH] EF 30% ©

FEKHBEERS ) RBEARENLTR &
FRBETEERTEEGHERME  FHIE
MEESEFELFRNER - AE TSRS
SEFLERNVERES) - WEITHEBIHEE -

HEBEESE 2022-23 £ 17



Surging Digital Consumption and Complaints

Being in the Consumer Council for the past 10 years has allowed me to observe
how technology has affected the paradigm change in consumer behaviour and
how it has empowered consumers through making information more accessible.
The rise of social media has amplified the consumer voice and opened up new
communication channels that have brought about changes that have never been

seen before.

One of the most distinct changes in consumption patterns is the habitual
use of internet shopping. This also led to a surge in complaints, reaching over
14,000 cases in the year, a 68% increase, accounting for 44% of all complaints.
The category “Travel Matters” had the most complaints, followed by “Food &
Entertainment Services” and "“Clothing & Apparel”.

The Council will keep an eye on technological advances that allow for new
ordering and delivery methods in the food industry, which also experienced a
significant increase in complaints during the year, as more individuals chose to
stay at home during the pandemic. For instance, complaints related to online
food delivery platforms rose 57% year on year, and the amount involved soared

by almost 80%, mostly involving late or incomplete deliveries and price disputes.

Another problem linked to the rise in online buying is the surge in online
fraud. One such instance involved a large-scale credit card fraud involving
unauthorised international transactions, which initially came to light on social
media but was quickly resolved by the bank, which pledged to reimburse its

cardholders for any losses.

Given the increasing use of Al in the digital world, we will periodically examine
and respond, where necessary, to the megatrend for the benefit of our business
operations and ultimately, Hong Kong consumers. To better serve consumers
through their preferred channels, including our website, mobile app and social
media platforms, we will also work to improve our digital capabilities.

The use of new technology can help achieve our mission to benefit all
consumers. During the year, we launched a brand new virtual reality (VR)
programme as part of our ongoing “Support Programme for Persons with
Special Needs”, whose aim is to educate and empower persons with special
needs to protect their consumer rights, generating positive publicity and feedback.
Leveraging the immersive experiential learning offered by VR technology, many
users reported that the programme made a significant difference in their ability
to navigate and experience virtual simulations of real-world consumption
environments, assisting them to acquire necessary skills to avert unscrupulous

sales tactics deployed by fitness centres and beauty parlours.
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Celebrating a Half-century with the Public

Since its founding in 1974, the Consumer Council has consistently stood up for
consumer rights, never wavering from our commitment to advance consumer
welfare through safe, sustainable consumption in a just and fair marketplace. We
understand the importance of our mandate for safeguarding consumer interests
and will continue to look for innovative approaches to deliver our duties more
effectively and efficiently.

The Council is therefore on schedule to accomplish the five primary objectives
we established for 2022-23 in our three-year strategic plan. Given the
importance of reorganising and catching up with the Council's work and plans,
we are pleased to report that we are fully on track on our mission to fully
protect Hong Kong consumers.

Having laid a strong foundation, we anticipate another busy but fruitful year
leading up to our 50th anniversary. | would like to thank everyone involved,
notably the Chairman and Council Members for their guidance, and Council staff
for their coordinated efforts to help with the post-pandemic recovery and the
creation of a more resilient, inclusive and sustainable future.

Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han

Chief Executive
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ABOUT THE CONSUMER COUNCIL
HAREEEEEE

The Consumer Council has been a champion of consumer rights in
Hong Kong for nearly half a century, taking up roles similar to many
counterparts around the world. Apart from advocating consumer
protection regulations and good trade practices to foster a safe, fair
and sustainable marketplace, forestalling and mediating consumer
disputes, the Council also empowers consumers through education
and disseminating useful and reliable information on goods and
services.

BRI HEEREE - HFEABHEESNER - — U
HREBMANEFRER  ASEFREHEENHRONREEHT
%z RERE S ATFHAFERENTS  REEERAEMY I
BEBABENBMERMBRBEENINREEEN B BIRERT]

@

Consumer Council Ordinance CHEER B EF1E6])
The Consumer Council is a statutory body established in 1974. Pursuant to the HEBEEZESN 1974 £ 0 SEBNEE
Consumer Council Ordinance (Cap. 216), the Council's functions are to protect 0B - RIE CHEEZESKAD) (F216 %)
and promote the interests of consumers of goods and services, and purchasers, HESMBREAREREES RRBIEE
mortgagors and lessees of immovable property by: EiEw LR ABIENBE A - 25 ANAM
AREs o HEge e -

» collecting, receiving and disseminating information concerning goods and

services and immovable property;  WE N B NEEBENER  REBEAEHE
* receiving and examining complaints by and giving advice to consumers of ER ;

goods and services, and purchasers, mortgagors and lessees of immovable « BEXREEGRNRBIEEENRIFLIR

property,; REENBE A ~ 2B A LAHE AWK
* taking such action as it thinks justified by information in its possession, W R FHRHER

including tendering advice to the Government or to any public officer; - REHBRIAFTEANERT S IE EREMN
* encouraging business and professional associations to establish codes of 178 - BREABITSEFALABASRESER

practice to regulate the activities of their members; and c RRBRERFEEBFEERETA - LURE
* undertaking such other functions as the Council may adopt with the prior BTEENES &

approval of the Chief Executive in Council. - REZESETRRESRTRE L]

JETERINEI BB IR
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Vision
To be the trusted voice in striving for consumer betterment
towards safe and sustainable consumption in a fair and just market.

Mission

* Act as advocate for consumer interests

* Facilitate constructive discussion and promulgation of
pro-consumer policies

* See to empower consumers to help themselves

Core Values

* Be consumer interests driven, with due regard to the concept
of sustainable consumption

* Uphold fairness and justice

* Maintain openness in its activities

* Be independent and unsusceptible to undue influence

* Be accountable

» Discharge its functions proactively, constructively and with
perseverance

* Protect the privacy of personal data

Performance Pledge

The Council pledges to fulfill its statutory functions as stipulated
in the Consumer Council Ordinance. Within these ambits, we will

strive our best to:

* answer consumer enquiries and handle complaints in a timely
manner;

» conciliate dispute between consumers and service suppliers;

» conduct researches, surveys and product testing to produce
and publish useful information and results;

* provide a regular outlet of information, advice and view points
on all matters affecting interests of consumers;

* monitor trade practices and liaise with industry body to
safeguard consumer interests;

* research on consumer policy and launch consumer education

campaign or related activities.

. About the Consumer Council RBIHBEERE
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GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT
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As Hong Kong's statutory consumer protection body, the Consumer FRBEBERRESAMREEEERRN

Council upholds a longstanding commitment to strong corporate ETEHNE  HBEZEGRALIKRST
governance and dedication to consumer protection. Through a BHHEZEER B ONREERRE
governance framework incorporating recommended principles and HEBERED - AGNEREREBESIETE
best practices for statutory bodies, the Council fulfils its functions BENERREIANRERITHE KM
to the highest professional standards while promoting fairness and DIEEEXRERITERBRE  RFEE
ethical conduct, ensuring accountability and transparency in its NFNBERBITR  BEREFRAEMEN
operations, and achieving good proper management in the interests MBAE - W LIFTEFNEMNARA
of all stakeholders and the public. RHEE > BRRIFER -

Membership of the Consumer Council HEEREEES
Formed according to section 6 of Cap. 216 Membership of Council, the Council HEEZEENEERR CHEEZESKA)
comprises a Chairman, a Vice-Chairman and not more than 20 other Members (216 F) Fo6 & "ZESHFEN, M85k &K
appointed by the Chief Executive of the Hong Kong Special Administrative EBEER BEREAZR 20 2EE - &8
Region (HKSAR) for a term not exceeding 2 years. Members may be HEBRITRETHRRERE W EHAER
reappointed upon the expiry of their respective terms of office. All are governed ME  ZENEHEREAIBERE - TEZE
by the Council's Code of Conduct for Members. BB TRETRASTA
In terms of Members' personal profile, the Council's composition achieved a high BEENBAZEERE  BABERIIEFEEN
degree of diversity in advising and governing the Council's work — educational ITHERRME ~ FEENARE - UEFRFMER
background, professional and industry representation, skills and knowledge, age EELZT BhEEGETEMRACKERHE
and gender. Sectors covered academia, legal sector; medical sector, business ZEMNILIF - REMNRBIRESMSR  IEER
sector and the Legislative Coundil. BEA BMANIDES -
In the year under review, Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing, BBS, MH, JP succeeded FRN o RIBLLLE  HIEFESE > LEFZ
Mr Paul LAM Ting-kwok, SBS, SC, JP as the Council Chairman with effect from 15 KKIEMEIR 2022 £ 7 B 15 HiEEEMRERE
July 2022. On 1 January 2023, Ms Doris LIAN Shaodong joined the Council as RRERED  BEFMEE - KEML - REE
a new Member. S@EF-PN2023F 1818 #OLKLEM
AZREEHUREE - FAERORHEHERZEM
The Council would like to express its gratitude to Council Member, Prof. Nelson SEHIT KT ERI R R EIERNZ=E -
LAM Chi-yuen, JP for his unrelenting commitment and dedication during his term
of office. AERHNOMERERKEM  BENES
KL BEURIDEE - MERIERKEM
Special tribute was paid to Mr Paul LAM Ting-kwok, SBS, SC, |P for his enormous N2019FEZE 2022 FHAEECTEHRE &
and significant contributions to the Council. During his term from 2019 to BIRZ  RIFET 4 @8 / TE/NERERE
2022, Mr Lam had served as the Chairman of 4 committees/working groups, BIEAENEBE/NE  HB R RRERBREN
including the Staff and Finance Committee, Consumer Protection Law and Policy 40~ RIS R T/ NMELI N BB E R
Committee, Preliminary Working Group on Class Actions and the Board of NEHEHITEES - RBEBET/E > MER
Administrators of the Consumer Legal Action Fund. In addition to his leadership EBREKEMEAANEREBREEEEZEN
role in the Council, Mr Lam also acted as the spokesperson on many major EBEIEEERSA -

consumer protection issues and the Council's advocacies.
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MEMBERSHIP OF THE CONSUMER COUNCIL
FREZEEES

Mr Kenneth CHAN Kin-nin
PRIEZFSEE
Food Industry
Chairman £E RR¥
Mr Paul LAM Ting-kwok,
SBS, SC, JP
MEBERAEH  S(REFEE - ~
K Fft (upto Z 2022.06.30) ‘ .
X Secretary for Justice, The Government of the HKSAR %%it:;ne CHAN PO-|Ing
54 ’ EEERITRERARRA R il
(from 2022.07.01 #£) Hospital Authority Otorhinolaryngologist
— EERERRTNEL
e —————————
= _\I
Chairman £[E The Hon Holden CHOW Ho-ding, JP
. FIEREE - K FEHL
Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wmg, Legislative Councillor, Solicitor
e il | SEREE B

PREFEAESE - SHEFIES  LEHE
KFf@+t (from 2022.07.15 #8)

Managing Director of Leading Accounting Firm _

BN ER SR

Dr Wilton FOK Wai-tung
EEREL

Director, Sport Artificial Intelligence Laboratory,
Department of Electrical and Electronic Engineering

REBREFTREREDATTHEERTHRE

Ms Veronica FUNG Kit-ming
BRBRL

Fintech Compliance Advisory

TR ARMEN

Vice-Chairman BlEE
Mr Antonio KWONG Cho-shing, MH
[EPTEBREET - SXBBE

Property Development CEO
B RARIER

Mr Edward HO Man-tat
fARERE
Securities Firm Managing Director

BATEEHRE

Ms Miranda KWAN Ching-yi
BB R L

Director of Knowledge Solutions
HIHEETRHEE
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#

Prof. Nelson LAM Chi-yuen, JP
MESEHIR © KT (up to Z 202206.30)
Director of Audit, The Government of the HKSAR
BERRIITHERBNETEER

(from 2022.07.01 #2)

Mr Victor LAM Hoi-cheung, JP
MENERE - KF#HE
General Manager

e

Mr Matthew LAM Kin-hong, BBS, MH, JP
MEREM  HEMEE  KEBHE - LFEL
Law Firm Co-founding Partner and Managing Partner

EMEBAMABANEEGBA

Ms Vanessa LAU Chi-wan
BlF=&u+t

Biotech Industry Marketing Manager

AR EHERE

Ms Kitty LEE Wing-lan
FkELL

Deputy General Manager of

Global PR and Marketing Agency
BIRABI RIS R BN R BIHEHSE

Ms Doris LIAN Shaodong

B RLLE (fom 20230101 #)
CEO of Top-tier Fund House
ASEDATER

Mr Alan LUI Siu-lun
BiEEITE
Multinational Hospitality Group Vice President

BTSRRI R

. Governance and Management

Dr Victor LUI Wing-cheong
TASEE
Specialist in Psychiatry

BHREREEE

Mr Raymond MAK Ka-chun
BRELEE
Techpreneur

RIFBHEZER

Mr Tony PANG Chor-fu
EREREE
Entrepreneur

HER

Mr Kyrus SIU King-wai
BERESLE

Director of Global Social Impact Consultancy

B @R SREARES

Prof. Nora TAM Fung-yee, BBS, JP
ERERE  REFEE - XML
Chair Professor of

Environmental Science and Conservation

REMNERERRBBEIR

Ms Iris WAN Lai-sze
mEEELL
Training Consultancy Founder

IR ARRIHA

Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC
RAEERKER
Senior Counsel

BRI
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CO-OPTED MEMBERS OF THE CONSUMER COUNCIL
ARERREIEERE

Mr Johnny FEE Chung-ming, JP
EHEAERT - KFHt
Solicitor

EHSERED

Dr Jason CHAN Kai-yue, MH, JP
FREFIET - REHE - KLFHt
Associate Dean and Head of IT

REERARENRRAEE

Mr Eugene FONG Yick-jin
BZERSELE (from 20220701 #2)

Engineering Professional

TREEXRAR

Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing, BBS, MH, JP
FREFESSEAE - SEFIEE - REHE -
K F#t (upto Z 202207.14)

Managing Director of Leading Accounting Firm y N

BEIEBEEERE

Prof. Michael HUI King-man, MH

PN IR - REBEIE (upto E 20221231)
University Vice Rector
REEIRE

Dr Toa CHARM
HRERBEL -
Associate Professor of Practice in _
Innovation and Technology

AR BTAH R R R R 2R Mr Richard KHAW Wei-kiang, SC

_ e FHESERAEAD (upto X 20230116)
| - . E Senior Counsel and Recorder of the
. = ¥ Court of First Instance of the High Court
\ ;‘iéﬁ{%%ﬂl % ERERRIE
BEITRERFERRNEERTEE
Mr Tony CHEUNG Kwok-wai ' PRI
ey | I
Secondary School Vice Principal

RS

Mr Kelvin KWOK Hiu-fai
SRRERE A

Associate Dean and Associate Professor of Law

ﬂ: KB EB R EREILE
Ms vy CHEUNG Wing-han f.

BRERMIZ L (from 202301.17 &) e

Head of Audit, Hong Kong
BEEETRBEIESBA

Mr Daniel C. LAM, SBS, BBS, JP
WELE  SREFEE  HEAEE
AFEHE (upto = 202212.31)

Practicing Arbitrator

A

Prof. Herbert CHIA Pun-kok, JP
BHRBEE - KT
Private Investor

MAKEE

Ms Loretta LAM Yee-mei
BB &L (from 20220701 #8)

Principal Education Secretary

HI HEMEE
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Mr LAU Chun-hung, MH
BIIRIBSAE - SABENE (from 20220701 #8)

Education Consultant

HERMN

Ms Queenie Fiona LAU
BB hA R
Barrister-at-Law

REEEM

Mr Lawrence LAU Yip-tak
PIREEAE (from 20220701 #)

Secondary School Teacher

FREEm

Dr Angela NG Lai-ping
REFELT
Education Consultant

HEREA

N

Prof. Jack POON Sik-ching
ERIERIR

Professor of Practice (Fintech & Entrepreneurship)
School of Accounting and Finance

BB (SRBEAIZESH)
St RS

Prof. PUN Kong-pang
SESTEHIS (upto Z 2022.12.31)

Professor in Electronic Engineering

ABBTTRENE

Mr SHIH Wing-ching, JP
MEkERE - AFHL
Real Estate Industry Participant

HERAL

Ms Rachael SIU Suk-yu
P e
Barrister-at-Law

REERD

. Governance and Management {&iEE 4% S8

Dr Cherry TAM Hau-lin
SEIREEL (fom 20220701 #)

Associate Professor in Social and Behavioural Sciences

REME RATRBERRIZHR

Mr Tony TANG Kwok-wai
HEIELE

Retired Do] Principal Government Counsel

BIERIKE) BB BT ERAD

Dr Gary WONG Ka-wai
EREET (fom 20220701 #8)

University Professor

REBHIR

Mr Albert WONG Kin-wai
EREISCAE (from 2022.07.01 #2)

Secondary School Teacher

FREZED

Dr Paul WONG Wai-ching
EEFEET (fom 20220701 #2)

Associate Professor; Department of Social Work and Social
Administration, Clinical Psychologist

REHE TERMETREREZE « RAOEER

Mr Rochester WONG Wang-fai
EENELLE (fom 20220701 #2)

Education Bureau Chief Curriculum Development Officer

HERERERREE

Mr Martin WONG Wing-hoi
EoKIEREERD
Barrister-at-Law

PANE

Prof. Christina YU Wai-mui
WHEMEEIR (fom 20220701 #2)
Professor (Practice),

Department of Social Sciences and Policy Studies

HENBRBRMABRAZER (HE)

SHBEZES 2022-23 3§
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I\ER THE/VE

The Council operates with a committee structure comprising
9 Committees and Working Groups and the Full Council meetings are
held on a bimonthly basis.

During the reporting year, the Preliminary Working Group on Class Actions
was merged into the Consumer Protection Law and Policy Committee with
an aim to consolidate Members' efforts in legal-driven advocacies. A new
Working Group on Revamp for Consumer Education for Youth was set up
to render advice on transforming education initiatives for secondary school
students with efficient and effective programme administration. In addition,
the Working Group on Office Premises Accommodation and Enhancement

Projects was dissolved after fulfilling its missions and functions.

As permitted by the Council's statutory power, the Council co-opts
professionals of different disciplines as members of the Committees or
Working Groups in order to benefit from their expertise and to facilitate the

Council's work or studies in specific fields.

During the year under review, 6 Co-opted Members: Dr Toa CHARM, Prof,
Herbert CHIA Pun-kok, JB Mr Kelvin KWOK Hiu-fai, Prof. Jack POON Sik-
ching, Ms Rachael SIU Suk-yu and Mr Martin WONG Wing-hoi, continued to

serve the Council upon reappointment of Co-opted membership.

Ms vy CHEUNG Wing-han was invited to join the Audit Committee as a
Co-opted Member. In addition, 11 Co-opted Members were invited to join
the Working Group on Revamp for Consumer Education for Youth: Mr Tony
CHEUNG Kwok-wai, Mr Eugene FONG Yick-jin, Ms Loretta LAM Yee-mei,
Mr LAU Chun-hung, MH, Mr Lawrence LAU Yip-tak, Dr Cherry TAM Hau-lin,
Dr Gary WONG Ka-wai, Mr Albert WONG Kin-wai, Dr Paul WONG Wai-
ching, Mr Rochester WONG Wang-fai and Prof. Christina YU Wai-mui.

The Council expresses sincere gratitude for the support and expertise
contributed to the Council from 4 Co-opted Members who retired during
the year: Prof. Michael HUI King-man, MH, Mr Daniel C. LAM, SBS, BBS, JE Mr
Richard KHAW Wei-kiang, SC, and Prof. PUN Kong-pang.

In addition, the Council administers the Consumer Legal Action Fund via
a Board of Administrators and a Management Committee'. The current

Chairman of the Management Committee is Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC.

1.

See the Annual Report of the Consumer Legal Action Fund 2022-23 for details.
HEASEEEERARS 2022-23 £ °

)

‘ﬁ
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COMMITTEES AND WORKING GROUPS
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REFAZRERESE -

R SEFROTHETFENIGHE
HBERARERBRNE  DUBGREE
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" Audit Committee =%/ )\

Convenor B&EA

Mr Antonio KWONG Cho-shing, MH — BR#E BN 2T » L8 g)E

Members ZE&

Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing, BBS, MH, JP
BRERERSEA - AEFES - LERT - KT
(from 2022.07.29 i#8)

Ms Veronica FUNG Kit-ming 2B ZZE
Mr Edward HO Man-tat {AIRIEESE4

Prof. Nelson LAM Chi-yuen, JP MEm#IT » K F#L
(up to = 2022.06.30)

Ms Doris LIAN Shaodong B4 2+ (from 2023.01.17 #2)

Co-opted Members EEE

Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing, BBS, MH, JP
BREBLESTA  SARFIEE » LEFHE » KFML
(upto & 2022.07.28)

Ms vy CHEUNG Wing-han  3R58822+ (from 2023.01.17 #E)

. Governance and Management #IBEAR SR

\

Number of Meetings E& X - 2

Key Functions EZEHAE

1.

To assist the Full Council in fulfilling its functions by
providing an independent review of and making
recommendations on financial reporting, audit process,
risk management policies as well as internal control
measures of the Council.

. To supervise the overall framework of corporate

governance and refer to the Full Council issues or
weaknesses identified by the Committee or external
audit.

BRRHBUBEEINYB®RS  BORE AR

ERERRIERSNARZEGERIRHER - B
ZRES2BREETEBRE

BEEEHZEENEEER  UNAERESEN

BN RRNHENANEZERNRES2BARE
HE -
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Number of Meetings E:5XE - 3

Consumer Protection Law and Policy Committee

HERRERERBR/VE

Chairman & Key Functions EZEHR#E
Mr Paul LAM Ting-kwok, SBS, SC, JP 1. To advise the Council on matters relating to the legal

MEBRERKEA - REFEE > AFHL (upto = 2022.06.30)

rights and protection of consumers.

Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC  RAE & R A

(from 2022.07.29 #2)

Vice-Chairman EIEE

Mr Matthew LAM Kin-hong, BBS, MH, JP

MERE - ARFIES - £8HE - AFWHL
Members E8

The Hon Holden CHOW Ho-ding P A RHEE » AF#E
Ms Miranda KWAN Chingyi B3 Et

Mr Antonio KWONG Cho-shing, MH  BR{E 85420 » 458 8)=

Prof. Nelson LAM Chi-yuen, |P M 3E#% » ATt
(up to & 2022.06.30)

MrVictor LAM Hoi-cheung, JP #&EHe4 » A SFHL
Mr Alan LUI Siu-lun - EERBESEAE

Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC = SRAZE & RAEAD
(up to & 2022.07.28)

Co-opted Members H5EEES

Mr Johnny FEE Chung-ming, JP EFRBAERRN + AFHL
(from 2023.01.17 &)

Mr Kelvin KWOK Hiu-fai - ZBEEIEZE4 (up to & 2023.01.16)
Ms Queenie Fiona LAU 2 BomAR4EEm

Mr SHIH Wing-ching, P ik B 564+ A4+

Ms Rachael SIU Suk-yu BRI AZAR

MrTony TANG Kwok-wai  BSEJ{ESE4E

Mr Martin WONG Wing-hoi ~ E KIS AEEED
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. To review the workings of consumer protection

legislation and public policy in Hong Kong.

. To look at consumer protection legislation in other

territories and to examine the feasibility of making
similar provisions in Hong Kong.

. To formulate and to submit recommendations through

the Council to the Government to amend and/or to
enact legislation / public policies to protect consumers.

. To play an active role in advocating for a fair, just and

competitive marketplace from the aspect of enhancing
public policies relating to consumer protection laws.

. To publish reports on advancing public policies on

consumer protection or legal protection for consumers.

. To review the complaints received by the Council that

give rise to the concern of inadequacies in legislation
and public policies.

. To meet delegations and to receive representations by

interested groups relating to public policy affairs.

. To consider and advise the Council on the issues to

be addressed and matters to be prepared by the
Council in light of the Law Reform Commission’s
recommendations in relation to class actions.

. ARHEE CAFENNEEMERSRIERE -
BERABNREREEQEFHMAKBERNEF

R -

- A EM B REBEE RN > LUERRRES
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Publicity and Community Relations Committee

ERRiItEREFR/ME

. Governance and Management {&iEE 4% S8

Number of Meetings S XE : 4

Chairman &

Mr Kyrus SIU King-wai  #EStEZc4

Vice-Chairman EIEE
Ms Kitty LEE Wing-lan  Z55kBEZct

Members ZE&

Mr Kenneth CHAN Kin-nin  BRE2EESE4E
Dr Catherine CHAN Po-ling BREERBE4
Ms Veronica FUNG Kit-ming 52822+

Prof. Nelson LAM Chi-yuen, P ME@#IT » AFHL
(up to & 2022.06.30)

MrVictor LAM Hoi-cheung, |P M8l EH4E » KL
MsVanessa LAU Chi-wan  B|F =%+

Mr Alan LUI Siu-lun R #RBASCAE

Mr Raymond MAK Ka-chun ZEE B4

MrTony PANG Chorfu B8R 54

Ms Iris WAN Lai-sze REERIZ T

Co-opted Member HEEES
Dr Jason CHAN Kai-yue, MH, JP BREEFIEL - L£E8)% » KT+

Key Functions FZEHRAE

1. To monitor the planning and implementation of the
Council's publicity and community relation matters.

2. To monitor the production and marketing activities of
“CHOICE" and other publications.

3. To consider matters pertaining to the operation and
development of Consumer Advice Services.

4. To advise on matters pertaining to consumer education
including production of publicity materials and
organisation of publicity campaigns.

5. To advise the Council on community relations and
international liaison matters.

ERTERMEREZSENREINENR -
- EE (EF) ATIREMBRYHRIENZHEEE -
. BRHESSEATVEFENBERCEE

. HBERERFEEEREEECEBMHNERES
RO -

5. Bt @EFENERBMRAERS RIS -

EENEE

hwl\).—‘

Research and Testing Committee #ff 5% 5z 5t 5%/ iH

Chairman &

Prof. Nora TAM Fung-yee, BBS, |P
ERERE  REFESE  KEet

Vice-Chairman BIE/E
DrVictor LUl Wing-cheong EEKEEE4E

=8
Dr Catherine CHAN Po-ling BREEFSBE4
DrWilton FOK Wai-tung  ZE{&@IEL
MsVanessa LAU Chi-wan 2| ¥ =%+
Ms Kitty LEE Wing-lan  Z55kBiZct
Ms Doris LIAN Shaodong  EA& 4+t (from 2023.01.17 &)
Mr Raymond MAK Ka-chun 5B 54
Nz b ta
mEERZ L

Members

Mr Kyrus SIU King-wali
Ms Iris WAN Lai-sze

Co-opted Member IZEEZE
Prof. PUN Kong-pang & THE#IR (up to & 2022.12.31)

Number of Meetings &%

Key Functions FZEHRAE

1. To advise the Council on matters pertaining to the
testing and survey projects on consumer products and
services, including the scope of project and budgetary
matters.

2. To review the test and survey results as well as
comments from manufacturers, agents, experts,
consultants, etc. in respect of these results.

3. To examine issues affecting the health and safety of
consumers.

4. To review the annual work plan and estimated budget
for product testing and survey projects.

5. To make recommendations to the Council on actions to
be taken in this programme area.

1. EEAANAESEE  BFEERIRBER
HESENAEERMEESRHES -

2. BEABNAERRLEUER  AHEE  FX - BE
SHELRRNERNEE -

3. BRFEHBERENRE2MME -

4. FFREDARIGAERE TENFESIMESR -

5. BT RARS EERNNTBFEESRHES -
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Staff and Finance Committee AR 8458/

Number of Meetings EiE X - 6

Chairman E&

Mr Paul LAM Ting-kwok, SBS, SC, JP
MEBERARER  BEFEE - KFEMHL
(up to & 2022.06.30)

Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing, BBS, MH, |P

BREPLEACA  SHERFIEE » £EBEE KMt

(from 2022.07.25 #2)

Vice-Chairman EBIEE

Mr Antonio KWONG Cho-shing, MH  ERtE 85T » 458 8h

Members EEB
Mr Edward HO Man-tat {AIEIESE4E

Prof. Nelson LAM Chi-yuen, |P &R #I% » AFHt
(up to F 2022.06.30)

Mr Matthew LAM Kin-hong, BBS, MH, JP
MERERERRD  SAEFIEE  LERE - AFEML
DrVictor LUIWing-cheong EXEE4%

MrTony PANG Chorfu  E2285k5E4

Prof. Nora TAM Fung-yee, BBS, |P
FREEHE  ENES KT
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Key Functions
1.

FERAE

To formulate policy pertaining to the annual budget of
the Council.

. To monitor and approve the income and expenditure

account of the Council.

. To consider the conditions of service and any

disciplinary or other staff management matters and to
take/recommend appropriate action.

. To approve/endorse the appointment, confirmation,

renewal of contracts, award of annual increment etc. of
the staff of the Council as the case may be.

. To receive and deal with complaints against staff of the

Council.

. To advise on the investment strategy for the Consumer

Legal Action Fund.

. To advise on the investment strategy for the Council's

liquid fund.

. To take on other duties as advised by the Consumer

Council.

- FIERESFERENEREBUR

2. BEENHUERZSMWPCORE
3. ERBRBGRY  UREMCEXEMASEERER

0 ~N O O

WHRER / BREENTE -

CHUE / SRAMEAs R BRER UIRHREH

ENFEMFE -

- RENEEEERE TFEASRIRF -

- BUBEERRESRERBIRAES -
. EERERBESRERBITAHE -
. AEHEERSEXMEMBE -



Trade Practices and Consumer Complaints Review Committee

MEF AR EEERFELE/IE

. Governance and Management {&iEE 4% S8

Number of Meetings

ERXH 5

Chairman /&
Mr Antonio KWONG Cho-shing, MH 1B B 72T » 458 8=

Vice-Chairman BIEE
MrTony PANG Chorfu B£8R %4

Members E&
Mr Kenneth CHAN Kin-nin ~ BRIZGE 54

The Hon Holden CHOW Ho-ding, P & REZES - KFt
Ms Veronica FUNG Kit-ming J&ZIE%z+
Ms Miranda KWAN Chingyi B8t

Prof. Nelson LAM Chi-yuen, P MERHIR » K F L
(up to & 2022.06.30)

MrVictor LAM Hoi-cheung, |P T8l Z 44 » AFHEL

Mr Alan LUI Siu-lun  SE#BRSEAE

Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC = SRAE & RAEAD
Co-opted Members IBEES

Mr Kelvin KWOK Hiu-fai - SEBERESEAE (from 2023.01.17 #E)

DrAngela NG Lai-ping REESTHL

Key Functions FERiAE

1.

To examine the practices and advertisements of
individual traders and, where these are unacceptable, to
secure an end to the practices or to “name” the trader
in order to warn consumers.

. To examine practices that are prevalent in a trade

to see whether they operate against the interests of
consumers.

. To improve the treatment of consumers by

* contributing to the development of codes of practice
and standards of professional and trade bodies

* responding to consultation papers

» overseeing the Council’s participation in voluntary

redress schemes

. To advise the Legal Protection Committee on issues

relating to trade practices where there may be a need
for new or amended legislation.

. To meet delegations and to receive representations by

interested groups relating to trade practices.

. To review and advise on the resolution of complicated

individual complaint cases from individual consumers.

. To examine issues arising from consumer complaints

which have drawn wide public/media attention.

. To review cases where complainants are not satisfied

with the outcome and/or the way in which Council staff
have handled their complaint.

. To review the Council's consumer complaints handling

procedures as and when necessary.

. REARRSENEETANES M ARAE

% AERKILARBMUES "HE ) ZBERUES
HER -

RETETLEGENEBTE  REEAREERSE
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- DREREEFERER

s [REFENEEEE  SIETRTANRE
+ [BIEREANX

+ EERERS2HEBREEE

. REERERERRESE NMIBEZEETRER
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5 ERRKREUREHTETEERAHEEE -

- WEENEARGRETEELR HERRE -
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WORKING/ADVISORY GROUPS T{E/

Adpvisory Group on Digital Economy and Information Technology

55 % RAE B R/VE

reae) Vi

Number of Meetings

EEIE

BEA

Mr Kyrus SIU King-wai

Convenor
EEESE

BIHEA

Mr Raymond MAK Ka-chun 25 & 54

Vice-Convenor

Members &8

Dr Catherine CHAN Po-ling BREER B4
DrWilton FOK Wai-tung  EfEREL
Ms Veronica FUNG Kit-ming & ZIEZ1
MsVanessa LAU Chi-wan 8| ¥ =2+
Ms Doris LIAN Shaodong EA& 4+
MrTony PANG Chorfu B8R %4

Co-opted Members HHEEES

Dr Jason CHAN Kai-yue, MH, P BREEFIEL » 885 - KF M+
DrToa CHARM SERZ i+

Prof. Herbert CHIA Pun-kok, JP BE@E#IT » AFiL

Prof. Jack POON Sik-ching y&RRIF ##%

(from 2023.01.17 #2)
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Key Functions
1.

. BEEZE

FERAE

To alert the Council of critical consumer issues that may
arise in the digital economy and advise strategies and
appropriate actions for protecting consumer interests.

. To advise the Council on effective approaches to

monitor technical developments or study digital issues.

. To help connect the Council with appropriate

stakeholders, such as key market players or solution
providers, and broaden the Council's outreach in the
digital community.

. To advise the Council on its internal IT system

development and adoption of technological tools to
strengthen communication with stakeholders and
consumers.

. To review and advise the Council on tendering,

consultancy recommendations, and implementation of
[T projects on project status and quality of work.

- BEBRERTRHRNEORBEREREER

RHER > UBAREEEENSNRBENEEITE
RHEE -

. BLEEERHR ST B R S A FE B AR B AR B R Y
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Working Group on Revamp for Consumer Education for Youth

BLEHEELNFNELF/IE

. Governance and Management #IBEAR SR

Number of Meetings
FHAH 3

Chairman EJE
MrTony PANG Chor-fu  8228K %54 (from 2022.07.01 #E)

Co-opted Members HEEE
MrTony CHEUNG Kwok-wai sREIEEIKE (from 2022.07.01 &)

Mr Eugene FONG Yick-in  FZERSE4E (from 2022.07.01 #2)
Ms Loretta LAMYee-mei  #i&#kZL (from 2022.07.01 #2)

Mr LAU Chun-hung, MH  BiRIBScAE » L8 E)E=
(from 2022.07.01 #&)

Mr Lawrence LAUYip-tak 2248584 (from 2022.07.01 i)

Dr Cherry TAM Hau-lin - 8I55 &+ (from 2022.07.01 &)

Dr Gary WONG Ka-wai  #ZHEE L (from 2022.07.01 &)

Mr Albert WONG Kin-wai  Ef#E 54 (from 2022.07.01 #2)

Dr Paul WONG Wai-ching  ZERH&E+ (from 2022.07.01 #E)

Mr Rochester WONG Wang-fai &7 #8554 (from 2022.07.01 #2)
Prof. ChristinaYU Wai-mui  BkE#EZIZ (from 2022.07.01 &)

N

Key Functions FERAE

1.

To report to the Publicity and Community Relations
Committee on its discussions and recommendations in
the meetings.

. To advise on the objectives, strategies, deliverables

and format of the revamped education initiatives for
secondary school students, and areas for enhancement
in terms of programme administration.

. To receive and comment on proposals, work plans and

work updates from the staff of the Consumer Education
Division (CED) on related work.

. To advise and comment on the design and contents of

related initiatives and resource materials developed by
the CED.

1. MEB LA EREFR/MDER/ i F iR o

N

. BEHPBENREHBRIEZER R - KRN

- URABEEAERRINEHNERIREEE -

- BB HEEHFENER - TFEABIMNSHT

TR - WIRHER -

. HWHBEHE G ENRE ME R HAIERERE

MARREHERNER
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Working Group on Sustainable Consumption Programme

A FHEHBET B T(E/ A

Number of Meetings
EZXH -0
Meetings held on a by-need basis

THENMNMINERERS GRS

Chairman &
Prof. Nora TAM Fung-yee, BBS, |P

BREHR > WRAESE KL

Members E&

Mr Kenneth CHAN Kin-nin ~ BREAE 564
Mr Edward HO Man-tat {AIRIESE4A

Ms Miranda KWAN Chingyi B&E&t
MsVanessa LAU Chi-wan  8|F =%+
Ms Kitty LEE Wing-lan 2540+

Mr Kyrus SIU King-wai BB EISEA

Ms Iris WAN Lai-sze BEER X+

Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC = sRZAE &R AEAD
Co-opted Member HHEERS

Dr Angela NG Lai-ping REESFIEL
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Key Functions FZERAE

1.

To steer and provide advice about the strategic
direction of the programme, including the scope of
different projects and cross-divisional activities.

. To oversee the development of the Council’s

sustainable consumption framework ensuring it
represents the needs of current and future Hong Kong
consumers.

. To foster partnerships and engagement with

stakeholders in the community and Government in
promoting public awareness of and participation in
sustainable consumption.

. To advise the Council on how we might most effectively

and constructively engage with organisations and
processes that we are seeking to influence.

. To take on other duties as advised by the Council.

. IRERBAFIRB MEAPTEE s BIRREG 5 &t

WA -

EEHZREUREEENRR  BARERRESM

REEEHEENTR -

ARERF N E BB ERBUTHPIR KRR - 1

MmiemH AFHEEENARETRMN2HA -

- FUERSRMHER  SNARBRh R ERR

S R RARBAR AR NGRS 1E -

- APPEERSSIRNEMBE -
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Preliminary Working Group on Class Actions Number of Meetings &35:X8 : 0

SREREAN ST TIE/NE

Chairman /&
Mr Paul LAM Ting-kwok, SBS, SC, JP - MEBIE ZRAEAD @ SREFIZE » KL (up to = 2022.06.30)
Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC  SRAEERAEAD (from 2022.07.29 #2) (up to F 2023.01.16)

Vice-Chairman EIZEE
Mr Antonio KWONG Cho-shing MH  EFfEBSERD - 2E 8= (up to £ 2023.01.16)

Members &8

Mr Edward HO Man-tat fAIEESEA (up to 2 2023.01.16)

Mr Matthew LAM Kin-hong, BBS, MH, JP MUZEEFERT - AEFIEE - L£EF)E » AT+ (upto £ 2023.01.16)
Mr Alan LUI Siu-lun - EE#BBESE4E (up to 2 2023.01.16)

MrTony PANG Chorfu 82288 K5E4 (up to & 2023.01.16)

CLAF Management Committee Members SHEEFIRELEEZEERE
Mr Johnny FEE Chung-ming, JP EFRBAFEAD - A+ (up to & 2023.01.16)

Mr Richard KHAW Wei-kiang, SC = 5F{E58 &R AEAN (up to & 2023.01.16)

Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC  SRZAZEERAER (up to & 2022.07.28)

Co-opted Members 1EiREES
Ms Queenie Fiona LAU  BIZSHAR#ER (up to & 2023.01.16)

Note fig&E
The Preliminary Working Group on Class Actions was merged into Consumer 202341 8 17 Bt - E8FADLTHERL
Protection Law and Policy Committee with effect from 17 January 2023 {ENEELE B AR IE KBRS F -

Working Group on Office Premises Accommodation and By circulation

Enhancement Projects U BRANET

MAEREREETEIE

Convenor BE&EA

Prof. Michael HUI King-man, MH ( Co-opted Member) FF4RCEIY » A8F)%Z (I88RES) (upto E 2022.12.31)

Members £E&
Ms Miranda KWAN Ching-yi  BiF#&Zt (up to & 2022.12.31)
Ms Kitty LEEWing-lan  Z=kEiZZt (up to & 2022.12.31)

Co-opted Members HHEERES
Mr Daniel C.LAM, SBS, BBS, P #ESAE @ SREFIEE » REFEE - XFH#L (upto F 2022.12.31)

Note fia
The Working Group was dissolved with effect from 1 January 2023. WATRERRETETE/NER 2023 £ 1 A 1 HiEfEER -
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MANAGEMENT AND STAFF ERBERET

FULL COUNCIL EZE®E

Chief Executive

s

Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han
R L

Acting Deputy

Chief Executive
EHERERS

(from 2023.01.01 &)

Principal Complaints & Advice Officer
R M ERERE

(up to £ 2022.12.31)

Mr Francis HO Ying-foo

AEERE

Deputy Chief Executive
Bl

Mr Eddy TONG Chi-chung
BBESELE (up to E 2023.01.12)

MANAGEMENT TEAM OF THE CONSUMER COUNCIL HEEZZEEEIERE
(2022.04.01 - 2023.03.31)

RESEARCH & SURVEY DIVISION
AR LEEE

Principal Research & Survey Officer Dr Keith KWOK Wing-yin *
MARLEEHLEREE HBREHL

PLANNING & TRADE PRACTICES DIVISION
RERBEFEEHE

Principal Planning & Trade Practices Officer Ms Vera TAM Sau-ngor *
KREINHEFLEBMERTE EFHLL

PUBLIC AFFAIRS DIVISION
AHEHE

Principal Public Affairs Officer  Ms Amy WONG Pui-shan *
AHEHHERFTE SHEMLt

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY DIVISION
B BHRER

Head of Information Technology Division Mr Ricky NG Chi-wah
ENMBEEMEEE REERE

HUMAN RESOURCES DIVISION
ANERER

Head of Human Resources Division Mr LEE Wing-kai
ANBEREEEE  TKRESRE

FINANCE & ADMINISTRATION DIVISION
HA 75 R ATELER
Head of Finance & Administration Division Mr Steven WONG Chun-man

MBRATHAEEE SRELE

COMPLAINTS & ADVICE DIVISION
P ER e FEEAED

Vacant &R (from 2023.01.01%8)

LEGAL AFFAIRS DIVISION

EEEBE

Head of Legal Affairs Division Mr Michael KAN Kin-hang *
FEEFNERIE @RIELE

CONSUMER EDUCATION DIVISION

HEBEHEY e

Head of Consumer Education Division Ms Joey LAl Cho-yee

HEEHEMBIE EeRt

SECRETARIAT EEEH
Operated by | Senior Committee Secretariat Officer
H—ERHRERTEWNERERFEF

Remuneration for Top 3 Tiers of Staff in the Consumer Council EEEE 3 RS HoH

Chief Executive — Directorate Pay Scale Point D3 #8#2 — & RREr Rk 2 D3

Deputy Chief Executive — Directorate Pay Scale Point D1 BI#E85E — B RRFREKE 5 D1

# Principal Officer / Senior Legal Counsel — Master Pay Scale Point 45-49 BB E(F — 85 H5578h 45-49



The Council Office

Under the leadership of the Council's Chief Executive, underpinned by the
Deputy Chief Executive, the 162-staff-strong Council Office operates in
9 functional divisions, namely the Complaints and Advice Division, Consumer
Education Division, Finance and Administration Division, Human Resources
Division, Information Technology Division, Legal Affairs Division, Planning and

Trade Practices Division, Public Affairs Division, and Research and Survey Division.

The 11 senior management team members possess a wealth of management
experience and expertise in different functional areas. All staff members are
governed by the Council's Code of Conduct.

Staff Training and Talent Development

During the year, the Council organised 4 staff briefing sessions and 9 training
workshops to develop and enrich staff members’ knowledge and skills in
various scopes, covering legal knowledge, cybersecurity, as well as skill-based
training such as search engine optimisation (SEO), Power BI, design thinking,

effective telephone and meeting skills, etc.

Finance

The Council derives its income mainly from Government subvention. Other
sources of income (approximately 3.4%) include proceeds from sales of the
Council's CHOICE Magazine and interest income. Total recurrent and non-
recurrent expenditures for the year under review was HK$137.60 million and
HK$13.88 million respectively?.

. Governance and Management {&iEE 4% S8

HEEHAE

Ll EA S EESRATEE 16248
T IEXEHRIEHHAEE  BELHR
SHE  HEEREH  MBERTESE A
PEEE « BRI E R K
RESFEEBEM  ALEED  LURTE
REEES -

MUEEEAERFEENEEERRTR
REEESE RS - TEREBAET "THES
ZEEBEITRTA, -

BETARRATER

TR AGEMT 45ETHNFR 95
TEY > DIBRENEEE T HEABANR
£ BFEERAH BB DURGIERKE
Bl BEESSIZE/L (SEO) -~ Power Bl »
AR - BUEFNERRI5%F -

RI%3

AERBERREBUFEL - HMBARIR
(%9 3.4%) BfEHR (EFE) BTIRBITAS -
FARBERIFREMFAID B RABE 1376 &
TR GBS 1,388 BT 2

2. See Appendix 1 for the Auditor's Report and Financial Statements for the accounts of the Council for 2022-23.
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HEEZSS 2022-23 3 39




CODE OF CONDUCT {75581

The Council Members and staff are governed by their respective sets of AEZEMNPEZZEMITRATANR - &
Code of Conduct. The Codes set out the standard of conduct and probity STRIEEE 7T RMBERE - inaag it
so as to strengthen its corporate governance, and internal control. The X(ERMARLEZ - REAES NS ETH
Independent Commissioner Against Corruption (ICAC) was fully engaged in M E MR ENERTEE - LERTRISTS
the course of the development and subsequent update to ensure the Code HERBABNSIRE - TBETHNES
fully meets with the high standards of ICAC. Mandatory participation in the BN R 12 KHENAEERS
Annual Online Quiz is required for all staff, with a passing rate of 8 out of 12 & o Regmi@®BIEEN 8 T AN RIZEE
questions. Members of staff who fail the quiz are required to attend a special ROEB TR - WHEEEITERAR -

refresher workshop and a retest thereafter

The Content of the Code SFEIAZA

Members and Staff Members Specific Staff Specific
* Prevention of Bribery Ordinance * Members Bidding for the Council's » Misuse of Official Position
» Solicitation and Acceptance of Contract e Misconduct in Public Office
Advantages * Use of Public Fund » Outside Employment
* Advantages Offered in Their Official * Misuse of Capacity as a Council / e Guarantee
Capacity Committee Member * Indebtedness
* Sponsorship Offered in Their Official * Supervisory Accountability
Capacity * Reporting Suspected Irregularities and
e Offering of Advantages Criminal Offences

* Managing Conflict of Interest

»  Use of Council's Assets and Resources

»  Confidentiality of Information

*  Competition/Award Presentation

¢ Records, Accounts and Other
Documents

e Gambling

* Loans

»  Compliance with Local Laws and

Regulations
ZERBE EZER/T BERTE
o (BrLEHEER MG « RESEFRERENEH - R
o REUEZ AR - ERAR  RBABTRKE
« BELUABEDESR S . EEES5H . HMNET(E
« BEDABB I ESER . BR
o RUEAIR s RiE

© REFHEZR
s ERERSEENER

- BERE

o BRIIRERTREMNESRT

. T/ fEiE
o 8%~ IRBEFHEHASM
- BX

o BREAHNEGIFNAR B
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EXTERNAL COMMITTEES ATTENDED BY
COUNCIL MEMBERS AND STAFF

FEZEREESENIIRE

Council Members and staff currently sit on a total of 51 external AREELZENBERRFRE—H 51 BINAE
committees, a few of which are listed below: Eg  DIT3IHES

Department of Health — Pharmacy and Poisons (Listed Sellers of

BEE —ERNELSE (JIRSEHRE

Poisons) Committee ) EZES

Department of Justice — Working Group on Class Actions o BREAE —SEIFEATRENME

Electrical and Mechanical Services Department — Electrical Safety o METREE— ﬁﬁ%mﬂ ==
Advisory Committee . ﬂﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁb

Estate Agents Authority . BHBE4L |375 FIFERRELSRESR
Health Bureau — Steering Committee on Prevention and Control of c A /%%ETNJ & —MELELETERETER
Non-communicable Diseases BEHEER

Hong Kong Housing Society — Steering Committee of the Living Lab in - EACRBER —EIERARZBHAZ
Gerontechnology for Age-Friendly Home =k

Hong Kong Monetary Authority — Deposit-taking Companies Advisory . %ﬂ%{géjﬁmﬁ F5 QM B#EE
Committee HREEY

Hong Kong Q-Mark Council — Q-Mark Council Committee s FERNEEES — BKINKETIEE
Law Reform Commission — Sub-Committee on Cybercrime B8

Tourism Commission — Advisory Committee on Travel Agents . IRBEBE— ﬁﬁﬁﬁ@?ﬁ%ﬁ%@xﬁg
Transport Department — Committee on Taxi Service Quality . ERE =l

Water Supplies Department — Task Force on Voluntary Water Efficiency
Labelling Scheme

© KBE— ﬁﬁKx&Zﬁ&%éﬁaf%ﬂIf’Fd\%ﬁ

2022-25 STRATEGIC PLAN — 5 STRATEGIC GOALS
2022-25 REEETEl — 5 ERERR

. Safeguard consumer interests under the digital economy

. Enable informed consumption choice for better quality of living —
safety, value and sustainability

. Equip targeted vulnerable consumers — youth, elderly, mentally
handicapped — with proper knowledge and skills for self-protection

RSB TR EE R
CEEEBEEAMEE ERtEEE — 2

BENRFEE

RERHBHEE — B5OF RE - BHER

AT — BHREEN B BRERBA AL

. Sustain and develop partnership to synergise works in consumer BB RIEEEZR - UBRIRER - Rt (8
protection at international, Mainland (including the Greater Bay Area) ERER) IR EBENEEERELE
and local levels BB ETERNREEERER  HEHES

. Uphold the Council as an effective and high performing statutory
body through staff enrichment and strong corporate governance

R A BB EEHRE

HBEESS 2022-23 £ 41



RESOLVING DISPUTES BETWEEN
CONSUMERS AND BUSINESSES

S HEEHEEBHEZENME

Despite not being a law enforcement agency holding investigative powers, the
Council provides highly accessible consumer complaints services and supports
consumers’ right to seek redress when disputes arise by means of conciliation, with
a view to assisting both consumers and traders to reach a settlement. Information
obtained from consumer complaints not only helps the Council to monitor the
marketplace and issue timely alerts to the public, but also facilitates the Council’s
close liaison and exchange of information with different authorities to combat
unscrupulous trade practices.

BEHEREWIFNERE NEBERATED  BRAE—ERHREEERMUE
BHRFEERS - LAEINHEEEE BRI EE M LSS SRR
R - W B ETTZRNBE TR - EBRFMERMENNER - NMBEF
RASERMSESRANMERFAARBHEEER  TEBASHEIEHEMR
BHMBLIREN  LETBAREHFE

| Complaints and Enquiries Received
| | 48% Goods &

\

In 2022-23, the Council received 60,823 enquiries and 31,996 complaints,
representing year-on-year (YoY) changes of -7% and +10% respectively. 88% of

the enquiries were received by phone, whereas digital channels, including e-form
and email, continued to be the most popular avenues for lodging complaints,
accounting for 79% of the total number:

31,996

Complaint Cases
#ER
FRN > AEHEE 60823 FHEEHEAK 31,996 BB KT LLEFED
BITNER 79% R EFH 10% - SHELAE T 88% KM BREIMRIEE  THE

®BFIE - AILETRE (BEETRRAER) RRER - LRRFER
52% Services BR# 38 B (79%) o
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. Resolving Disputes Between Consumers and Businesses if{H B& Bl i & Z B0 #

Overview and Trends

As the COVID-19 situation fluctuated during the reporting year and
eventually eased towards early 2023, changes in consumption behaviour
were reflected through complaint trends. For example, complaints related
to internet shopping surged significantly (+68%), “Food & Entertainment
Services” rose by 29%, while electrical appliances saw a record-high number
of complaints (3,009 cases), largely due to consumers spending more time
at home in 2022, driving up the demand for online shopping, food delivery
and use of home appliances. As borders reopened in early 2023, complaints
relating to “Travel Matters” recorded a steep rebound of 158% YoY, making it
the top complaint category in 2022-23.

Over the past 3 years, the disruption to traders’ business brought about by the
pandemic and increasing complexity of online consumer disputes increased the
difficulties of conciliation. The Council was able to achieve a 64% resolution rate
for cases with pursuable grounds in 2022-23. In general, if traders refused to
settle the case through conciliation, the complainants would be advised to seek

redress via alternative channels, including civil legal action.

¥REE R sk

FRFBEIBERE - M2 2023 FHBATHEM
RFBRBTRRAREERN ERRE - £
o BRI BRI ERZE 68% 0 BE
TRERLIRE ) NIRFERR LAY 29% T8
wmHm NRFBEREERWNN = HLHE
3009 R - BEKFBE > TERHMN 2022
FHBERRNEREEN THTHES
HIRE HNEXERBARENFR - AR
2023 FHABIEEE - SRS E AR
FBEIRE BREFRBPERT 168% BKH
2022-23 FEKFERINELL -

B 34 TEMAISER - LB LMY
PEBER  SARBELEREAKES -
BEMLL 7 202223 £ ARTREBE
FORIBE B EAYEE 64% - —MRTE + 417
FERBEBBEMABER ARRRERFA

ERUEAMS BRI BRERFRNRE

Online Shopping Complaints Steep Upsurge in Online Shopping Complaints

8 LI ARRRTRER

In recent years, one of the most prominent changes in consumer behaviours
is probably their receptiveness to online shopping, resulting in a sharp rise in
related complaints across a wide range of consumer goods and services. Internet
shopping complaints (14,163 cases) accounted for 44% of the total complaints
in 2022-23, a notable 68% YoY surge. The top 3 categories were “Travel
Matters” (2,323 cases), “Food & Entertainment Services” (1,891 cases) and
“Clothing & Apparel” (1,260 cases). Consumers are reminded to stay vigilant

14,163

Cases =
and rational when shopping online, to make it a habit to always read data privacy
policies, terms and conditions, select reputable online shopping platforms while

avoiding impulse purchases, and to be mindful of the impact to the environment.

44% of the total complaints

1E#8FERRY 44% BRI H

7 e i o (T IMEHETA LREENNRE  SRNEZTERBLEY - &

- % @ﬁgf (=) MBEBNETT  BERNERSEEE EREREERNRFZ

Bl EFt - 2022-23 FEEBFERF (14,163 R ) (GHERFHT

44% > BEFE RN EFE 7 5% (68%) 0 e = (%A A

THREESERS (2323 R )T RERKRE (1891 FR) &K "X

8, (1,260 R) - ARIREEES  ERENSRFZGRE

M BERFHEELBRREERMRNREEIE  WERE

BRIFNAETE  BREEHE  IEZRRBHRESR
e -

R

2,323
Travel Matters FRIFEE75

Food & Entertainment Services B 52 M iR 4%

1,260
Clothing & Apparel Z<#ff
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Continuous Development

Enhancement of Communication Channels

The Council is dedicated to expanding and enhancing its services through
strengthening its communication channels. Further to the launch of the
Council's WeChat official account on 1 June 2022 (see chapter Disseminating
Consumer Information for more), new functions have been added in 2023
that allow complainants to check the progress of their complaint cases and
submit supplementary documents remotely, providing greater convenience for

consumers.

Development of an Online Dispute Resolution Platform

The rapid technological advancement in recent years, while in part giving rise to
higher complaint volumes in online shopping, at the same time provides more
reliable digital technology and electronic means for resolving disputes. To meet
the growing demand and raised expectations of the public for more efficient
and effective complaint handling, the Council is developing an online dispute
resolution platform to handle consumer complaints in a cost-effective and time-

efficient way.

Fig.1 Complaint Trends in the Past 3 Years
1 B% 3 FRENKRET

FERR

EtBaRE

REHNMABFBERE  FELURRLER
B #2022F6 B 1 HRABEZEEE AN
ERARKR (FBEU2H TEHRHEEM, —
1) RNGIRR 2023 B HTHEE - FHEE
AEBMEEREARFERER  DIRER
BRBEER  REBEEREELER -

FREALLFBRRFE

IMFERINERER - —ESI RE LB
AFEZB I m—TEEM Y BRI SR EER
BRiRET AR EEER - RLEATRK
DHMEBRERRERBBARFEERE > I
ENBRBMNER ASERE—ERLS
BRTE  DEERARFEBGSMN TR
HHEEER -

Year {3 2020-21 2021-22 | 2022-23 |
Total number of complaints #%ZF1EZEHEE 28,590 29,207 31,996

YoY changes 2 EE) — +2% +10%
Fig.2 Top 10 Consumer Complaints on Industries in 2022-23
2 2022-23 FEH100MLE R EEREREITT

2022-23 | 2021-22 | % change

Travel Matters 3341 .
S 1.279 +158%
Food & Entertainment Services [ENAL] +29%
BEER IR 2,498 °
Electrical Appliances o
ERAL 2.735 0%
Telecommunication Services +5%
BENBRFS 2,226 &
Clothing & Apparel 1,745 9
R V. I AT
Beauty Services 1,295 .
£ A 0%
Foods & Drinks 1,217 o
ESREHS ez 2%
Computer Products (1,186 | 5
BHES KN e
Personal Care Products (1,182 ] o
BABEES I a2
Bank & Financial Services o
SRR r20%
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Fig.3 Nature of Consumer Complaints in 2022-23
3 2022-23 FEZIFEE

Late / Non-delivery / Loss

i/ e /s 006 2,771 Others
19%
; 434 IS:.l:JspectEeld SDpurious Goods
Price / C{%;rgg?susl?ég% 5366 7% 8% [REEAE E
Jo Free Gifts / Discounted Goods
rore— 807 sy mmame
, 3%
\ Total Repair / Maintenance Services
Variation / g 5% «— 1721 #e1g / RERS
Termination of Contract 4,921 — 15%
B/ LA A .
e 24462 Sales Practices
AL wmTx
12% % Q\ 3.415 Quality of Services
Quality of Goods 3891 / ’ R#HEER
EmEx Y

Fig.4 Resolution Rate of Cases with Pursuable Grounds in 2022-23
4 2022-23 FEREMINE

'll.&l

Total number of cases received

FERRER

Number of cases with pursuable grounds® 22108
IR ° : b 47
o

N . Resolution rate
umber of cases in progress SRR INEE
i HEOEE oL BERE
Number of cases resolved
HERANIEE R

3. Anonymous complaints, cases with insufficient information, and complaints outside the Council’s terms of reference are in general non-pursuable.

BAKH  EREERNARRERS TEHELIMIRTF « E—RIER TRERENZY -
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Top 5 Complaint Categories
1. Travel Matters

The year under review saw the resumption of cross-boundary and international
travel since the pandemic first upended global travel. Complaints related to
“Travel Matters” spiked by 158% to 3,341 cases and jumped to first place in
2022-23 with 70% being online shopping complaints. Among this, over 80%
were related to air tickets (45%) and hotel booking services (38%). Complaints
in this category were mostly about the variation / termination of contract (39%)
and price disputes (34%).

2. Food & Entertainment Services

Online food delivery demands have been consistently on the rise in recent
years, resulting in a 29% YoY surge in complaints for the “Food & Entertainment
Services” category from 2,498 cases to 3,218 cases, ranking second in the
year under review. The most common complaints involved online food delivery
services (34%), and restaurants (29%), whereas the complaint nature was mainly

related to late / non-delivery of services (28%) and price disputes (21%).

3. Electrical Appliances

Complaints about “Electrical Appliances”, despite descending from the top spot
in 2021-22 to third place in 2022-23, the volume (3,009 cases) still saw a
10% YoY increase and was in fact a record-high figure, likely due to consumers
spending more time at home during the pandemic and appliances being used
and worn out more. The top 3 most complained-about appliances were the
same as last year; namely air conditioners (14%), television sets (11%) and
washing machines (10%). Repair and maintenance (29%) and quality of goods
(27%) were the main areas of concern.

4. Telecommunication Services

Consumer complaints involving “Telecommunication Services” recorded
2,340 cases, representing a YoY increase of 5%. Over 70% of the complaints
stemmed from mobile phone services (42%) and internet services (31%).
Concerns about price disputes (33%) and variation / termination of contract

(27%) together accounted for more than half of the complaints.

5. Clothing & Apparel

There were 1,745 cases relating to “Clothing & Apparel”, representing a
whopping YoY increase of 41%.The largest volume of complaints was about
ready-made clothing and apparel (39%), followed by handbags (27%) and shoes
(17%). The nature of complaints mainly involved quality of goods (30%) and
late/non-delivery/loss (21%). Among the complaints in this category, 72% were

online shopping complaints.
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RAEE BN RENFRNESIE - 8 ik
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IMPROVING PRODUCT
QUALITY AND SAFETY

EEmERRRER

Global inflation, marked by escalating prices of consumables, soaring electricity tariffs and rising expenses in
daily necessities during the year, has imposed significant pressure on the general public's cost of living, making
the quest for value-formoney products a top priority of consumers under the new normal. The Council puts
substantial resources behind the testing, survey and research of products in the market, not only to ensure they
are safe and at least of reasonable quality, but also to help consumers identify more cost-effective goods.

As part of its ongoing research and testing programme, the Council monitors more than 1,000 products
a year, evaluating their essential product features including safety, performance, ease of use, durability and

environmental sustainability, serving as reliable reference for consumers.
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Research and Test Reports

The products studied ranged from popular
CHOICE*

foodstuffs and household goods, to cosmetic MR () T

and personal care products, clothing and apparel,
children’s products, pet products, stationery,
electrical appliances and consumer electronics.
Apart from recurring product tests to monitor 1,052 ORI E R
improvements in performance and quality over

the years, some product tests were introduced for

the first time ever in response to rising consumer demand, including dried
edible fungi, chicken essence, bath towels, balance bikes, rabbit feed, etc. during
this reporting year. The findings alerted consumers to immediate or potential

product hazards and offered objective guidance to making informed choices.

Products found to be non-compliant with Hong Kong regulations or international
standards were immediately referred to relevant regulatory authorities for
follow-up, while the concerned manufacturers, agents and service providers
were called upon to rectify the faults and improve the quality and standards of
their products. Over the years, such market monitoring mechanisms have proven
to be effective in facilitating law enforcement and driving different businesses to
ensure value creation in their product offerings.

Reports published in °

&> /

Products tested

Product Tests
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4. See Appendix 2 for the lists of product testing, market survey and in-depth study reports published in 2022-23.
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Product Tests

The Council conducts products tests by engaging internationally recognised
laboratories or universities and also through collaboration with Government
departments. As an active member of the International Consumer Research &
Testing (ICRT), which is an international consortium of more than 30 consumer
organisations, the Council benefits from the experience of the other markets by

accessing ICRT's product tests and valuable resources.

Food
Fish Oil Products

Many health-conscious consumers take supplements containing fish oil, yet the
Council's test on 25 samples of fish oil supplements revealed considerable
discrepancies between the test results and their labelled content of healthy fatty
acids. For example, 2 samples were found to have DHA contents 83% and
73.2% lower than their labelled values respectively, while for another type of fatty
acid EPA, T sample was 31.7% lower than its labelled value.

The possibly carcinogenic contaminant polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
(PAHSs) were detected in 6 samples, among which a sample of fish oil capsules
for pregnant women was found to contain benzo[a]pyrene, a genotoxic
carcinogen, at a level exceeding the upper limit of the European Union (EU)
regulations by over b times, while its total detected levels of 4 types of PAHSs
reached 54.0 ug/kg, also exceeding the upper limit of EU regulations.

Except for a sample dedicated for pregnant women, all samples were detected
with the contaminant 3-MCPD, of which 3 samples’ detected amounts
exceeded the EU's upper limit. Glycidol was found in 14 samples, one of which
had detected levels of glycidol and 3-MCPD both exceeding the upper limits
stipulated by the EU.

As these contaminants might also exist in some other types of food, consumers
were advised to nurture healthy eating habits to avoid excessive intake of such
contaminants. At the same time, the Council reminds consumers that omega-3

fatty acids could also be absorbed through regular diet, such as seafood.

25

Samples Tested

ORI
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Cooking Oils

As an indispensable element for cooking in every household, the food safety and
nutrition of cooking oil could be consequential. With this in mind, the Council
tested 50 cooking oil samples, including extra virgin olive oil, olive oil, avocado oll,
coconut oil, camellia oil, sunflower oil, rice bran oil, grapeseed oil, corn oil, canola

oil, soybean oil, peanut oil and blended oil.

Approximately 60% were detected with 3-MCPD (30 samples) and glycidol
(29 samples), which, despite showing a slight improvement compared to the
Council's previous cooking oil test in 2017 (70% detected with 3-MCPD, 77%
with glycidol), was still unsatisfactory. Moreover, 1 extra virgin olive oil exceeded
the action level of the Centre for Food Safety and the EU's maximum limit, while
2 other samples were found with another genotoxic carcinogen benzo[a]pyrene,
among which a corn oil sample slightly exceeded the EU standard. Manufacturers
were reminded of their responsibility to ensure product quality and prevent

harmful contaminants, so as to safeguard consumers’ health.

The healthy and harmful fatty acid ratios and contents varied among samples.
Healthy fatty acids including monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs) and
polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) could lower "bad” cholesterol levels in
the body. The test found that camellia oil, olive oil and extra virgin olive oil had
the highest average MUFAs content; grapeseed oil, corn oil and soybean oil
contained the highest PUFAs content on average, but simultaneously had higher
average trans fatty acids (TFAs) content, which could lower the body's “good”
cholesterol levels. A106-fold variance was found between the samples with the

highest (a grapeseed oil) and lowest (a coconut oil) PUFAs content.

The Council recommends selecting cooking oils high in MUFAs and PUFAs, and
lower in TFAs and SFAs contents.

Consumers should also be mindful of
the smoke points of different cooking
oils to prevent
emission of a large
amount of cooking
fumes which could
lead to health risks.
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Sausages

Sausages, as a type of processed meat, are widely known to be high in sodium
and/or fat, yet they remain highly popular for breakfast and lunch, and even for
barbecues, hot pots and parties as they are tasty, versatile and easy to cook. To
investigate the nutritional value and food safety level of sausages, the Council
tested 30 samples of sausages samples, including 20 chilled, 7 frozen and 3
ambient samples available on the market.

Despite over 90% (28 samples) qualifying as “high-protein” foods, close to 90%
were “high-sodium”, while half were “high-fat”. Besides, semicarbazide (SEM),
a metabolite of the veterinary drug nitrofurazone (also known as nitrofural)
banned in the Mainland, EU and USA, was detected in 3 samples, of which the
detected amounts in 1 sample exceeded the EU's Reference Point for Action
(RPA) by 13 times.

Additionally, 2 samples were detected with carcinogenic and genotoxic PAHS.
The Council reminds consumers that processed meats have been classified by
the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) as “carcinogenic to
humans” (Group 1 agents), and thus the consumption of processed meats such
as sausages, ham and turkey slices should be reduced, so as to prevent increased
risks of high blood pressure due to
prolonged excessive intake of wA
sodium, as well as increased risks

of cancen

30

Samples Tested
PRI

Dried Edible Fungi

The Council tested the nutrient content and safety of 28 samples of
prepackaged dried edible fungi, including 10 black fungus, 9 white back black

fungus and 9 snow fungus.

Results found all samples to be rich in nutrients, especially dietary fibre. Among
the 3 types of fungi tested, black fungus was found with the highest average iron
content. Iron is an essential element for making haemoglobin, and consuming
iron-rich food could help prevent iron deficiency anaemia. White back black
fungus had the highest average insoluble fibre content, befitting consumers with
general concern about intestinal health. Snow fungus was found to have the
highest average soluble fibre content, making it suitable for those concerned

about blood cholesterol and blood sugar levels.
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Food safety tests covered the content of 6 metallic contaminants (total arsenic,
cadmium, chromium, lead, total mercury, and antimony), pesticide residues,
and 2 preservatives, namely benzoic acid and sulphur dioxide. Over 40% (12
samples) were found to contain at least 1 type of pesticide, while all contained
metallic contaminants though unlikely to cause any significant health risk with
normal consumption. Sulphur dioxide was detected in 2 samples, and though the
levels did not exceed the permitted upper limit stipulated in the Preservatives
in Food Regulation, the information was not included in the list of ingredients in

accordance with the Food and Drugs (Composition and Labelling) Regulations.

Although dried edible fungi are highly nutritious, consumers should pay attention
to the proper preparation methods of dried edible fungi, and avoid soaking them

at room temperature for too long to prevent bongkrekic acid poisoning.

Dried Meat Snacks

The Council tested 30 dried meat snacks, including 10 pork jerky, 8 beef
jerky, 8 pork floss and 4 pork crisps samples. Food safety test items included
PAHSs, residue levels of veterinary drugs and preservatives; tests on nutrient
content covered sugar, sodium, total fat, saturated fatty acids, trans fatty acids,
and protein.

Over 40% (13 samples) were detected with PAHs, with the highest level found in
1 beef jerky sample with a total of 4 PAHs exceeding the EU limit by over 50%.
1 pork crisps sample was found with the metabolite AOZ of the non-permitted
veterinary drug furazolidone, which did not comply with legal requirements and
exceeded the EU's RPA. Consumption of the sample should be avoided.

Preservatives may be added during the preparation of meat snacks to slow
down bacterial growth and prevent spoilage. 2 beef jerky samples were detected
with high levels of sorbic acid, believed to be added directly to the product and
not originated from other ingredients. As such, this might be in violation of the
Preservatives in Food Regulation.

Furthermore, all samples were found to be high in sugar, and over 95% were
high in sodium. Considering this finding and the fact that processed meat
products are Group 1 carcinogens, consumers should be mindful of the
consumption amount of jerky; floss, and crisps.

Upon reviewing the labelling on the samples, 16 were found with discrepancies
between the labelled nutrient values and actual nutrient content that did not
comply with the requirements of the Technical Guidance Notes on Nutrition
Labelling and Nutrition Claims. The Council urged relevant manufacturers to
improve immediately.
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Cosmetics and Personal Care
Gel Nail Polish

Beautifully manicured hands not only leave a neat impression but are an essential
beauty routine for many. While acrylic gel manicures done at professional salons
are popular, soak-off gel (also known as “soft gel”) nail polish products have
become increasingly favoured in recent years as they can be used in the comfort
of one’s home yet achieve the same professional effect.

The Council's test on 25 models of “soak off gel” nail polish products revealed
that almost 70% (17 models) were detected with 1 or more EU-banned
carcinogens, including human carcinogen benzene in 1 sample, formaldehyde
in 3 samples, while over half (14 models) were detected with 1T or 2 PAHSs.
Consumers are reminded to select products that contain no or less harmful
substances and to use such products in well-ventilated spaces.

The product labelling was also found to be inadequate. Apart from 8 models
which included a detailed list of ingredients in English on the bottle or packaging,
another 9 models only displayed ingredient information in Korean or Japanese,
whereas the remaining 8 did not contain any such information. As gel nail polish
must be cured under a UV lamp, relevant instructions such as the exposure time
and type of UV light are important
information for consumers to use
the product properly. However, only
7 models clearly displayed such
usage instructions in English on the
packaging, while the remaining 18

models lacked such information. The P o s
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provide comprehensive and legible
information to safeguard consumers’
health.

Toothpaste

Brushing teeth twice a day is an important habit for maintaining good dental and
oral health, which makes toothpaste an essential daily oral care product for both
children and adults. Apart from basic cleaning functions, many toothpastes claim

additional functions such as desensitising, whitening, prevention of dental calculus, etc.

The Council's test on 30 toothpaste models found that 3 out of the 13 models
of children’s toothpaste had a pH level that was too low, failing to comply with
the Mainland standard and might lead to damage of the tooth enamel; whereas
2 children’s toothpaste models claiming to contain fluoride were found to have

low levels of fluoride and might not be able to strengthen the teeth.

16 models were detected with fragrance allergens, 4 of which had a detected
amount exceeding the upper limit that requires labelling set by the EU
regulation, yet did not display the name of the allergens in the list of ingredients.
Furthermore, 90% (27 models) were detected with trace amounts of heavy
metals (arsenic and/or lead) and though the levels did not exceed the relevant
standards, consumers should be mindful of the risks of ingesting these substances
over a prolonged period.
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Children’s Products
Balance Bikes

Balance bikes allow children to experience the joy of cycling

while training their balance and muscle coordination. In

the Council's test on 15 balance bikes, 6 models failed to

comply with the requirements of the EU toy safety standard /
on mechanical and physical aspect. After the torque/tension =)

test, 3 models broke off small parts which could cause
suffocation if accidentally swallowed by children. The space
between the wheel and bicycle frame of 4 models did
not comply with the requirements of the relevant
standard and could pose risks of trapping children’s

fingers or toes.

Children would hold the grip and touch the saddle when
using the balance bikes. If the materials of these parts
contain harmful chemical substances, they might
pose health risks to children. Results showed that
the grip and/or saddle materials of all models were
detected with 8 types of restricted PAHs. For the
parts with long-term skin contact, the total sum of
15 PAHs in 3 models exceeded the safety limit set by

the German safety standard, and the saddle material of T model was detected

with benzo[ghi]perylene which also exceeded the relevant limit.

Phthalates are often added to plastic to increase their elasticity and durability,
yet some phthalates could pose health risks. For example, research studies have
shown that DEHP could possibly hinder the normal growth of children and may
also damage the male reproductive system. 3 tested models were detected
with DEHP the highest of which exceeded the upper limit set out in Hong Kong
regulations by 18 times. The Council calls for manufacturers to improve product
designs and use materials free from phthalates and PAHSs to strengthen safeguard
for the health of children.

Health Products
Face Masks

As the pandemic persisted during the reporting year and wearing a face mask had
become routine, many brands started offering coloured or patterned options
to brighten up this daily drill. After the 2 previous tests in 2017 and 2020, the
Council tested samples of 30 coloured/patterned face mask models during the
year, 27 of which claimed to meet the requirements for ASTM F2100 Standard
Level 3, while 3 were labelled as meeting Level 2 standard. Besides, 12 models
simultaneously claimed to comply with the EU standard EN 14683 Type IIR.

In general, the tested samples had satisfactory filtration efficiency, though a
few models had discrepancies between their claimed values and test results. In
the test of resistance to penetration by synthetic blood, which simulated the
splashing of blood or body fluid onto the mask surface, 2 models performed
poorly. Even at the lowest pressure (80mmHg), the number of samples
penetrated by synthetic blood exceeded the limit, indicating doubtful water
resistance and leak resistance.

. Improving Product Quality and Safety HEEREZERZRE

REEM
FESs
.o SRERFTEEERNEEAEREE
AV - AR FIRY T O A
MLAHARES] - AERIE 15 5FE
B B 6 REAERME RN
AR AR EEMNITARERENE
Koo 3 FERATER DAL DB HRB W
B EAMNEY  MREREERIIR
T BEESIHES - IS 4 AR
M RS S 20 AR R AE R S 1H B
RERR > FERBRETFEMAR
[ o

REFRTEHEER  EFSRIEFIC
RIEBREAL - ZEMANDPREER
EEYE AT RENEEER
B - EREF > 2EHEANFLEE
/ SRR BlAR B 8 T3 BR il AN
PAHSs © 7R FEELET BRI EL 2 » 3
B A 15 7& PAHs 2B HER
R2HEHE GS Mark BT L 2R (E » 1
TR EA RIS EEIF [ghi] 36 - B2
HARREMRREZESK o

BERERNREBTMCERNE - LIRS
VORISR R - D B LB e R R
WAKERR - BIZNEHTFTHE H DEHP St 2 45Ht 52
BEEERE  WARBESUHLEERRK 3K
BHBEARE DEHP - SR EM 1 FBHEA
BEBIFRET I _ERRIE 18 (3 - RS ERIER
BEEMPRE - RRKARSE(CH K PAHs
Bt - DUnsa s SRE R AR o

BRES

=]

FR BEEREFE BOSEXATE &
Z mERERRESEACRBEENOSHA
AHEAERRETY o 4 2017 4 2020 FH
2 AR AEEAFERET 30 SRARASE
MEE /BROSEER  Hh 27 REREFTS
ASTM F2100 RE=RER > IRBERATE
TR o AL 0 12 RARREA A B EEE
EN 14683 Type IIR ©

BEMS  AREANBBRERS WS #
EAEANBBELDIAERTEER - AR
BRODANBARREIOERENSRMDZFE
AEF - B2REXBEAE - MEEREED
(80mmHg) T HEKMAFENEAHEN
BT RIE » BRBIZKHSMEEFRE

HEEZRS® 2022-23 £ 53




Unsatisfactory hygiene condition of the face mask itself could cause skin
problems for the face, yet the detected bioburden levels of 6 models exceeded
the limit of the European standard. In the delta pressure test, which reflects
the comfort and breathability of the samples, 4 models had samples found to
have a pressure difference of over 6.0mmH,O/cm?, which did not meet the
requirements for ASTM Level 2 and Level 3.

In addition to the 2017 and 2020 test items, the carcinogenic azo dye test was
added this time to assess the safety of the dyes used in face masks. None of the
models were detected with azo dyes and are safe for consumers to use.

The Council also reviewed the labelling information of the products and found
that the labelling information and user instructions for many models were not
comprehensive enough. Manufacturers were urged to improve the labelling
information.
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Pulse Oximeters

In the first half of 2022, the fifth wave of the COVID-19 pandemic in Hong
Kong caused many patients to be quarantined at home. Some people chose to
purchase a fingertip pulse oximeter to self-monitor their blood oxygen level, so

as to observe their health condition or whether medical attention was needed.

As some fingertip pulse oximeters on the market, especially non-medical use
ones, may not have been reviewed by medical regulatory authorities, the product
quality may not be guaranteed. An article was published in CHOICE Magazine
to provide consumers with basic information about oximeters, including how to

obtain a proper measurement and interpret the readings.

In the course of the study, the Council found that the name of 1 model in a
retail store, which was marked with the HKMD Number of the Medical Device
Division of the Department of Health (DH), was actually inconsistent with the
product name listed on the DH's official website, while only the company name

of the local responsible person was found to match.

Currently, there is no specific legislation in Hong Kong to regulate medical devices
such as fingertip pulse oximeters, while the “Medical Device Administrative Control
System” implemented by the DH since 2004 operates by voluntary listing only. In
view of this, the Council urged the Government to introduce regulations to ensure
the quality of these medical devices to safeguard consumer rights.
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Electrical Products
Home Surveillance Cameras

“Smart homes" have become increasingly popular in recent years, with many
households installing home surveillance cameras for home security purposes. As
the first test of its kind conducted in Hong Kong, the Council tested the cyber
security of 10 models with reference to the European Standards ETSI EN 303
645 and the industry standard OWASP MASVS in areas including protection
against attack, security of data transmission and apps, security of data storage, and
hardware design. Only 1 model complied with the cyber security requirements

of the European standard while 9 models posed various cyber security concerns.

The test revealed that 5 models transmitted video or data without encryption,
exposing security flaws for hackers. During live video streaming, a hacker could
launch “brute-force attacks” to crack the password of 3 models. Among

them, the default password of 2 models was only 6 digits or
characters, an extremely weak password strength that can be easily

cracked by hackers to steal videos.

Each time the user logs in and connects to their surveillance
cameras, a session key equivalent to a temporary password will
be used for encryption and decryption when transmitting
information and data. The session key should expire after
logging out while a new one will be used for the new
login. The test found that the previous session key of 3
models was still valid for re-logging in.

The security of in-app data storage for all 10
models was inadequate. 5 models were found to
allow access to the user files stored in smart devices
through Android apps, whereas the app of 5 models
requested excessive permission. The Council recommends
the Government to make reference to the practices in
other jurisdictions and introduce relevant schemes or
standards for Hong Kong to promote the cyber security
of local loT devices. Manufacturers were also urged to

improve the cyber security of their products.

Thermo Ventilators

A multifunctional and energy-efficient thermo ventilator can serve several
purposes, from keeping the bathroom heated and toasty to boosting ventilation
and drying clothes. The Council and the Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department (EMSD) commissioned local laboratories to test the performance
and safety of 6 window-mounted and 3 ceiling-mounted thermo ventilators,
and 4 portable bathroom heaters. The performance test items included clothes
drying, heating performance, air delivery rate, warm air output temperature,
noise level, etc.

In the clothes drying test, the worst-performing model could not completely dry
the designated load of damp clothes within the 8-hour time limit as the device
automatically stopped after 6 hours of operation. All remaining fixed installed
models were able to dry the clothes in 3.3 hours to 6.4 hours, a difference of

. Improving Product Quality and Safety HEEREZERZRE

=

=]
=]

EREM
LR L
TERERE ) IFTBE N ROREBRE

RAEREARRERERE A2 EM
S AZE ETS| EN 303 645 K T ZE42 % OWASP
MASVS » GBI 10 AR B B IR R TR R A B4
Z2 0 BABEEREINHE - BEBERLE
WEEN - ENEXERERRALZEM - #7F
BERMREME - DIRRBHFRE - ERBHR - R

1 FRBEARFEBOMNBR L RIEE R OR
HERNENRELEESE -

BHBE S EAEEEENENE  RE
HEBENE > REZEREBHR - SHEARE
TERDREGERE  BREUERRE "#HK
2 RS o 2P 2 URARIEREER
B UEFHFE  BEFEER ATHBRFES
AR TR

BEERENEEREERN e EREENE
RIS ESE - ERFPEEENKEUR
- MEINBARE - Wi BEEE
FRENERRRN > ERFBREANE
SEA—ENEERE - R 8
ARBRBREP SREAETZERTBEA
EERERR > BN E—REaiHEEE
SIRIAER

210 FEANEARER - EENNE
2MHARE o H b FREARRZEH Android
IRANEAEREA GRS EESENNEER
PESHEANFREREAERBLE
R o AEEZBUTAIZ2ERBBERIME
EHBESABIIERTRISERE - LimEE
AU EHBE BRIBIR R R IMERBRER
WEEMPIBREE -

AEEE

—HBZINRE « FREABRBMAIVATREAK © B
ARFAZRETE  XABRAMEZK - AE
HRETRENNEZEAMERZAHT 6 %
BON  3SHKRERAK 4 ABBNAEREA K
FIMERE e m 2 - MEARRIGIE B B F kAN
BRE - fNE BRERENEFREES -

FER AR R  RERENEARET 6 /NHEK
BEEIE > REER 8 /NEFRUBFIRNTERMELTE
EEENRNXY) © EHREE LR EKNEAREER
33 /NRE 6.4 NEFATRMERY - KEMRE
BOL 1 %> SEMRMEE - —RKFH - RI6
NEANMRRERERE - B 3 AN

SHEEZRS® 2022-23 £ 55




56 Consumer Council 2022-23 Annual Report

almost twofold which would result in the same variance in the electricity bill.
In general, ceiling types were found to perform better in clothes drying, as all
3 models completed it within 4 hours. The lowest power consumptions were
found in T window-type and 2 ceiling-type models, indicating better clothes
drying energy efficiency. The warm air output temperature could also vary by
over 16°C among the tested models.

According to the 2017 comparative test results on thermo ventilators of various
designs, clothes drying by blowing warm air was found to be less energy-efficient
than by blowing dry air from a thermo ventilator with compressor. Users are
recommended to consider drying clothes by sunlight/natural wind if household

conditions allow, or with more energy-efficient drying devices.

For the safety assessment, 2 window-type models failed to comply with the
standard requirements for earthing continuity, while 3 models were found
inadequate in the provision of proper marking and instructions.

Inverter Split-type Air Conditioners

Considering that “1 horsepower” (HP) air conditioners are the most commonly
used type in Hong Kong's compact living space, the Council tested 14 models of
“1 HP" inverter split-type air conditioners, covering the heating performance of

( reverse cycle air conditioners (RCAC) for the first time.

The results revealed that despite all models achieving Energy Efficiency Grade
1 based on the appliance’'s Cooling Seasonal Performance Factor (CSPF) or
Heating Seasonal Performance Factor (HSPF), the CSPF and HSPF values varied
by as much as around 30% and 35% respectively among models, representing a
vast discrepancy in energy efficiency and energy-saving performance. The Council
recommends consumers to select air conditioners with higher CSPF and HSPF
values, as they are more eco-friendly and cost-saving.

The cooling capacity of air conditioners is also crucial as the higher the value,
the faster it cools. The test revealed outstanding cooling performance across all
models, with the measured cooling capacity ranging from 2.55kW to 2.88kW,
all higher than claimed, among which 1 cooling-only model even achieved 10.8%
higher than its claimed value. On the other hand, the heating performance of the
7 RCAC models with heating function could vary by around 19%, of which the
measured heating capacity of 4 models were higher than claimed by 1.0% to
6.9%, while that for the remaining 3 models were lower than claimed. e
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Household Products
Bath Towels

A bath towel with good water absorbency, durability, softness, and antibacterial
function is a must-have household product. The Council tested 40 bath towels
mainly made of cotton, including 32 ordinary towels and 8

with claims of antibacterial properties.

Good absorbency is the most basic requirement of bath
towels, yet the test found a huge disparity in the water
absorption performance among the models, ranging
from 3 to 50 seconds to absorb water before washing.

The water absorption performance of all models did not

models even took a shorter time to absorb water than the
initial wash.

To maintain hygiene, consumers should frequently
replace and wash bath towels. After 50 times of washing
and drying, 3 models were shortened by about 10%
in length. As for the appearance, 9 models were found
to vary significantly after the initial wash, such as showing
visible pills and/or discolouration, of which 3 were more expensive models
priced from $460 to $1,120.

In measuring the antibacterial performance of the 8 models with such claims,
only 1 showed satisfactory antibacterial performance in effectively inhibiting the
growth of the 2 test microorganisms. However, 6 models could only effectively
inhibit the growth of Staphylococcus aureus, and among them, the antibacterial
capability in 2 models dropped after 50 washes. The Council reminded
consumers to wash and dry used wet bath towels immediately and avoid storing
clean and dry bath towels in damp and non-ventilated bathrooms for a long time.

Bed Sheets and Mattress Protectors

While most people spend a third of their day sleeping, bed sheets with
antibacterial and anti-mites properties along with a soft texture could help
improve the quality of sleep. The Council tested 15 models of bed sheets and
mattress protectors with antibacterial or anti-mites efficacy claims. 9 were
labelled with both “antibacterial” and “anti-mites” function, while 6 were labelled

as “anti-mites”.

Test results revealed that although all models showed satisfactory anti-mites
activity, some models had mediocre antibacterial performance. Close to 80% of
the models labelled with antibacterial efficacy were unable to effectively inhibit
the growth of 2 test bacteria in the antibacterial test.

Many consumers would select bed sheets according to their personally preferred
texture, which is related to the thread count and material composition of the
products. However, test results revealed that actual materials of 3 models were
different than claimed and 1 sample was found with over 30% discrepancy
between its actual and labelled thread count.
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Stationery
Ballpoint Pens and Gel Ink Pens

The Council tested the writing performance
and safety levels of 18 ballpoint pen models and

22 gel ink pen models, with vastly varying prices from $2.4 to $86 per pen.

The test found that a seemingly simple pen might pose safety risks to children,
as the pen cap and/or end closure of 6 models were relatively small and failed
to comply with the minimum air flow requirements (8 litres per minute) of
UK standards, leading to a higher risk of asphyxiation in the event of accidental
swallowing into the trachea. Manufacturers were recommended to improve the
security of end closures, or design with air holes to ensure the air flow meets the
relevant requirements, so as to reduce the possible risks of suffocation.

Long-lasting and resistant inks should be used for signing or writing on important
documents. With reference to ISO test standards, test paper pieces were
prepared and soaked in 50% ethanol solution for 10 minutes and air-dried.
Results showed that 1 gel ink pen model failed the test as both text and lines on
the sheets of test paper disappeared completely. On the other hand, all models
passed the water resistance test after being soaked in distilled water for 1 hour,
as the lines and text on all the sheets of paper remained visible/legible. Overall,

most of the tested models were suitable for general writing purposes.

Results also showed that the total writing distance varied drastically among
models, with the averaged value ranging from 388.3m to 2,323.7m, an almost
5-fold difference. The total writing distance of ballpoint pens was generally longer,

averaging 1,052m, while that of gel ink pens was only 699.2m.

Pet Products
Rabbit Feed

Keeping a pet rabbit could be a decade-long commitment and a suitable diet is
essential for its nutritional needs. The Council tested 12 rabbit feed models for
adult rabbits which claimed to be “complete feed” or “complementary feed”,
including 9 in pellet form, 2 with mixed ingredients, and 1 comprised of pellets in
different shapes and colours.

Among the 8 complete feed models, the crude fat contents in 2 models were
higher than the recommendation established by the European Pet Food Industry
Federation (FEDIAF) for adult rabbits, while the starch contents in 2 models
were higher than the recommendation. On the other hand, 2 complete feed
models were found to have a crude fibre content lower than the FEDIAF's

recommendations.

If rabbits consume a high-fat, high-calorie diet over an

extended period, they may become overweight -
easily; an excessive amount of starch may lead to 2

severe diarrhoea; whereas insufficient fibre may
slow down gut movement as well as causing ‘

dental problems.
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The test also found that the mineral contents of all tested models failed to fully
comply with the FEDIAF's recommendations. Improper calcium-to-phosphorus
ratio (Ca:P ratio) was the most prevalent problem, with 8 models failing to meet
the recommended range. Another 2 models were found with calcium contents
exceeding the recommended safe upper limit set by the EU guidelines. If these
models were used as a long-term staple diet, it would pose health risks to rabbits.

The Council urged pet food manufacturers to improve the content of various
nutrients in pet food, so as to safeguard the health of small animals.

International Comparative Tests

During the year under review, the Council has maintained close collaboration
with ICRT and joined forces with consumer associations in other jurisdictions to
conduct international comparative tests on the following types of products and to

advise consumers on selection tips, especially for expensive or durable products:

* Audio-visual and optical products, including speakers, soundbars and
interchangeable lens camera kits;

e Computer and telecommunications products, comprising internet security
software, VPN services, smart phones, tablet PCs and laptops;

* Household and personal products, such as electric men shavers, electric
toothbrushes, clinical thermometers and cordless upright vacuum cleaners; and

» Children’s and outdoor products, including pushchairs and running backpacks.

Where Have All the Tested Products Gone?

The products used for testing by the Council were put to further use with a
number of items donated to environmental protection organisations, charity
groups and non-profit organisations for further consumption and recycling.
During the year, a total of 1,109 items, including electrical appliances, household
consumables, health products, infant products, skincare products as well as food

and beverages, were donated to 6 recipient organisations.

The recipient organisations were: Action Care, ALBA Integrated Waste Solutions
(Hong Kong) Ltd., Caritas Second Hand Recycling Shop, Hong Kong Women
Development Association Limited, Sai Kung and Tseung Kwan O Women's

Association Limited, and St. James’ Settlement.

1,109

Items Donated
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PROMOTING SUSTAINABLE
CONSUMPTION

HEAFEER

The impact of global warming and climate change has been more tangible than
ever in the past year, as unprecedented heatwaves swept across many regions
around the world. For the welfare of the earth and current generation, as well as
to ensure future generations' needs are not compromised, it is crucial to step up
sustainability efforts immediately. In support of Hong Kong's green initiatives to build
Hong Kong into a liveable city, the Council puts great effort into educating, facilitating
and encouraging the public to make more sustainable consumption choices.
Such is achieved through a three-pronged approach, including the embedding of
sustainability elements into product testing, research and surveys, the results of which
are published in CHOICE Magazine; consumer education programmes to cultivate
awareness of sustainable consumption among various consumer groups, and the
study of consumer behaviour through periodic surveys.

B EMEMRARZCERE—FATERNFE L LU B - REFIPIHZRE
EYHRLEME - BT HIHNERALBREL - LEEET —AAENERR
BOHFER R - HBAIFERERN TEEREZIARRE - BSGTABRRMFREE - 2
B—EEEENHET  ASWHRHEE  (RENSBAREL A FEREE R
B EB-EETNNE  BRERZEEMIR  MENRAEFNATFERR
TR WHHRERR CEE) RTIAM | BEBEIDHEEXNEE KAFEH
ENMREETARNVEEREE | LAABRESNASHMITEEENTTA

B EmE BRI
H¥ A A 2R B AT SRS R £

Product Comparative Tests on Appliances

In the face of a deepening global energy crisis which has driven up electricity

tariff and imposed untold impact on consumers, the Council continues to
place emphasis on sustainability and energy efficiency parameters in its product
comparative tests. The test results serve as important indicators for consumers
to purchase more energy-efficient and water-saving electrical appliances, which

benefit both the environment and consumers’ pockets.

Besides empowering consumers to make greener consumption choices,
prolonging the product lifespan of home appliances through proper care
and repair also contributes to sustainability. The Council consistently urges
manufacturers to improve the quality of their electrical appliances, such as air
conditioners and thermo ventilators (see chapter Improving Product Quality and
Safety for more); ensure sufficient supply of spare parts; and strengthen repair
and maintenance services to not only reduce the need to replace the appliances
with new purchases, but also to boost customers’ confidence in their brand.
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Washer Dryers

In the compact living space in Hong Kong, it is hard enough to fit in a washing
machine, not to mention the humid weather and the extra space required to
hang-dry the laundry. As such, washer dryers with the dual functions of washing
and drying clothing have become increasingly popular. The Council tested 10
models of front-loading washer dryers on their clothes washing and drying
performance, energy and water saving performance, washing and drying speed,

etc. across different operating programmes.

The test results showed a huge difference in energy consumption among the
tested models, with a maximum difference of approximately 79% in energy
consumption for washing per kg clothing in the “washing synthetic fibre clothing”
session. However, the energy-saving levels of the same model could drastically
vary for different test sessions. The best-performing model with the lowest energy
consumption per kg clothing in the “washing cotton clothing” session conversely
had the highest energy consumption per kg clothing amongst all models in 4 other
test sessions which included drying as well as washing and drying.

Meanwhile, the water consumption for the dry programme was found to
differ significantly across different models. In the “drying cotton clothing”
and “drying synthetic fibre clothing” sessions, the maximum differences in
water consumption for drying each kg clothing were around 83% and 86%
respectively. The model measured with the highest water consumption in
the drying sessions was the most water-saving model in the “washing cotton
clothing” session, which reflected that the same model could have varying
performance when operating under different wash and dry programmes, and

when used for treating different textiles.

Consumers should consider their personal laundry habits, most frequently
washed and dried garment types, and most valued product function, so as to

make a smart purchasing decision for a washer dryer.
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Dehumidifiers

Dehumidifiers are an essential household appliance in Hong Kong's humid
climate, especially during damp transitional seasons. Besides traditional models,
2-in-1 air purifying dehumidifiers equipped with High Efficiency Particulate Air
(HEPA) filters have emerged on the market in recent years. The Council's latest
test on dehumidifiers included 4 models of 2-in-1 air purifying dehumidifiers
(with HEPA filters) in addition to 10 conventional dehumidifiers.

Results of the dehumidifying performance test showed that after installing
the HEPA filters, the measured daily dehumidifying capacity of 2 models
were 13.2% and 23.1% lower than their respective claims under the standard
test environment (STE) (26.7 °C and 60% relative humidity), and 14.7% and
41% lower than their claims under the manufacturers’ own test environment
(30°C and 80% relative humidity). Their energy factors, derived by calculating
the litres of water extracted per unit of electricity to determine the energy
efficiency grade, also dropped by 20.2% and 33.2% respectively when
measured under the STE. Both models were marked with Grade 1 rating on
the energy label under the Mandatory Energy Efficiency Labelling Scheme
(MEELS), yet based on the energy factor after installation of HEPA filters, their
energy efficiency dropped to only Grade 2 and 4 respectively.

The test results were forwarded to the Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department (EMSD), whose further compliance monitoring tests revealed
that the models failed to reach the relevant energy efficiency and/
or performance characteristics. Subsequently, the EMSD announced

on 3 March 2023 the removal of these 2 dehumidifier models from

the record of listed models under the Energy Efficiency (Labelling of -

Products) Ordinance, meaning that these products could no longer be
supplied in Hong Kong with immediate effect.

The Council has in the past repeatedly urged manufacturers to
stop using their own test environment because it might not reflect
the actual use condition and could potentially mislead consumers
into overestimating the product’s performance, but no obvious
improvement has been observed so far As such,

consumers are recommended to study the

dehumidifying capacity stated on energy labels

rather than relying solely on manufacturers’

promotional leaflets or user manual with

claimed capacities measured under non-standard

test environments.
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Product Comparative Tests on Disposable Products

Concerned about the environmental impact of disposable products which could
well be adding undue pressure to landfills, as well as the notable increase in
popularity of products marketed with “green claims”, the Council studied single-
use non-plastic tableware and disposable face towels during the year to assess
the validity of their claims.

Single-use Non-plastic Tableware
Though the Government is promoting a series of policies to reduce the use of
single-use plastic tableware, there has been a lack of information on the stability

and safety of the alternative products.

The Council published a joint study on 3 main types of environmentally friendly
alternatives for single-use tableware, including products made with bagasse pulp
or palm leaf as well as paper straws, which was conducted by the International
Consumer Research & Testing (ICRT) and the European Consumer Organisation.

In the study, 57 models of non-plastic single-use tableware products were tested
for the presence of certain carcinogenic or toxic substances and evaluated
against existing relevant regulations in European countries. The test results
revealed that over 50% of the tested samples were found with amounts of
unwanted substances above the EU's recommendations for at least one of the
tested chemicals. In particular; polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) was detected in
all of the products made with bagasse pulp and 28% of the paper straw models.
PFAS are commonly used to make products resistant to water; yet they are
persistent organic pollutants and some of them have been classified as suspected

carcinogens.

The Council opined that non-plastic single-use tableware should be safe
for use, free from hazardous substances and in compliance with relevant
recommendations. Considering that there is a lack of relevant product safety
standards for non-plastic single-use tableware products in Hong Kong, it is
advised that appropriate safety regulation should be set up with reference to
regulations established in the Mainland and European countries.
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Disposable Face Towels

More and more single-use disposable face towels have become available on
the market, with some of them marketed as a more convenient and hygienic
option than regular towels for skincare routine, pet care and household
cleaning purposes.

The Council conducted a survey covering 9 models of disposable face towels
and reviewed their labelling information. The products claimed to be made
of cotton, rayon, viscose, non-woven fabric, pulp, or lyocell, yet the detailed
composition of the materials used was not labelled. In addition, chemical additives
might have been used in products which claimed to be 100% natural or made
with regenerated cellulose fibre. Consequently, the degradability of the products

within a short period of time would be questionable.

Though certain models claimed that the products were decomposable
or biodegradable, there was no information about the conditions for full
degradation nor were the relevant test standards for their biodegradable claims
stated. Consumers would not be able to identify products which can fully

decompose by solely relying on the product labels.

Considering that the degradation of biodegradable materials could be affected
by the actual conditions of the landfills, while significant amounts of natural
resources were required to produce disposable towels in the first place,
consumers were encouraged to minimise the use of disposable products in
order to lower the volume of solid waste to be disposed of in the landfills and to

protect the environment.

Published Articles on Environmental Initiatives

Various environmental initiatives, both those newly emerged and some long-
standing yet seldom-heard-of ones, require more promotion to raise consumers’
awareness and receptiveness. During the year, the Council undertook studies on
new energy vehicles, eco-coffins and used clothing recycling with the aim to raise

awareness and allow consumers to make informed choices.

New Energy Vehicles
As transportation is one of the major contributors to greenhouse gas emission,
lowering of such emission is a step towards the goal of carbon neutrality. While
deployment of new energy vehicles (NEV) might help in mitigating roadside air
pollution and traffic noise problems, in response to World Consumer Rights
Day and its theme in 2023 “Empowering Consumers Through Clean

Energy Transitions” (see chapter

Forging Closer Collaboration for
Consumer Protection for more),
the Council conducted an in-
depth study with the use of
overseas study reports on
NEV including electric vehicles
and hydrogen fuel cell electric
vehicles for consumer

interest.
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From the latest study report published by the European New Car Assessment
Programme (Euro NCAP), 61 models of various types of vehicles were compared
with life cycle assessment (LCA) analysis, including estimation of their greenhouse
gas emission during production, operation, recycling and reusing phases. The
greenhouse gas emissions from different vehicles were expressed as carbon

dioxide equivalent for calculation of carbon footprint of each vehicle model.

The test results revealed that the carbon dioxide equivalent produced by electric
vehicles during the production phase was generally higher than petroleum
vehicles with the inclusion of high-capacity lithium batteries. However; assuming
a vehicle has a lifetime of 16 years and an estimated mileage of 240,000km,
the carbon dioxide equivalent emission of electric vehicles was much lower than

petrol vehicles in the operating phase.

As a result, the Council reminded consumers that a number of factors should
be considered before making a purchase decision, including government policies,
replacement scheme, tax concession, recharging/fuel refilling costs and availability
of charging facilities, provision of repairing services, insurance coverage and

premiums, as well as recycling of batteries.

Eco-coffins

Various forms of “green burial” have been encouraged around the world in
recent years, passing on the love and legacy through eco-friendly actions. In
2008, the HKSAR Government imposed an additional licensing condition for
both newly issued and renewed licences, requiring licensed undertakers of burials
to offer eco-coffins as an option for sale to consumers. However, despite relevant
policies having been in place for around 15 years, statistics from the Food and
Environmental Hygiene Department showed that the usage rate of eco-coffins
in cremations was less than 5% in the past 10 years, reflecting unsatisfactory
implementation of such policies.

The Council conducted a survey on eco-coffins and reached out to 23
licensed undertakers of burials, but only received voluntary responses from
12 undertakers, an indirect indication of the industry’s conservative attitude
towards eco-coffins. According to the undertakers participating in the survey,
insufficient promotion by the Government, lower profit margins, unattractive
prices and reluctance to accept eco-coffins due to traditional mindset were the
main reasons for the lack of incentive to promote eco-coffins as a green burial
measure in Hong Kong. Besides, the fact that undertakers of burial rarely stated
specific details, including costs and advantages of eco-coffins, hindered consumers

from making an informed choice.

Eco-coffins are beneficial to both the deceased and the environment, as not
only are they more combustible during cremation thus reducing the impurities in
the cremains, but they could also lower toxic gas emission. As such, the Council
anticipates the tripartite effort of the Government, industry and the public to
promote eco-friendly green burial, to leave a sustainable legacy for the next

generation through the use of eco-coffins.
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Used Clothing Recycling

In recent years, many organisations provide used clothing recycling services
to avoid wastage. The Council surveyed 171 organisations that offered such
services and found that the clothing must meet certain criteria to be eligible for
donation. A minimum donation quantity also applied for clothes to be collected
door-to-door:

In the survey, the 6 non-profit organisations (NPOs) would generally accept
clothes, handbags and backpacks. As for the 5 clothing chains, only 2 would
accept recycled clothing or sportswear from any brand, another only accepted
products of its own brand, while the other 2 only accepted clothing of their
own and associated brands. 3 NPOs also indicated that donated items should
be at least 80% new, 5 (3 NPOs and 2 clothing chains) required clothing to be
free from tears or stains, while 4 (1 NPO and 3 clothing chains) had no specific

requirements on the condition of the clothing,

Unlike clothing chains, the vast majority of NPOs surveyed offered doorto-door
collection services for used clothes. 4 of them required a minimum donation
of 3 bags and up to over 10 bags of clothing to be eligible for free pick-up
service, otherwise a fee of $200 would be charged by one of the organisations.
Ancther organisation required a collection fee of $500 per box of clothing and
a minimum of 3 boxes to be collected at each visit, i.e. a minimum spending of
$1,500.

Clothing recycling services can help to extend the lifespan of clothes and
promote environmental protection. A more direct and effective way to
achieve sustainable consumption, however, is to reduce waste at its source by
shopping rationally. Refraining from purchasing large quantities of “fast fashion”
garments that are affordable yet less durable is also conducive to protecting our

environment.
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Submission to the Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department

Views on the Revision of the Code of Practice on Energy
Labelling of Products for the Fourth Phase of the Mandatory
Energy Efficiency Labelling Scheme (MEELS)

Responding to the consultation, the Council supported the EMSD'’s revision of
the Code of Practice on Energy Labelling of Products (CoP) for the inclusion of
3 additional product types, namely light emitting ;
diode (LED) lamps, gas cookers and gas
instantaneous water heaters, into the fourth
phase of the MEELS.

It is considered that expanding the coverage
of the MEELS to a wider range of products
will enable consumers to make energy-
efficient choices. Furthermore, the mandatory
scheme in turn will encourage product suppliers
to design and supply better products for local consumers, and help
to promote the concept of sustainable consumption in the long run.

The Council suggested that more stringent grading
thresholds be adopted whenever feasible so as

to provide meaningful differentiation between
products with different levels of energy efficiency
performance. With regard to the revision of

the CoP, the Council suggested that the test
requirements should be clearly specified to avoid

any confusion. Lastly, more product information

should also be displayed on the energy labels and

on EMSD’s webpage for public reference.

Public Education on Sustainable Consumption

One of the Council's foci is to foster the understanding and culture of
sustainable consumption through an extensive breadth of public education.
Apart from the theme of sustainable consumption in the “Earth 2038's
Learning Journey of Sustainable Consumption” for primary school students,
and the thematic award “Innovative Design for Sustainable Consumption”
in the Consumer Culture Study Award for secondary school students, the
concept was incorporated into consumer education programmes of the
Council, including advanced training of the “Educator Scheme for Senior
Citizens”. Community talks covering sustainable consumption-related topics
were also conducted to educate a wide spectrum of audience to reduce

wastage and practise sustainable consumption in everyday life.

Details of the programmes and award are covered in the chapter “Empowering
Consumers Through Education” (p.100).

. Promoting Sustainable Consumption HEE A HEHE

FHEEIREERZNE

FASEH M RE R SRR AT B SE OB FR (&
REEFIERER TR BMETRRE
AREMEETREEBNER  FREEF (B
mEERIREE TR (EETR) - K 3 8%
HER EL_@E (LED) & REERIE
KREVANREEFKE - MARBIMERERR SR
AT BIE MR -

RERR > HRHMERMSRETERE
HEER LRERLEEZNER  BIH
BEERZIEHBERBAMNER ° L5
BREIMEEIREMS

B R G
B R
e
B A

— = HEERE
S EEE
= . RISt

548 B 00

o

EAITHEBE R
T AEEZR
REBRENTRIEE - LEERERIEER
BEEERB A FNER - RBEHTRIMEET
$@LD§FE/$’”‘§'J BRI ZER » DIRERR
o % RRRIRBELAREENHEERTE
%Euuﬁumﬁ/\m*%

UHEHBNARYE
AENEST —EBRINAREE Bk
ARHTHENEORB RIS - BT
syl TN T, AL 12038
HLERA Bl AR BIRAE | 0 LIRS A
TS B E RS | (REE) () T AR
HEAIERE ) TEEN TR,
SEMASABNFASEERETET &
i RN RE AR ROEREY - &
GMERT TAFENE  FELEBE - L
FEADAORERNA AR AEERIIRS -

RER T UHEEBRIDEEE B RRELD

(100 5) — M BB AR THEE,
PO -

HEBEEEZB® 2022-23 3% 67




Supermarket Price
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COLLECTING MARKET INFORMATION
ON GOODS AND SERVICES
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Market surveillance continues to be one of the most important activities
of the Council's work. This involves collecting timely information on the
ever-growing range of goods and services available in both the physical
and e-marketplaces, and analysing the data to help consumers shop wisely
with clear pricing and value comparisons. The survey results also serve
to advocate for the right measures either at industry or regulatory level
to better safeguard consumer interests. In the year prices of groceries
and daily necessities were monitored on a continuous basis, while other
widely used products and services or those with rising trends were the
subjects of periodic special surveys. These surveys are aimed at providing
clear and transparent information to the public, a key enabler to consumer
empowerment.

MZHE-ERAEMERTF BMEBENETHHEHHTEBEE
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Market Surveillance

Given the rise of e-commerce, the Council continued to expand its market
surveillance® efforts in the year under review. Apart from the longitudinal studies
on the price movements in the grocery and textbook markets, a wide range
of studies catering to the needs and preferences of consumers of different age
groups and generations was conducted during the year, including new trends
such as bouldering gyms, dating apps and clear aligner services. Meanwhile,
surveys on credit card cash rebate, pet insurance plans and the newly emerged
“Buy Now, Pay Later” business model were conducted to strengthen financial

consumer protection amid a changing consumption landscape.

5. See Appendix 3 for the list of survey and service study reports published in 2022-23.
My =s¥5IR 2022-23 FEBFRMNAERRBAITRE
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Daily Necessities
Annual Supermarket Price Survey

Although the pandemic had slightly eased in 2021, the Council’'s annual
supermarket price survey 20271 announced in the year under review revealed
that the aggregate average price (in short, “price”) of a basket of 230
supermarket items, derived from the scan data of the 3 major supermarket
chains, showed merely a slight 1.9% drop compared with that of 2020. Despite
the subsequent price dip for various groceries, the percentage decrease could
not offset the increase in the previous year.

In addition to the annual supermarket price survey, the Council analysed the
price data of 90 grocery items under 171 product groups from 3 local online
supermarkets from January to March 2022 to investigate the latest supermarket
price trends during the fifth wave of the COVID-19 outbreak. The survey found
the price of 63 items available at all 3 supermarkets to have risen 4.2% in March
compared with January, while that for the 27 items only sold at 2 supermarkets
recorded an 8.3% increase. An increase ranging from 0.2% to 24.8% was found
for the price of all 11 product groups, while the 3 groups with the steepest price
rise, namely prepackaged cakes, rice and eggs, increased by 8.2% to 24.8%.

With the economy and the public’s livelihood battered by the pandemic,
consumers are faced with increased financial burden. The Council urged traders
to shoulder their social responsibility and tide over the tough times with
consumers, by stablising the price of food and daily necessities to their best effort.
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Online Price Watch
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Online Price Watch
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Daily prices of over 2,700 products from online food 14,611 ;?g;ﬁ eEREPLLERE - BHXE
stores, supermarkets and personal care stores were AERAREWRESS 270048
collected and listed on the Council's "Online Price MmN ER - B 2023 £ 1 A HTIE
Watch” (OPW) website. In January 2023, an additional 8,364 =i @ — LB ERESERELR

online supermarket was added, bringing the database
up to a total of 8 online food stores / supermarkets
/ health and beauty stores, including Wellcome,
PARKNSHORP, Market Place by Jasons, Watsons, Mannings, AEON, DCH Food
Mart and Ztore. Features of the website include “Top Price Differences”,
“Highlight Products”, “Price Drop Products” and “My Favourite”, etc. Consumers
can make price comparisons for food and everyday necessities online from the
comfort of home.

Pain and Fever Relief Medicine Containing Paracetamol

As market demand for pain and fever relief medicine surged in late December
2022 due to the fluctuating pandemic situation, some of the more popular
brands of such medication were found to be out of stock and with raised

prices. Across 3 weeks from late December 2022 to mid-
S
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January 2023, Council staff paid over 140 visits to pharmacies, A0 anszas 1TAHREMNIEEEN
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supermarkets and health and beauty stores in various districts -- & [ - — AN AEBEIGHRE
-

across Hong Kong to survey the sales situation of analgesics

and antipyretics containing paracetamol. i

To allow consumers to ascertain the Hong

Kong registration status of pain and fever relief
medicine containing paracetamol, the Council
collaborated with the Department of Health, with
the support of the Hong Kong Association of the
Pharmaceutical Industry, to launch a “Search Tool

for Registered Over-the-counter Pharmaceutical

Products Containing Paracetamol”® (in short, "Paracetamol Search Tool”) in
January 2023 which covers over 600 related products.

At the same time, the "“Search Tool for Rapid Antigen Test (RAT) Kits Approved
for Use by Various Regions”" (in short, “RAT Search Tool”) launched by the
Council in March 2022 continued to serve as a reliable database to help
consumers verify and select suitable RAT kits.
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6. SearchTool for Registered Overthe counter Pharmaceutical Products Containing Paracetamol” — https://www.consumer.org.hk/en/paracetamol_search

. Search Tool for Rapid Ant|gen Test (RAT) Kits Approved for Use byVamous Reg\ons — https: //Wwwconsumerorg.hk/en/rapid_anti en_test_search
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Textbook Price and Expenditure Surveys

According to the Council's survey published in July 2022 on 815 commonly
used textbooks from 24 publishers, the prices of over 90% of the 2022/23
school year textbooks had climbed by $1 to $15 (1.2% to 8.3%), resulting in an
overall average increase of 2.9% year-on-year (YoY), which was higher than the
1.7% inflation rate in the same period. Textbooks that were on the Education
Bureau's “Recommended Textbook List” (RTL) had a milder increase in price
(2.8%) than those not on the RTL (3.3%).

Students’ expenditure was directly driven up by the price increase of the
majority of textbooks. The Council collected textbook lists of the 2022/23
school year from 50 primary and 48 secondary schools and found that primary
and secondary school students spent an average of HK$3,177 and HK$2,944
respectively for mandatory textbooks and learning materials, showing a YoY
increase of 5.7% and 2.9% respectively, both significantly higher than the 1.7%
inflation rate in the same period. The survey showed that the expenditure
was subject to many key factors such as the choice of titles, the number of
supplementary exercises, as well as discounts from publishers.

In addition, the Council found that over 80% of primary schools and over 70%
of secondary schools included at least 1 electronic textbook in their book
lists. Most schools had opted for textbook sets which include both electronic
textbooks and physical textbooks, instead of fully switching to electronic
textbooks, which in turn increased the textbook expenditure substantially.
The Council recommended schools to consider providing their own learning

materials to students for free as far as possible or subsidising the printing costs
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Trending Services and Activities

Bouldering Gyms

Bouldering is getting more popular in Hong Kong, particularly after its Olympic
debut at the Tokyo 2020 Olympic Games. Council staff surveyed 10 bouldering
gyms as mystery customers to observe how they accommodate novices in
arrangement, instruction and safety measures.

All gyms required consumers to fill in a “waiver of rights” or “disclaimer”,
which sought to exempt the establishment and its staff from accountability for
any accidents arising. The Council found that most clauses had cumbersome
wordings that might be too difficult for consumers to fully comprehend, whereas
the scope of exemptions was too broad. Furthermore, 70% of the gyms only
provided disclaimers in English. Even when a bilingual disclaimer was provided
upon request in 1 gym, it was much simpler (2 clauses) than the English version
(15 clauses), which could cause consumers to miss out on important clauses.
1 gym never stated that the back page of a personal particulars form was in
fact a disclaimer; nor did they make sure that the Council's triallist had read the
terms, thus the disclaimer might not constitute part of a contract and be binding
on the consumer. The Council called on these premises to provide clearer
and more comprehensible disclaimers, and to take the initiative to explain the
content to customers, whereas consumers were advised to protect their own

rights by scrutinising and understanding the details before signing.

All 10 venues offered beginner’s classes, with costs ranging from $228 to $458.
However, 6 venues allowed triallists to use the gym on their own simply after
a briefing on basic techniques and a demonstration of safe falling. The Council
recommended premises to arrange regular patrolling by staff to check on
participants, whereas first-timers should take a beginner's class to build up their
skills under an instructor’s guidance to prevent injuries to themselves and others.
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Clear Aligner Treatments

Compared with traditional orthodontic treatments, long been perceived as
expensive, painful and aesthetically unappealing, the recently trending clear aligner
treatments boast selling points such as easy cleaning, a discreet appearance and

relatively low cost, attracting many consumers to give it a try.

The Council's survey on 6 clear aligner companies revealed that only 4 provided
dental check-ups and treatment follow-ups by a registered dentist in Hong
Kong, of which 1 required customer to visit only their partnered dentists and
provided only 3 to 4 treatment follow-ups. 1 only provided pre-treatment dental
scans with no dental check-ups, claiming the treatment would be supported by
an “orthodontist” and monitored remotely by examining customers’ photos
through an app. Another required full payment before arranging a dental check-
up while no dentist follow-up would be provided during treatment. The service
charges of these semi-/full self-service clear alignment treatments could cost as
low as $15,000 to $19,000, whereas the dentist-led treatments with regular
follow-ups generally cost $24,000 to $50,000.

According to dental experts, omission of an X-ray prior to orthodontics may
result in complications such as gum and bone recession due to incorrect teeth
movement. If the treatment relies solely on photos or even self-monitoring by
consumers, dental complications such as bad bites, tooth necrosis or periodontal
problems may have deteriorated to a serious level before detection.

The Council recommends the Government to pay closer attention to the risks
posed to consumers in orthodontic services that operate in this manner and not
followed up by registered dentists in Hong Kong. On the other hand, consumers
are reminded not to accept treatment without dental check-ups or follow-up by
registered dentists simply because of the lower price or convenience.
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4 Types of Clear Aligner Treatment Models
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- I 1. Dentist-led with follow-up

.\ 2. Specified dentists and number of dental consultations
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3. Semi-self-service without follow-up by dentists

L +a8x C2HEFTERE)

4. Fully self-serviced remote treatment
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Dating Apps

Advancements in the internet and smart devices have unlocked new
opportunities. For instance, dating apps have allowed modern consumers to
expand their social circle without leaving the comfort of home. According to the
Council's survey of 9 dating apps that were relatively popular among Hong Kong
consumers, the use of personal data, the underlying price discrimination, and the
exorbitant cost of virtual items were among the concerns arising from the use of
these apps.

Of the 9 dating apps reviewed, all of them defaulted using account owners'
personal data for marketing or advertising purposes. Altthough 8 had stipulated
such use in their Privacy Policies, only 3 allowed users to opt out of the said
arrangement. In the event of prolonged inactivity of user accounts, 6 apps might
automatically deactivate or delete these users’ profiles, while 3 apps did not

specify the retention period of users’ personal data.

In terms of pricing, 2 apps were found to be potentially using users' age and
other factors to vary the price of the same subscription plans by up to 42%,
and 1 app might offer different subscription options depending on users’
gender. As for virtual items, which are of single use, normally non-refundable
and do not come with any refund policies, they could cost up to over
$250,000 in 1 of the apps.

Consumers were reminded to study the Terms and Conditions and Privacy
Policies carefully before using dating apps and that purchasing subscription plans
or virtual items might not guarantee more or better matches, as well as to remain
vigilant about online dating and against the romance scams associated with
these dating services. Furthermore, since Al could bring potential risks and unfair
treatment to consumers when used inappropriately, traders were also encouraged
to adopt ethical business practices when deploying such technologies.

Personal Data Items Required for Account Registration
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Out of the 9 dating apps---
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OCT

Financial Products and Services
Buy Now, Pay Later

In recent years, various banks and individual platforms have launched “Buy Now,
Pay Later” (BNPL), an emerging financial product that claims to offer interest-free
payment by instalments, enticing consumers to “enjoy first, pay later”. Generally,
BNPL platforms do not require a proof of income or credit reference check,

hence appeal to consumers without a fixed income to apply for the products.

The Council's review of the product contents and terms and conditions of
BNPL platforms on the market found that consumers could be required to
bear various charges in the event of overdue payment, and the account could
even be suspended or terminated by the platform without notice. Furthermore,
a number of issues were found, such as lack of transparency for product
terms, unclear liability between the platform and trader, disparate chargeback
mechanisms, insufficient customer service and support provided by the relevant
platforms, etc., casting much doubt on the protection of consumer rights.

The Council reminded the general public that BNPL is in reality advance spending.
Consumers should carefully examine the terms and charges involved before
applying for the credit product, and should not overestimate their own repayment
ability which could result in overspending. Concerned about regulatory issues for
BNPL instalment payment products that are not provided by banks, the Council
urges non-bank BNPL providers to apply to the Companies Registry for a money
lenders licence as appropriate, and adopt good practices with reference to the
guidelines issued by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority to banks on BNPL.
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Credit Card Cash Rebate

The Council surveyed credit card spending cash rebate schemes offered by
21 card issuers, including both regular schemes and time-limited schemes.
Details among various spending cash rebate schemes were found to vary
drastically, whereas the cash rebate rate could vary by over 26 times.
Consumers were reminded that not all transactions are qualified for the
“eligible spending” requirements. Out of the 20 card issuers that responded,
most defined cash advance, credit card annual fees or financial charges,

purchase of casino tokens, and tax payments as non-eligible spending.

Although redemption rates of the time-limited schemes are generally better
value for money than regular schemes, consumers were advised to bear in mind
that time-limited schemes usually come with more conditions. For example, most
would set an upper limit for cash rebate, as well as minimum spend requirements
for single or accumulated transactions. Therefore, even when using the same
credit card and enrolling in the same reward scheme, the actual cash rebate
amount received by different consumers could vary according to their different
consumption modes and habits.

A number of card issuers would collaborate with designated traders to offer
special spending rewards, yet the list of designated traders might be revised from
time to time without notifying cardholders. Consumers are recommended to
check the list regularly, so as to avoid the disappointment of spending at traders
that had been removed from the list and not being able to receive any rewards.

The Council reminds consumers to manage their finances prudently and refrain
from applying for too many credit cards or overspending simply because of the
attractive spending rewards. When selecting a credit card or spending reward
scheme, apart from considering the spending rewards or cash rebate, consumers
should also consider their personal consumption mode, key terms of the
credit card contract, conditions and restrictions on spending rewards, as well as

assessing their own financial situation and ability to repay.
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Pet Insurance

In view that there are over 400,000 dogs and cats in Hong Kong, the Council
reviewed 23 pet insurance plans from 7 insurers and found that in general, only
dogs and cats could be insured, with a maximum enrolment age of 8.The survey
also found that if consumers were to consider the premium alone, variations
in coverage, definitions, and compensation terms could lead to considerable
differences in actual payout. Even for a pet of the same breed and age, premiums
could vary by over $12,000 among different insurers. It is, therefore, better for
pet owners to assess the actual needs and compare different plans thoroughly
before deciding whether to purchase insurance for their pets and choosing the

most suitable plan.

As the definitions and scope of coverage may vary among insurers, consumers
were advised to understand the terms before taking out insurance. For
example, most of the surveyed plans covered the cost of hospitalisation of
no fewer than 12 consecutive hours, but some only covered the cost of
“overnight” hospitalisation. 20 of the surveyed plans covered third party
liability while 7 plans provided overseas coverage. If pet owners prefer taking
their pets on overseas vacations, or if their pets enjoy interacting with others,

it is important to check whether the policy includes relevant coverage.

Consumers were advised to understand exclusions of plans, such as pre-existing
conditions and treatment of congenital conditions. Even if a plan claims to offer
“guaranteed renewal”, or have “no age limit at policy renewal”, it does not
mean that the coverage will remain unchanged upon renewal as the insurance
company might revise or amend policy content and premium. Moreover,
consumers should recognise that “medical coverage” does not mean that the

insurance company will cover all medical-related expenses.
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Things to Consider Before Taking Out Pet Insurance
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Best enrolment time, as a pet’s age has significant impact
on the eligibility, premium and renewal 3
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Deductibles and how they are calculated
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Benefit limit (sub-limits vs. total annual maximum payout)
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Scope of coverage and definition of items
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Major exclusions
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ADVOCATING A FAIR MARKETPLACE AND
LEGAL PROTECTION FOR CONSUMERS

EBRAFEmBNEBENLRER

The Council is a leading advocate for a safe, fair and sustainable
marketplace that aims to benefit both consumers and traders. To
accomplish this important role, the Council regularly conducts in-
depth studies on topical consumer issues, and proactively submits
its views and recommendations in response to Government and
industry consultations to advocate fair competition, good trade
practices and a robust legal framework to protect consumer
rights. Decades of efforts have resulted in the establishment of
industry codes of practice, amendments to current laws, and the
introduction of new legislation to strengthen consumer protection.
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E-commerce and Cybersecurity EFRBREELE

Ethical Artificial Intelligence in E-commerce REBBEHTSERIATERE
Recognising artificial intelligence (Al) adoption as a global irreversible trend RERATEENEREEZIAR KA
and the imbalanced relationship between consumers and traders in terms of HEENES  BRAERRERRERERDNE
bargaining power and information possession, the Council published its first-ever MEEREMENANFSAUE - AR 2022
study on the use of Al in e-commerce in Hong Kong, titled “Fostering Consumer FIORBMTEBEARALERERSETH
Trust — Ethical Artificial Intelligence in E-commerce” in September 2022, BROBANMARS - Bk ERRELH

B RESTEBALERERRE) -

Visit https://www.consumer.org.hk/en/advocacy/study-report/ai_in_
ecommerce or scan the QR code to read the full report of “Fostering
Consumer Trust — Ethical Artificial Intelligence in E-commerce”

5 8 B https://www.consumer.org.hk/tc/advocacy/study-report/ai_in_
ecommerce ST HIHEE CERAGOLHR RESTEHBAL
BHERR) ®EE2X-

78  Consumer Council 2022-23 Annual Report


https://www.consumer.org.hk/en/advocacy/study-report/ai_in_ecommerce
https://www.consumer.org.hk/en/advocacy/study-report/ai_in_ecommerce
https://www.consumer.org.hk/tc/advocacy/study-report/ai_in_ecommerce
https://www.consumer.org.hk/tc/advocacy/study-report/ai_in_ecommerce

‘ Advocating a Fair Marketplace and Legal Protection for Consumers {232 FinfEBELERER

6 recommendations were put forward to advocate the collective development of responsible and ethical
Al by all stakeholders:
AERET T 6 HER  LESRSHNELFARRAEARGTSEBNIAIERE

Consumers HEE

Government AT

Traders M

* Follow the tips to be a smart
consumer when shopping online

] Nurture Al understanding of the
o BEAHERSEE  ERREE public and traders
BREARRBREATEEN
A

Establish a holistic policy for Al
development

+ HEATERERENBEBR
* Build a fair and competitive
e-commerce market

B —EAFMERFNINE
[GheE

* Adopt the checklist of best
practices to formulate company Al
policy and governance

s RATEREERFEURNEA
A ALEREBURMERER

* Establish a “Consumer Charter”
to enhance consumer confidence

 ERBETU THEENE o
BIEEEED

The recommendations served to address the key areas of concern which were identified in the study®:

EEEESEEHAMEERAEME T ERMER

* Alis a double-edged sword with pros and cons — * Privacy policies of online stores show much room for

consumer confidence could be enhanced through improvement
effective risk mitigation + HELRBORE B REZEE

« ATEERNLTDREANEE - ZEEERR AR
IDHEERED

* Industry practitioners anticipate more support for
tackling challenges in talents, funding and data

- ERBERIFLR  LEBE AL - ESNE
BRIPE

* Consumers are keen on shopping online but are
unfamiliar with Al; they anticipate the rights to know
and to choose

« HEERRBREEHATLERRNER  LHER
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* Industry practitioners and stakeholders hope that

the Government could reference the experience of
« Accuracy and stability are key for enhancing other jurisdictions to expedite a local Al governance
framework

+ XARFHEPRERREZEHMRIEEERK
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consumers’ satisfaction of Al tools
. EEENEEUHRREAHEEHATLTEILAERS
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8. The Council researched into the adoption of Al in business-to-consumer (B2C) e-commerce with a mixed-method approach, comprising a quantitative online
consumer survey; a review of popular e-commerce platforms (including Al applications and public information on websites) among local consumers; in-depth interviews
with 19 major e-commerce traders, technology providers and industry experts in Hong Kong; desk research on related policy guidelines and initiatives in 10 selected
jurisdictions; and a review of consumer complaint cases.
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Consumers’ Perception on Al

HEBEHAIEERNEE

No/Little Knowledge %% / 4352 Quite/ Very Familiar F&% / JEE#HB
Familiarity with Al
757 A THERNERE 24%

Disagree / Strongly Disagree ARZE /IEETEE Agree/Strongly Agree [ /IEEREE
39% SHETATHEE 31%

| prefer Al to direct human contact
65% BREFRATEESHARARS 21%

Willing to shop at online stores that adopt Al
367 HE R A TR RS 33%

Al helps reduce my time spent on choosing products
25% JETS e e 57%

Al addresses my needs accurately
36% ATHEERBEBENBR N7%

Al will become more popular in Hong Kong in the next 5 years
13% ERE b A THETHEBHUAHYR 787

The adoption of Al is well regulated in Hong Kong currently
43% EHRRE A TEENERERENAE 34%

Note: The data above does not necessarily add up to 100% as other options like “No opinion” and “Don't know" are not included.

i AAEEmEEARE (N DRERR ., M TAHE) NETE U ELSREIRMIETIARSN 100%-

Insufficient fundin Blurred responsibility between
u Fﬁlﬁﬁié ng traders and technology providers
8 R Bk il 4t B 7 2 PRI B A AR A

Al adoption in e-commerce
in Hong Kong is still at an
early development stage

HAEEEHIA TEEEEHMTE Lack of high-quality data
B REE RZSERNBIE
Traders’ Views -
Talent scarcity on Al
o Not yet established
AT RER ﬁ Zﬁﬂg‘ﬁﬁ a company Al policy
- ATEENE RHA TR R ARIBIR

Some perceived data

policies as Al policies Not yet fully knowledgeable

Er about Al
ﬁﬁﬁfﬁggﬁgﬂ% AT HRENFRENATE
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After publication of the report, the Council met with different stakeholders to
follow up on the issues identified and the recommendations proposed in the
report, such as the potentially problematic data collection practices, the feasibility
of establishing the “Consumer Charter”, etc. An extensive publicity campaign
was also rolled out, covering TV, radio and print media interviews, as well as a
hybrid webinar event co-organised with the South China Morning Post, bringing
together Hong Kong-based e-commerce leaders, e-tailers and techpreneurs to

facilitate ongoing and more widespread discussion on the topic.

Image credit: South China Morning Post
RIS - FERR

The Council hopes the release of the report could raise awareness of Al among
the public and other related stakeholders. Believing that Al will evolve rapidly
in Hong Kong, the Council will continue to advocate responsible and ethical

development of Al to safeguard consumer rights.

Submission to the Law Reform Commission (LRC) —
Consultation Paper on Cyber-dependent Crimes and
Jurisdictional Issues

In July 2022, the LRC issued a consultation paper on Cyber-dependent
Crimes and Jurisdictional Issues. It recommended that a new piece of bespoke
legislation on cybercrime should be enacted to cover the five types of offences
proposed, namely, illegal access to program or data, illegal interception of
computer data, illegal interference of computer data, illegal interference of
computer system, and making available or possessing a device or data for

committing a crime.

In principle, the Council welcomed and supported the proposal to reform the
cybercrime law to catch up with technological advances for the betterment of
consumer protection. In particular; the Council considers that there is a need
to outlaw mere unauthorised access to program or data, subject to legitimate
exemptions such as white hat hacking by accredited cybersecurity professionals
to detect loopholes, threats and vulnerabilities for enhancing cybersecurity and
facilitating safer and fairer online consumer experiences.
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The Council raised concerns of excessive data collection by businesses through
provision of Wi-Fi hotspots to consumers. It was of the view that interception
of consumer data by businesses should not be permitted unless there is prior
authorisation from the consumer. On the other hand, the Council considers that
automated collection of publicly accessible information on the Internet through
web scraping and web crawling should be acceptable in order not to inhibit
research and studies required for improving market transparency, empowering
consumers to make informed consumption choices and advancing consumer

protection.

As regards the proposed offence of knowingly making available or possessing
a device or data for committing a crime, the Council had reservations over
the proposed disregard of subjective intent and other legitimate use. With the
proposed offence being so wide in scope, consumers could be discouraged
from trying new innovations out of fear of inadvertent contravention of the law.
Lastly, the Council agreed that in order to safeguard consumers in cross-border
transactions, Hong Kong courts should have jurisdiction when any essential

element of the offence occurred in Hong Kong.

Financial and Insurance Services
e-HKD

In its submission, the Council welcomed the Hong Kong Monetary Authority
(HKMA) to invest efforts in researching the possibility of introducing the
retail central bank digital currency (rCBDC), i.e. e-HKD in Hong Kong. While
considering e-HKD to be a much more secure option than stablecoins from
a consumer protection perspective, the Council recommended the HKMA to
conduct appropriate consumer study to understand how consumers perceive
the use of e-HKD. This could help the HKMA assess consumers’ acceptance of
e-HKD, alongside meeting the challenges of new forms of money and countering

money laundering.

Enhancing ease of payment is vital for consumers to adopt rCBDC, for example,
enabling real-time interoperability, supporting offline payment, and ensuring
rCBDC could be used as handily as cash.

With a view to encouraging financial inclusion, the Council opined that rCBDC
should coexist with other means of payment in the future. Non-digital payment
tools should not be undermined before vulnerable consumers are capable of
catching up with the use of digital payment methods. At the same time, education
to nurture understanding of rCBDC and alert consumers to potential rCBDC-

related scams is necessary.

Virtual

RNETEEIAFZBREEERM WA Z2E
BERDMANER - FERBRIFESEE
ENEEKE BPASRICHEENEHE -

F—H NGB REEERERTFHEME
B C e E XA BT D HAHR - B BB EAR
BRI DeBEBRBERETEERE
EHEEFRABIEEERE  DIRINEH
BERBERAEEME

B AR ERZFIT UNERRENERR
TEIRSEMEBRM N BURTBIER - Zﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬁ
RARREE AN EBR BB LR HBIRES
FRMBZRBEWHBRE - BFRTHIE
BtER - EXHEERURRERELAK
ETRZEMARES TN - &IE
R T RAREERXZTHHES - A2RE
ERTHEA—ELETRNEBRARE
EREGEEHE R EEEE -

ERR REEARTS

HisET

AEHAEECHEER (2E8R) RRES
BIATERERITEBE (B " 858
TC.) RYRATIE - eREH B BERIA R » B
BETERLBERERSE  AEZSERY
FETHBAVHBEEM R TRHEEEHRA
BEBETNEL - ASHEHRKENEER
EAMMTEHEEH BB ETNEIRE
PAR FES A S RIS B AN T B R EDEE

BRSIBLHBEERAEGET  BAXNE

MUEREBER - fIN: IBREEREETE
KE NIRRT YRS ETA L

BRE—HKITEWER -

REBERESE  AESRBBIBETERKE
SHEMENAT AR THESDEREEE
REBTFXMNANE FEEREEELFET
XA TEBEE - HtFRE - SERTFIMNRHE
BEEHEBETNRSE  ULHBEEERD
SIS TTARBR R EIEIREEEED ©

Crowdfundmg

. o

Assets

L

82 Consumer Council 2022-23 Annual Report




. Advocating a Fair Marketplace and Legal Protection for Consumers {22 FinfEBELERER

Virtual Asset (VA) Trading Platform Operators

Under a new licensing regime which took effect on 1 June 2023, all centralised
VA trading platforms carrying on business in Hong Kong or actively marketing
to Hong Kong investors will need to be licensed by the Securities and Futures
Commission (SFC). The Council considered that Hong Kong, being one of the
first jurisdictions to regulate VA trading platform operators, must adopt proactive
policies to protect investors of VAs. The Council opined that if the licensed VA
platform operators were allowed to provide their services to retail investors,
they should be subject to robust investor protection measures, including

suggestions listed below:

* Mandating a comprehensive and stringent knowledge test to assess whether
individual retail investors possess the required knowledge for investing in VAs;

» Educating retail investors about the highly volatile nature of VA-related
investments and the associated high risk of loss;

* Requiring VA trading platforms to submit risk assessment reports or volatility
reports regularly and when significant changes are observed in their financial
condition to provide timely alerts;

e Imposing requirement on VA trading platforms to remind investors regularly
to transfer their VAs to cold wallets for better security and prevention of
online threats;

* Requiring VA trading platforms to submit their advertisements to the SFC
for authorisation prior to their launch in Hong Kong; demanding VA platform
operators to display licence numbers and the issuing authority in their
advertisements;

* Disclosing more details about the compensation arrangement; if third party
insurance is adopted, the SFC should ensure there is adequate background
assessment to ensure the insurance company has the financial strength to
provide an appropriate level of protection to investors; and

* Allowing VA trading platforms to offer trading of VA derivatives only to
institutional investors.

Looking to the future, given the rapid development of VAs across the globe, the
Council considers that the regulatory regime should be reviewed and updated

regularly to reflect latest changes.

rCBDC

=0

—— EEE T

—

 BFLH

Digital Payment

EREEXSFEEE

RIEF 2023 £ 6 B 1 BAMNIINBILHE » A
BHEEBKEXBRATBREERDERELE
BHNEREERZTE  BFEEFINESRH
ERRES (BES) B - 225 BBF
REP—ERREEEHEERZTEEEEN
AEEER - WARRIIERBERREEREEN
KREE - ERENEREERS TEEEERE
ERTEREERMIRE  AERRVASIAR
BRI EERERE - BREUTRRZ

s AHTEREEFTHBRMEMERAIABEE
a0 LEHMEt RS A RREEHREEMS
HORNH: ;

- BETEREE  BHAXBRREERE
ENRERETE RAERENEERE

© BEREREERZFAEEHRREEMBERR
BAEBARBE  BXERMERERE
MRS UELFAREERHERES

c ERERBERZ VAT REREECHH
HEREEERIIAED (BHRER) LUR
BREMNIANE ERREE

c BEREREEXZFAEDBHELESHT
BREESNHT  LREHEBESTRRE
BRSRAS M BRI

c REEZENBERFNNEG - EX2TE
RRTYE=ERRE BEEFLHRRARE
TRANERIHE  LIERAR BB
RFEERFEERE S &

- ARFEHEERZ TER#ERESRM
EREENMETENRZRE -

BNREHEEFEI2HRRRR  AETRE
ERERNEMHEEEHE - DURBRITED
BRI -

‘,.e—.-

III £
Cybersecuril'y

HEEZSS® 2022-23 3% 83




Submission to the Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau
(FSTB) — Public Consultation on Regulation of Crowdfunding
Activities

In December 2022, the FSTB issued a consultation paper on regulation
of crowdfunding activities. The paper set out various recommendations on
enhancing the transparency and accountability of crowdfunding activities, which
include requiring all crowdfunding activities targeting persons, entities and/
or funds in Hong Kong to have obtained prior permission to do so. It was
recommended that a Crowdfunding Affairs Office (CAO) be set up to centrally
process all regulatory and administrative matters related to crowdfunding

activities and maintain a publicly accessible database on such activities.

The Council's submissions focused on consumer-based reward/pre-sale
crowdfunding, where fund contributors would financially back fundraisers in the
development or production of specific physical goods or services in return for

such goods or services.

The Council noted that a substantial number of crowdfunding projects
are rolled out each year and expressed concern that over-regulation may
disincentivise fundraisers or platforms from raising funds from Hong Kong on
genuine, worthy or large-scaled innovation and technological projects, thus
limiting consumer choice and potentially hindering the city's development as an
incubator of innovation. Subject to such concerns, the Council suggested that a

comprehensive regulatory regime should take into account the following matters:

i. Information transparency — An applicant seeking permission to carry
out a crowdfunding activity should provide the fundraisers’ proposed
advertising material containing product/services specifications, project
timeline, budgetary plan, milestone dates, project risks and possible ensuing
consequences including delays. Disclosures to the CAO should be audited

and be made publicly available, with proper record-keeping;

ii. Control over use of funds — Consideration should be given to whether
funds collected in Hong Kong should be placed in local escrow account and
managed by an escrow agent, and to impose proven technology and security
standards/measures for prevention of malicious hacking, data breaches and

unauthorised fund transfers;

i. The role of crowdfunding platforms — A scheme should be considered
under which accredited crowdfunding platforms shall approve and monitor
crowdfunding activities for compliance with Hong Kong's regulatory
requirements and periodically report (as well as reporting irregularities) to
the CAQO. Fundraisers seeking to raise funds from Hong Kong should do so

through accredited platforms for ease of law enforcement;

iv. Data protection measures — Data protection guidelines should provide
for mandatory terms of personal information collection statements to
adequately inform consumers. Mandatory encryption or comparable security
measures should be required of fundraisers, crowdfunding platforms and
other stakeholders to prevent improper disclosure and misuse. CAO should
also consider deploying state-of-the art technology in its approval, monitoring

and database protection processes;
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v. Unlawful crowdfunding activities — The legal requirements for
criminalisation of fund contributors and the statutory defences available to

them should be stated clearly;

vi. Consumer redress — The Council welcomed the enforcement powers
to deal with crimes proposed, in particular the power to recover property
as consumers may lack resources or avenues to do so themselves. The
regulator should also be able to apply for restitutionary orders and orders for
disgorgement of profits against a fundraiser on behalf of aggrieved consumers.
As online crowdfunding arrangements are distance contracts, a mandatory
cooling-off period (say 7 or 14 days) may be set to safeguard consumer

interests; and

Vi,

Consumer education — Sufficient consumer education needs to be arranged
by the CAO both on the regime and on crowdfunding risks and benefits
generally, with the use of information and Al technology in providing information
on fundraisers’ creditworthiness and risk level of various types of projects. In the
long run, the CAO may also consider establishing an electronic platform that

provides an easily accessible channel for consumers to look up their portfolio.

Code of Banking Practice Phase 2 Review

The Hong Kong Association of Banks and the DTC Association conducted a
phase 2 review of the Code of Banking Practice (“Code”) in December 2022.
The Council welcomed the proposed enhancements to customer experience
and protection, and expressed views to further improve the positions of banking
customers in dealing with banks.

The Council suggested that the Code should enhance financial consumer
protection through adopting certain high-level principles including the promotion
of financial inclusion of ethnic minorities and customers with impairment,
developing resilience against extreme weather events and prescribing principles
on the use of automated decision-making systems. Authorised institutions should
ensure visibility of key information for loan products and responsible borrowing
reminders on online platforms and take practical steps to meet the needs of
customers for paper based information under special circumstances. In view of
a sizable number of relevant complaints received in 2022, the Council opined
that banks and card issuers should exercise supervision and ensure the quality of

service provided by third party service providers.

To support distressed cardholders and assist victims of fraudulent card
transactions, card issuers should provide details on the follow-up process to
cardholders who report suspicious transactions. The assessment of the financial
health of sureties should be undertaken before loans are approved, and the
Code should provide guidance on the marketing and handling of “Buy Now, Pay

Later” products and improve publicity of chargeback mechanisms.

It is hoped that the aforesaid would further improve the positions of banking
consumers in dealing with authorised institutions, help address community
concerns, and further safeguard the interest of consumers while they reap the

benefits of increasingly digitalised banking services.
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Policy Holders’ Protection Scheme

The Council provided views to the FSTB on a public consultation on the
proposed establishment of a Policy Holders' Protection Scheme (PPS) in Hong
Kong. Overall, the Council welcomed the establishment of a PPS to provide an
additional safety net to policy holders in case of insurer insolvency, enhance public
confidence in the insurance industry and further benchmark the regulatory
regime with international standards and best practices.

Notwithstanding the above, the Council also provided the following views on
specific areas of concern:

* Given the diverse types and nature of insurance policies, it was considered
undesirable to apply the same compensation arrangements across the board.
Different compensation arrangements including different compensation caps
should be set up for different types of insurance policies;

»  The Council supported focusing on individual policy holders at the initial stage
of implementation. Yet, considering the impact to consumers in case of insurer
insolvency, the PPS should extend to cover small and medium enterprises at a
later stage;

e Charging different levy rates based on the level of risk of individual insurers
would be a fairer arrangement; and

* The Council agreed with the view that the PPS should have equal
ranking with the Employee Compensation Assistance Fund and all other
direct insurance claims not met by the PPS under Section 265 of the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance, to
facilitate recovery of funds for payment made in relation to an insurer

insolvency.

To keep up with the ever changing developments of the insurance market and
the new insurance products launched by insurers, the Council requests attention
of the proposed PPS Board on the importance of constant review of the scope,
level of coverage, fund sizes, levy rates and other aspects of the PPS that would
be of concern to policy holders. Consumer education undoubtedly would have a

key role to play.
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Mobility and Travel
MTR Fare Adjustment Mechanism

The Council provided its response to the Transport Department in relation to a
public consultation on the review of the Fare Adjustment Mechanism (FAM) of
the MTR Corporation Limited (MTRCL).

The Council generally agreed that the current approach to the setting of the
FAM was objective and transparent and that the FAM direct-drive formula
should be maintained. The Council also put forward the following suggestions in

its submission to enhance consumer welfare regarding railway services:

» To continuously provide the special reduction of 0.6% for the coming years
between 2023/24 and 2027/28;

e To introduce more factors (including a two-factor approach comprising
frequency and length of service disruption, severity of safety incidents
and customer satisfaction level) in the calculation method of the Service
Performance-linked Arrangement;

* To explore the feasibility of using other measure(s) and the possibility of
offering more options of discounted tickets to reduce the impact of price
increases to the general public; and

* To speed up the review process on “Higher Fares for Shorter Journeys” and
adjust the fare structure as soon as possible to secure a reasonable fare for
customers.

Committed to enhancing consumer welfare, the Council will continue to raise
attention of the Government and MTRCL to be responsive to passengers’

demand for a fair and transparent fare adjustment mechanism.
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New Regulatory Regime of the Travel Industry

Responding to a trade consultation by the Travel Industry Authority (TIA) on
the implementation details of the new regulatory regime of the travel industry,
the Council expressed general support to the proposed implementation details
of the regime, while emphasising the importance of transparent information
provision; clear and fair tour cancellation and postponement policies; and effective
redress mechanism to protect the rights of consumers in travel-related services.
In addition to urging the TIA to leverage information technology to enhance
redress mechanism and provide easily accessible means for consumers to make
enquiries or submit complaints, the Council also put forward a number of
recommendations on specific aspects as follows:

e Increasing the level of ex gratia payment to travellers arisen from the default
of a licensed travel agent;

» Clarifying the definition of “activity” under the Travel Industry Compensation
Fund (TICF) (Amount of Ex Gratia Payments) Regulation and the nature of
“tours” to which the TICF applies;

e Llaying down industry guidelines to ensure that consumers have been
well informed by travel agents about the status of protection of the travel
products or services before making purchases;

* Drawing up a contract template with key information provided in an easy-
familiar format to standardise industry practice and to reduce controversy on
the service particulars; and

e Enhancing the enforcement effort in relation to the Administrative Scheme
for Registered Shops for Inbound Tour Groups.

Furthermore, the Council expressed its reservation on the proposed
abolishment of the existing requirement of registration of outbound package
tour brochures, and reiterated its view against bundling sale of travel insurance
together with package tours.

Both outbound and inbound tours are expected to rebound with the lifting
of travel restrictions and quarantine measures in Hong Kong and at various
travel destinations. The Council will continue to cooperate with the TIA through
monitoring malpractices in the industry and referring complaints to the TIA for
necessary action.

hRbE SRR ESIE

BHREXEEER (IRER) SIREENRE
HEHBRMRANITREAXS  AEEE
LFRAMEZENERME - WIREBINENS
B ~ BT R AT RIERTT B BUS M E B BUR
DA RS DREHE & IR
BRERIES - R EFBIKEREMAEMMR
TRTT AR I REE - WIS E 2 BAVRE M
HEETANRII AT TR HEIE
HEZE -

+ ReRFMRTREREAMARE AN
FrEEREEER

« B (IRBEXEBEES (FEHBERE) R
BI) R TEE) , MER  URIKEERER
SRER TIRTE S

+ BIETHIES BMRBBEEBEREER
HRER EEKRTAREBAIHBERNK
BRIBHIRFEAE 5

© RUBHEAS YLUHEZHARIEEE
BE > BITEXEBFENTRELBDH
ERESHHEOAI R - R

o pnsR T ARIRTTEEMEETHRETE L 89
B o

Lesh - A& HEBUERITIMNEIRTT BT R E
RRENEZRRIRE  WEHRAAFRER
BRERITEFMHAEE -

BEE BB M2 B IR B R BUS I R B A48
EiEl - HARKITENRE R BEER -
RERBERRERAF  BERTEPNAR
FE - WHKERERIRERRIEETE -




‘ Advocating a Fair Marketplace and Legal Protection for Consumers {232 FinfEBELERER

Auto-fuel Price Monitoring

The auto-fuel market continues to be one of the markets which the public is
most concerned about. The Council has been closely monitoring this market,
collating and publishing auto-fuel prices and discount information to the public to
enhance information transparency in the local market and to facilitate consumers
to make informed choices.

Since the launch of the revamped "“Oil Price Watch” website and mobile
application in November 2020, the website and app recorded about 4.28
million and 6.96 million accumulative page views respectively as of the end of
March 2023, of which about 3.01 million and 3.24 million page views were
recorded in the year under review (i.e. April 2022 — March 2023). As for
the "“Oil Price Watch” app, the cumulative number of downloads increased by
around 40% to 81,655 downloads since its launch.

Going forward, the Council will continue to closely monitor the auto-fuel market
and urge oil companies to adopt a more transparent approach in publishing
price-related information to consumers.

Accumulated App Downloads
FERREX R TH

Industry Codes of Practice

The role of encouraging and assisting businesses with the development of codes
of practice is one of the functions stipulated in the Consumer Council Ordinance.
To this end, the Council, in collaboration with the laundry industry and the retail
jewellery industry, launched the Laundry Code and the Jewellery Code in 2015
and 2017 respectively. The Codes have since been effectively implemented and
Complaint Review Committees have been established by the respective industry
to facilitate enforcement of the Codes. The Council has continued to hold annual
review meetings with the trade industry associations to review their performance
and keep track of the latest developments of the Codes and industries. Despite
the challenges and disruptions brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic in
the past few years, it is pleasing to see that the industries have persevered and
committed to the implementation and compliance of the Codes.

ERIHEREE

ERBRET S - ERARRE N H— -
—HPK REBPERILTE  ZREER
AARBHEMMRERREEEN  BAX
IS EMERE » DBEEEFRAMEEE -

B 2020 4 11 B#EH2HN DhEEMRB, B8
U R FHIERRETILOR - s T HEME Tl
£ 2023 & 3 HED AI#EH 428 BN 696 8
MRBERY  BERAREFE (12022
FA4RZE20234 3 ) HERERED B
301 B8R 3248 - THEEME, FHRE
RARARF TEHOREE 81,655 X » #FHER
9 40% ©

RERR  AEHEEZIERERMPNTS
W FBM AR U ERPIMIEREEE AHRE
REH -

TRE®/mTE

RE CEBEZESHRO)  SBMGBEXE
HETEERTUARAGEEREZ— -
It AEEERITELRKRETEXAEFE 25l
72015 G CAREEMBEBTA) MR
2017 i (RETEXEWMERTAN - £
BEXKF  BRTEHBRERELTR > I
BEBUKREERES - URETRIAET
AEEBFYRERTEAERETEE  RAET
AMBTERNITENRNRE - BEBEE
FRBEFRT RS LRETREEF BF
BITRMEERFABNERNETTR B
LESS N/

HEBEEEZB® 2022-23 F% 89




DISSEMINATING CONSUMER INFORMATION
BiEHEMR

The paradigm shift towards a digital world means that digital and social media platforms have become
essential for disseminating timely information to the public and reaching the widest spectrum of

consumers, especially the younger age groups. Embracing the new normal, the Council has charted
new horizons in digital transformation and achieved a number of breakthroughs in e-communications
in recent years. After introducing a sparkling new official website integrated with eCHOICE in the past
reporting vear, the Council's WeChat Official Account was launched during the year under review,

providing easily accessible information and tools for consumers on both sides of the border. The
Consumer Rights Reporting Awards, a prestigious industry award, wrapped up its first edition since the
pioneering revamp. At the same time, the Council's iconic monthly CHOICE Magazine continues to

serve as Hong Kong's most authoritative source for consumer tips. In terms of press conferences, the

Council has maintained an agile and flexible policy, ready to switch between online and face-to-face
format according to the prevailing pandemic situation.

ARREIBCHRBET > SRNBBFELMARERRS T AU NRNEMNEERERE - sERRE
HWRERAEES @ BARFE—N BREEEM - AGBEBERFER  OFRANBBRT
FEEA > FRFAEENBESEERY ADRE - B EFEHEHT R (R2) ATRB_6%
—MEHESHY  HEREEHABEARRTEENFEALRN LR - FAMERBIHEE K
ZMWERERPWHEEEMNERRETLR - ASMEAXRMN DEEESNERERE - NIEE
REHCRAE RN K - HILRE - (BiE) AHEREEEMA - BERHESREER
NEBNBEYIER - AGRFEELEN T REBNEENEBEMER - SRR
BASFHBEMERY  REABDBIIE RN CERPIVET -

\

CHOICE Magazine GEEY BT

CHOICE Magazine is an independent, impartial and authoritative consumer CREY BTN 1976 FAIT  —MEARAEE
guide, widely recognised as a source of trusted and reliable information since 7~ MM BREMAADEETER © ~oH
it was first published in 1976. To uphold its authority and credibility, CHOICE BEREAIGHMAIENEN - REAEEE K

Magazine does not accept any
advertisements or commercial

contributions in any form. The
monthly publication covers test |
reports, surveys, in-depth studies [

on a diverse range of consumer &

goods and services, and complaint
cases.
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The overall sales of the printed version of CHOICE Magazine recorded
190,497 copies in the 2022-23 reporting period, making it one of the
bestselling monthlies in the city despite seeing an inevitable disruption in
sales over the past 3 years due to the pandemic. Sales were split rather
evenly between subscriptions and retail sales via outlets, such as newsstands
and convenience stores. The relaxation of social distancing measures at the
Hong Kong Book Fair 2022 had favourably affected the subscription rate,
which increased by 11.6% (1,202 copies) compared with the previous year.
However, the market situation was much more challenging in the latter half
of the year, believed to be the outcome of increased outbound travel due to
the reopening of borders and lifting of COVID-19 restrictions worldwide, on

top of a gloomy economic outlook.

To meet the Council’s spirit of sustainability, subscription at the Book Fair
went almost fully paperless and was transacted mainly via digital payment
methods — Octopus and PayMe. As a result, an 85% cashless rate was
recorded across all transactions, with 53% of the payments settled by
Octopus, 26% by PayMe, and only 15% in cash.

. Disseminating Consumer Information EEEEE
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Featured a cover story on edible oils found to contain harmful contaminants and genotoxic carcinogens
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Published a test report on coloured/patterned disposable masks and featured the

popular girl group COLLAR as the cover stars
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Covered a report on fish oil supplements
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Launch of WeChat Official Account

The WeChat Official Account of the Council was launched on 1 June 2022,
serving as a handy “consumption encyclopaedia” for locals and tourists alike with
a broad range of objective and practical consumption information and tools.
Considering the popularity of WeChat, which currently has over 1.2 billion
active users globally and over 4 million users in Hong Kong, the official account
could effectively strengthen communication and connection with WeChat users

on both sides of the border; empowering them to be smart consumers.
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Major Highlights

450 free “Shopping Guide” articles
450 BRE THBRINE, XE

HERRETHESHEENESE

SERIGE T EMEENE - Hiin T8 LER—E

Articles on hot consumption topics covering all aspects of daily life

Price comparison tools for smart shopping, e.g. “Online Price Watch”

Complaint status checking function and remote submission of supplementary information
(see chapter “Resolving Disputes Between Consumers and Businesses” for more)
BLERREREEREREXEEHITEN
(HBEAR "AEEEERLHECENMY ., —8)

Supported by a range of online promotions and stakeholders’ communication
in both Hong Kong and the Mainland, the WeChat account acquired 876
followers on the day of launch. The total number of followers reached 11,402
in the reporting year, mainly contributed by Offline Account Follow Ads and
wall games which were proven successful for follower growth.

Since its launch, a total of 81 feeds were posted, among which the introduction
of the Council's complaint channels gained the highest readership, followed by
the wall games for the WeChat account launch and Book Fair: After the launch
period, the most popular topics were health tips related to food and cooking,
such as peanuts and coffee.
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Disseminating Consumer Information EEEEE

Informing and Interacting with Consumers Through Multimedia Platforms

ZERTFEPEEN 2HAUEEEERY

The Council's refreshed website and social media channels remain as the most important channels for the public to learn about the latest

consumption information from the Council.

REMEIFE M REER T A —ARAR T BEMEEENNRERRE

Official Website
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Mllllon
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142 (

u YouTube
512,878

Views ZIERE
Reporting Year R &5 4E

Total Page Views
mAEs

Page Views for Online CHOICE Articles
MERR CEE) XEREE
T YoY #ZEFt+ +21.8%

Page Views for “Shopping Guide”
BEE

THBZINNE |

4.2

Million B &
Total Views

HBAERE

During the year under review, a total of 65 Shopping Guide articles, 58 videos
and 62 infographics were produced to enrich the new website's content on top
of the regular CHOICE articles. Page view peaks
were seen on several popular CHOICE topics, in
particular the test report on single-use coloured or
patterned face masks in August 2022, and fish oil
supplements in November 2022. In terms of the
“Shopping Guide” section providing easy-to-digest 7. **=
“Health *
and Beauty”, “Home Appliances” and “Food and

informative content across 9 categories,

Cooking” were the most popular content types.

The number of followers for the CHOICE . ™
Facebook page continued to grow. Among the [z
posts published, infographics related to daily
life trivia and products had the highest

engagement rates, including caffeine, dining T
out jargon, and light bulbs. To enhance the
interaction with followers, a total of 6 wall

games were held with various giveaways.
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The Council's YouTube channel continues to offer a wealth of information for AREH YouTube EESEEFEAHBEBIRM—

consumers.Videos include CHOICE Magazine highlights, test report findings, past ZEBEMHEBNER  RAEHE CEE) BTBS
events and activities. 2O NESmERRIREER
000 Video Featuring the Most Celebrities:
COLLAR X Coloured and Patterned Face Masks
= E3Youlube™ Q) e = O BZRASHEBERER:
{ COLLAR X REIFEE - EZROEMAEZERE)

Best-performing Video: Test on
25 Non-Stick Frying Pans
EERERBER

(B RIERIF AL

lxﬂaﬂkﬂ:ﬂ-
HABZAR  ~ gpeenbed v £ 14K G0 2 shae

321K subscribess

Supporting Anti-epidemic Efforts and Issues of TEBEIE REBHEES

Consumer Interest g
The fifth wave of the pandemic, which broke out in early 2022, persisted B OIRHIEREIER 2022 FOEBE > NEAKREK
largely through the reporting year. To continue supporting the public to FiE - REEIRARTE ASREBINRE
combat the virus, the Council remained highly diligent in information provision RERANTEEN UBEAREHMIGEE -
and educating the public to make informed choices.

BbsEEN
Disseminating Information on Combatting COVID-19 RAREFE  ASEEEHR (BORE) &
The Council continued to update its "' Together; We Fight COVID-19" webpage B EEESEHEENERARARAERE
throughout the year. The page serves as a content hub to consolidate virus- BEREXE  HEBEER 2B THERNE
prevention information including free articles, consumer alerts, free download BB ENE -

materials and corresponding Government information regarding COVID-19.

AREE2023F 1 AL "THABERSER

In January 2023, the launch of the “Search Tool for Registered Over-the-counter MRV SRR BB SR - WEBH Fﬁﬁj
Pharmaceutical Products Containing Faracetamol” was accompanied by publicity KB AmHEE  DEREHEENTR
including a press release and media briefing, reflecting the Council's swift action in BE - FF - ARG 2022 F 3 BEHN " Z:
responding to the public’s most pressing needs and concerns. At the same time, Rt @R ATNRENRAADRELTE ) T
the “Search Tool for Rapid Antigen Test (RAT) Kits Approved for Use by Various R AEERUAEMEFIEN - #BH
Regions’ launched by the Council in March 2022 continued to serve as a reliable BERHRERATRENAHNE - F#FITS
and updated database to help consumers verify and select suitable RAT kits. See B T RSHERMRSRNEER, -

chapter “Collecting Market Information on Goods and Services” for more.

“Together, We Fight COVID-19”Webpage {(ZbHifE) BE

Aggregate figures since launch in 2020
B 2020 FRIARRE

Reporting Year &5 &

) AVA 7688 mir

Page Vlews HE2E

94 Consumer Council 2022-23 Annual Report



Responding to Pandemic-related Service Issues

Various social distancing measures and travel requirements remained in effect
for intermittent but long periods of the reporting year, such as dining restrictions,
quarantine, circuit breaker mechanism, etc. Towards late 2022 and early 2023,
uncertainties and occasional changes to travel restrictions imposed by other
countries, as well as the changes in inbound quarantine requirements to cope
with the pandemic situation, led to flight cancellations and price changes,
quarantine hotel scalping and service disputes. Marking an official end to all social
distancing measures, the HKSAR Government eventually announced the lifting
of the mask mandate with effect from 1 March 2023.The subsequent surge in
both inbound and outbound travel gave rise to a renewed round of complaints
and media enquiries.

Meanwhile, as the pandemic battered the economy, a number of companies
closed their businesses during the year, including several major chains. Many
consumers were unable to use up their prepaid vouchers before the trader
ceased operation. The Council received media enquiries regarding the abrupt
closures of the renowned and iconic travel agency Hong Thai Travel Services,
bakery chain Crostini, and several fitness centres (4ward Fitness, VO?2 Fitness &
Martial Arts Centre, and Fitlab).

The Council swiftly responded to a host of pressing consumer concerns via
media interviews and press statements, urging merchants to disclose the
arrangements on their websites or social platforms, and promptly contact
affected customers for settlement. Consumers were reminded of the risks
associated with prepayment purchases as well as to keep relevant record to
recover prepayment through chargeback mechanism in case of shop closures.
The Council also reminded traders of the possible violation of the Trade
Descriptions Ordinance for wrongly accepting payment.

Since the resumption of cross-border travel brought an influx of tourists, there
has been an unwelcome resurgence of sales malpractices, especially those
happening at Chinese pharmacies mainly targeting visitors from the Mainland.
These malpractices included the misleading use of pricing units for Chinese
medicine then pressuring consumers to complete the purchase, as well as price
discrimination against tourists speaking Putonghua. The Council has consistently
received related media enquiries since February 2023 and responded with press
statements and interviews urging the industry to step up monitoring and traders

to be more self-disciplined, so as not to damage Hong Kong's reputation as a

shopping paradise.
Sales Malpractices
PRIFEFE
Flight
Cancellations
R HEEE

Shop Closure
&SR
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Empowering Consumers Through the Mass Media

Thanks to the support of the mass media, the Council is often on the public’s
mind. For many vyears, the Council has organised extensive media programmes
and campaigns, notably the monthly CHOICE press conference, which flexibly
switched between live-stream and in-person format in the past year based
on the prevailing social distancing measures, and countless interviews to keep

consumers informed about, and alert to, what was happening in the marketplace.

BMARERE REAERER
BREENIFN#HE Ag—BFARDL -
LER  ASBNRLIEEETES  BEHRRAA
AFEH CRE) BRHERGE  TRE—F
RERR R R B E T PEm B e e S
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EHEEFM > BOBAREERIEEEN
MABER o

4,300+ Sins™

During the year, the Council issued press releases and statements covering
selected topics published in CHOICE Magazine as well as responding to a host
of media enquiries related to significant consumer issues, such as the surrender
of pay TV licence by Cable TV, as well as the change in the “Breathing Mortgage
Plan” offered to buyers of the residential property project The Vertex, which
gave rise to scores of complaints by vexed consumers. Through proactive
media engagement, the Council was able to publish timely cautionary advice to

consumers whenever an issue arose.

In the year under review, the Council partnered with various media networks
for multi-episode or regular monthly features, including 4 weekly episodes in
Radio Television Hong Kong's (RTHK) TV programme “The Elderly Series”
(& L BE W) covering topics related to elderly consumer interest such as
practical anti-epidemic tips, nutritional value of foods, online shopping and live-
stream e-commerce. Other monthly features include RTHK's TV programme
“Hong Kong United” (5t %% 7 ), and radio programmes “Happy Daily” (
v B $] ) and “Money Talk". Positive media relations and
desired publicity outcomes were achieved throughout the %ﬁ e -
reporting year through press interviews and appearances
on a combination of print, electronic and online channels,
such as the TVB's “News Magazine” ( #TE#548 ) and English
programme “Money Matters”, Now TV's “News Magazine”
(B2 J5f1), Cable TV's “Lets Talk” (B
B B 5 8), CRHK's “Saturday Forum” ( X
& 2 H /X)), Metro Finance's “Roadmap to
Knowledge Economy” (BIHIFRE ), as well as
exclusive interviews with the Chairman and/
or the Chief Executive by RTHK's “Letter to
Hong Kong” ( & # K & ), the Law Society
of Hong Kong's official journal “Hong Kong Lawyer (& S#EEN ),
HKO1, People's Daily ( AE#R ), Oriental Daily, etc.
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Top 10 Consumer News — Year of the Tiger RETXKHEEHE

Entering its 19th year since its launch in 2005, the Top 10 Consumer News FHAOHERTE ) 28 E 2005 4L - EARF
voting campaign was held with the continued support from media partners EEEAZE 19 [B4FE @ FEEESS 7 (e
HKO1, Hong Kong Economic Times, i-Cable News, RTHK, SkyPost, TOPick and BIERENIE BB 0 - EBKERR B
U Magazine. As society started to get back on track with the easing of the WAE - BBES ~ B, TOPick M U BT -
pandemic, the resuft announcement and awards presentation ceremony resumed BEERBEN  HEFSER  FBINERA
in-person format at the Council headquarters after being live-streamed for the MERRAREREMTEEN L EEET R
past 2 years. KIMEBREN  BHESRTRIGRT -

The top 10 news stories? reflected consumers’ key concerns and hot NETRIHTERE ° TR T HEETLREF
consumption topics during the reporting year, including the online RAT search EANREINZENAITHERY - EhASH
tool launched by the Council ranking seventh. HRE bR B2 B s R aE L -

- ")
+xne

JU il 4,750 ey
Top 10 Consumer News — Year of the Tiger
Voting Results EHEIER

Plastic Bag Levy Raised to $1 Frozen/Chilled Foodstuff No Longer Exempt ,
BRHEME 1Tt LAEERTEHR votes =

Controversial $30,000 Compensation Imposed on Boy Knocking Over “Teletubby” Figure
Trader Refunded and Apologised
BERBXREE BIEEAR IBEFRE BEARERITE

3,315

votes Z

70% Surge in Outbound Travellers First Month After “0+3” in Effect

HK Express Abruptly Cancels Multiple Flights with Tickets Sold \?étl?“—z
TO+3, AWMERHIRARIE 7 k.  FRRERIVES VIS EHREMIE -

Consumer News Hot Topics Results FREHEHEIRERLR

“Most Gratifying” News " S KIRAD 1 FiE
Rent Control Law Takes Effect
First Landlord Fined $5,000 After Pleading Guilty to Overcharging Subdivided-flat 2633
Tenant for Water 19V
HEREILEN BEREREEFKER votes =
FEERIHFIF 5000 JT
“Most Liked” News " R{E:E  #iE

Inconsistent RAT Quality Sparks 48 Complaint Cases
Consumer Council Launches Online Search Tool for Speedy Approved List Reference 2, ]20

RAEBEERMELI 48 R votes =
HESER s — ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬂw@_f% =)

“Most Outrageous” News "

1 FhE

Controversial $30,000 Compensation Imposed on Boy Knocklng Over' Teletubby Figure
Trader Refunded and Apologised 3,308
FEREK "TRIREE B, REER 3 BEEH votes

JETTHEIRFRER

9. Visit https//www.consumer.org.hk/en/press-release/top10_tiger or scan the QR code for the voting results of the Top 10 Consumer News —

Year of the Tiger.
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Consumer Rights Reporting Awards

The 22nd Consumer Rights Reporting Awards (CRRA), the first edition
since a noteworthy revamp announced in early 2022, concluded with a
presentation ceremony officiated by the Secretary for Commerce and Economic
Development, The Honourable Algernon Yau Ying-wah, | on 24 November
2022. Now organised independently by the Council, the CRRA has long been a
signature annual event within Hong Kong's media industry and received a record-
breaking 317 entries in the reporting year, from 40 media networks, social media
platforms, and local colleges and universities, including 8 media organisations

which participated for the first time ever.

The 3 groundbreaking changes and new features included restructured
categories with a newly added “Topical Reporting Award"; introduction of the
“Best Use of Social Media in Consumer Advocacy” category to encourage all-
rounded media coverage of consumer news to further enhance the public’s
awareness of consumer rights; as well as piloting of public voting mechanism
for 2 awards (“News Photography Award” and “Tertiary Student Journalism
Award"), whereas the cash prize was also doubled. The innovations echoed the
paradigm shift towards social media journalism and contemporary mode of news

dissemination.

Shortly thereafter, applications for the 23rd CRRA opened in March 2023,
inviting entries for 9 award categories, including the brand new “Topical
Reporting Award” with “Protecting Consumers Under E-commerce” as the
selected topic for 2022. The topic for 2023 was simultaneously announced to
be "How the Application of Innovation and Technology is Impacting Consumers”,

applicable to submissions for the 24th CRRA next year.
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. Disseminating Consumer Information EEEEE

Awards Presented at the 22nd CRRA® £ 22 [E¥RiEIE/EEEHEIF °

7 Gold Awards {E £
7 Silver Awards
4 7
8 Bronze Awards
Awards EEEES
{E4E1E 6 Merit Awards
EEER
“Best Use of Social Media in Consumer Advocacy” "RIEEEEEBERIHZTE |
3 “Best Audience Engagement” Awards " BRI EFS3 ERHE |
8 1 “Best Presentation” Award " R{EREFRIFE
Categories .
BRI 1 “Grand Prize” "siKEg

‘I Grand Award
1B TEEKRE

The Honourable Algernon Yau Ying-wah, Secretary for Commerce
and Economic Development views the exhibit of winning entries,
accompanied by Mr Clement Chan Kam-wing, Chairman of the
Consumer Council, and Ms Gilly Wong Fung-han, Chief Executive of
the Consumer Council.

FTREEABENRRERRRRROEREEEMEGSZERRR
HERE IR AE R E R RN RER -

Mr Clement Chan Kam-wing, Chairman of the Consumer Council Mr Eddie Cheung Kwok-choi, Director of Broadcasting, and adjudicator
presents the “Feature Writing Award", accompanied by Ms Gilly Wong Mr Shun Chi-ming present the “Best Use of Social Media in Consumer
Fung-han, Chief Executive of the Consumer Council. Advocacy” award.
HEGHRBFEERBLIRREERBLAKLEMBERT " EES ERRRREMEEMTESERLERBRRRT " REGHEE
B, I5EEE - S HRTE ) NEERE -

10. Visit https://www.consumer.org.hk/en/press-release/consumer-rights-reporting-awards-2022 or scan the QR code for more information
on the 22nd CRRA.
FLEBFENEBERZTEREZNEM 75 % B https//www.consumerorghk/tc/press-release/consumer-rights-reporting-
awards-2022 » SR S ©
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THROUGH EDUCATION

Rapid developments in technology have simplified the sourcing and purchasing of consumer
products, yet they have also increased the complexity of identifying unscrupulous traders and
ensuring adequate consumer protection. The Council is committed to addressing this growing
challenge by empowering consumers through education — especially more vulnerable groups
such as young students, mentally handicapped persons, and Hong Kong’s increasing elderly
population — so as to help them acquire the right knowledge to make informed choices
and become responsible consumers. Although some face-to-face educational and training
programmes were adversely affected by social distancing measures and advancement of the
summer holiday during the year under review, the Council has successfully maintained these
important consumer education activities by close liaison with relevant stakeholders and
flexibility in programme implementation.

MEHNEERRERZRBHEERESHE  ARFOHBAREMENMREEERE
M T/BBREE - REHIL A RERIZAHE  NERNEBRB ESRTHEE TN B RRE
AE7] » FRIRFEET  BHER AT RABBRTRRE—GFHBHLE - BEEFIRE
IEFERNGE > AIFTEE > BREEEIEES - DBRFA  BEN D EENZENIEIEENT
MBI EREARTE - BREASHFNERBNHE  DIKRE

EMPOWERING CONSUMERS

DB EERAEEER K RELEN

4

% BEHEESEEDEEUERES

Cultivating Positive Consumer Attitude from a
Young Age

In an era of technological innovations and increasing market complexity,
consumer education in childhood serves as a crucial guidepost to help young
consumers develop proper consumption values and behaviours, building a solid

foundation of judicious purchases and green lifestyle for the rest of their lives.

Experiential Learning Programme for Primary School
Students — Earth 2038’s Learning Journey of Sustainable
Consumption

Sustainable consumption (SC) education is one of the Council's top priorities and
the “Earth 2038's Learning Journey of Sustainable Consumption” programme
(“Earth 2038 programme’) continued to be run in the 2021/22 school year.
Despite the advancement of the summer holiday and the extension of social
distancing measures arising from the fifth wave of the COVID-19 epidemic, the
Council conducted 96 sessions of educational activities, participated by nearly
3,690 students from 32 primary schools. Furthermore, the programme saw
continued support from schools with around 3,680 students from 32 primary
schools having enrolled in the programme for the 2022/23 school year. As of
371 March 2023, 55 school activities and training sessions were held.
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Feedback from Participants
2m&RER

reported having a better understanding of SC
>78% R EERIERE R

>9‘| 7 were willing to adopt SC-related behaviours and habits
O RAEEBRIHEEBTAMZEIE

With the support of Recycling Stations'' in various districts, 9 sessions of
“Experiential Learning Trips" were conducted with over 440 students recruited.
The trips enabled the students to keep abreast with the latest recycling practices,
reflect on their consumption habits, and nurtured them to develop SC-related
habits in their dalily lives.

Invited by the Education Bureau (EDB), a public train-the-trainer session
titled "“Effective Use of Learning and Teaching Resources in General
Studies — Values Education” was organised in July 2022 to enrich teachers’
understanding of the Earth 2038 programme and useful learning and
teaching resources for SC education. Furthermore, 2 public train-the-trainer
workshops and 11 training sessions for project schools were hosted to
encourage them to incorporate the programme in their schools' curricula and

cascade SC messages to students.

Entering the fifth year of the programme, the Council had reached out to wider
groups of students, such as non-Chinese speaking students and gifted students,
and adjusted the programme materials tailoring to their needs. To develop
teaching strategies involving advanced SC concepts, the Council collaborated
with The Hong Kong Academy for Gifted Education to offer a special session
for nearly 30 high-calibre students. The session encompassed advanced SC
knowledge and infographic design skills that inspired participants to create
outstanding infographics to reflect their thorough understanding of SC.

927

expressed satisfaction
with the programme

HEEIRTER
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11. For more information on the Recycling Stations, please visit https://www.wastereduction.gov.hk/en/community/crn_outlets.htm#recyc_stations

FLHEBRIUIRFRIEMNER » BRI | https//www.wastereduction.gov.hk/zh-hk/waste-reduction-programme/greencommunity#recycling-stations

HEEZRB® 2022-23 £k 101



https://www.wastereduction.gov.hk/en/community/crn_outlets.htm#recyc_stations
https://www.wastereduction.gov.hk/zh-hk/waste-reduction-programme/greencommunity#recycling-stations

Partnership Programme with HKEdCity for Primary
Students — Smart Shopper Go Go Goal

“Smart Shopper Go Go Goal” was launched on the
HKEdCity online platform for the second consecutive year in
May 2022. Over 3,400 students from nearly 100 schools
took part in this activity. Under the themes “Children’s
Products and Sustainable Consumption”, interactive and
entertaining quizzes based on CHOICE Magazine videos
were developed and delivered, equipping senior primary
students with the right knowledge to consume wisely and

use sustainably.

Proactive Education Platform for Secondary School Students —
Consumer Culture Study Award

The Council continued to educate the youth through its flagship programme,
the annual Consumer Culture Study Award (CCSA), in collaboration with the
EDB. Through the years, more than 86,000 participants across 385 secondary
schools have joined the programme and undertaken in-depth studies, enabling
them to reflect on different consumption issues and behaviours as well as

developing positive consumer values.

During the year, the 23rd CCSA successfully concluded with an Award
Presentation Ceremony on 3 October 2022, with an attendance of over 120
guests and participants who joined in-person and via live-stream. The ceremony
was officiated by the Secretary for Education, Dr Choi Yuk-lin, JF followed by
the presentations of 4 winning teams showcasing their praiseworthy studies of
consumer culture in Hong Kong.

HEBHEREMNZ/ N BEREILE —
K :EE Go Go Goal
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The 24th CCSA was launched in September 2022, and built on its past success
by recruiting 2,778 students from 618 teams and 80 secondary schools. Whilst

the CCSA minisite (edu.consumerorghk) continued to serve as a useful platform

to inspire students to gain insights from the past winning projects, a total of 73
workshops/talks and consultation sessions were conducted to effectively guide
the CCSA24 participants to develop and execute their project ideas.

102 Consumer Council 2022-23 Annual Report

F24[E "RELE 75'\2022¢9ﬁ§ﬂ§ =
BRZERERNKRINES - BELERSKR 80
B2 618 B 2,778 %ﬂi_i._ﬂ%ﬁ@,,\ o TIRE
#2 ) #8 8 (educonsumerorghk) #&iEESLREE
TEGRERNEN - HRZEERBREM
MERSR - ABRIFEMY 135 TEN/#
FEEAMZAR  ARIEE2ERZEINTH
HERMER


http://edu.consumer.org.hk
http://edu.consumer.org.hk

‘ Empowering Consumers Through Education U ERENRHEEE BHRERE

In addition, 2 first-ever workshops were held in collaboration with tertiary b5 REFHXEKRERR AT ERSEE
institution and youth service partners to equip CCSA24 students with new skills EPMB IS > M TREER  NWBEREZE

R SHERREFEESLTT
M 2022 F 11 A Aegri "TAFEEEAIR
BEt ) TERNSERE  2BEEBEXEHE
ZBE (FX) WSTEMBEEFL VR / ARL
ERATEBEEBMAERE - X 2023 4F 1
A AETEEESFHREESE Media 21 &
BZTHE  TREZSREM Y —15 TAISEEH
e TS PERREENERSEEN

and knowledge to enrich their projects. ““
First, a visit to the STEM Centre, VR/AR

workshop and Al Lab was organised for

project teams registered for the thematic |
award “Innovative Design for Sustainable |
Consumption” in November 2022 at
IVE (Tsing Yi). Furthermore, to equip §
CCSA24 participants with the ability

to produce projects with multimedia BB A B
and digital components, the Council BERTT - HENE
jointly organised its first “Creative Media BERLEEME
Workshop” with the Hong Kong Federation of Youth |z ISTTRTTAE R

N s TEHRR
| 51T 50 B4R
5 WHBEEN

Groups Jockey Club Media 21 in January 2023 at
Ying Wa College, sharing fundamental knowledge §
and hands-on tips on film-making and multimedia

storytelling. The workshops attracted 50 participants FHE -

and received positive feedback.

New Promotional Efforts EHEBED

The Council promoted consumer education programmes through different ASEBRARARBEEEEEREEZH - 1
channels. Invited by the EDB, the Council attended the “Let’s Join Hands to 2023 F 2R 13 AEEBERBFTLEE
Promote Financial Education — 2023 Event Highlights” on 13 February 2023, M OE DB HE — 2023 F5EENKE -
where various sectors of the community including school principals and teachers MERRE - ZMERETEAR - N8 "3k
were introduced to the current CCSA activities and the new programme to be HiE ) NIRBEEENEEGR 2023/24 BAE#E
rolled out in the 2023/24 school year. R REEHEEHE IR

In collaboration with the Sing Tao Group, a successful promation campaign was s AREIRR 2022 £ 11 BERESKE (&
launched in November 2022 to strengthen the brand image of the Council's B) EFEEEZESSLFHEEE  RAtLE
youth educational activities. The campaign comprised print advertisement MR - EEESBEBHRES N 3 RBRY!
placements and advertorials with video streaming for showcasing the ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%/ﬁ%)ﬁ" BN 23 B TS, H
achievements of 3 CCSA23 winning school teams, which were published as 3 REREEONERER  UNEEETE
a 3-part report series in Sing Tao Daily (Education section), ST Headline and EREHER - ZEHEGNE - DIKEKEAR ?
Headline Daily'? in November 2022. TIZ -

L

12. The media coverage can be viewed on the CCSA thematic site (Chinese version only):
https://www.consumer.org.hk/tc/consumer-education/secondary-school-education-programme#scroll-tab-8
MEBAE RS RE TN IRE SR T RE L 8

https://www.consumer.orghk/tc/consumer-education/secondary-school-education-programme#scroll-tab-8
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Revamp for Consumer Education for Youth

In view of the emergence of new technologies and popularity of social
media, the current CCSA will be revamped to cater for the interests and
needs of the younger generation. The new revamped programme aims to
continuously cultivate students’ positive consumption values and enhance
their self-advocacy as consumers with better synergy and incorporation of
key values with the secondary education curricula. In addition to suggestions
from 6 focus group discussion sessions with various stakeholders, a Working
Group on Revamp for Consumer Education for Youth was formed to
finalise an outline of the new programme, titled “Smart Consumption
Academy” (SCA), which will consist of 4 modules, namely “My Unique
Project Study”, “My Witty Online Quiz", "My Fun |G Post Creation” and
“My Best Ambassador Scheme” to be implemented in 2 phases.

To commemorate the launch of the new programme in July 2023, an
Inauguration Ceremony was scheduled to be held on 12 July 2023, where
SCA's key values were shared with the guests through interactive sessions in an
effort to solicit continuous support and encourage participation in SCA.

Consumer Education for Post-Secondary
School Students

In the year under review, the Council continued to
offer summer internships to 19 students from various
universities, namely the University of Hong Kong, the
Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong Shue
Yan University, the Education University of Hong
Kong, the Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hong
Kong Baptist University, and City University of Hong
Kong. The internships provided students with valuable

exposure and on-the-job training in the work of consumer protection.

Empowering Vulnerable Groups to Enhance
Self-Protection

Recognising that the elderly and persons with disabilities in the population
may be particularly vulnerable to the risks posed by unfair trade practices, the
Council continued its effort to reach out to these target groups through various
tailored programmes together with consumer education talks with a view to

strengthening their self-protection ability.

Consumer Education for Persons with Special Needs

As the "Support Programme for Persons with Special Needs”
("Programme”) entered its third year, the Council continued to empower
social work and education practitioners in delivering workshops to enhance
consumer education for persons with autism spectrum disorder, mild
intellectual disability, and common mental disorder (“target groups”).

In addition to the existing customised training kit, the Council

developed 2 new initiatives during the year, adopting e
3 BE
T Egozsﬁmfu COUNCIL

BEREHOARER
HAETETET

new technologies and enhancing information accessibility
to further strengthen the target groups’ self-protection
ability to avert sales malpractices deployed by

12Rn iR e Beabt

unscrupulous fitness and beauty centres.
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Leveraging new technologies, the Council piloted the use of virtual reality (VR)
simulation to enhance the role-play activities for target groups to acquire the
necessary skills for resisting unscrupulous sales tactics. Featuring 2 scenarios —
fitness and beauty centres — the simulation videos immerse the player in first-
person view, which is considered
more conducive for transferring
the learnt skills into practice

in their future consumption

experiences. To facilitate a wider
usage of such a useful tool, an
online version was developed
and launched on the Council |§ Q smxw7
website , and extensive publicity
was arranged with media coverage by Cable TV, HKOT, Ming Pao,
RTHK's “Hong Kong United" (1§ 8 & % ) and HOY TV's “City
Focus" (— #8 # &) in January and February 2023. Given the
positive response of the VR programme, the Council will explore
more ways to infuse new technology into the future development of

consumer education programmes.

Back to the basics, 2 sets of Easy-to-Read Guides were published in December
2022. Designed in accordance with the principles of the Labour and Welfare
Bureau's “Production Guide for Easy-to-Read Version”, the Guides combined
simple texts and illustrations to facilitate the target groups to grasp the essence
of consumer rights and responsibilities, as well as points to note while purchasing
fitness or beauty services. The Guides also offer practical tips on helping the
target groups develop a healthy lifestyle through
making smart fitness, beauty and food choices.

Since its launch, the Programme has received
staunch support from about 50 social welfare
organisations, self-help groups and special
schools (“partner organisations”) to jointly
assist the target groups in enhancing their self-
protection ability as consumers. During the
year, a total of 12 train-the-trainer sessions
and parent talks were conducted for frontline

staff members, social workers, teachers, family members and caregivers of
the target groups, with nearly 90 participants. Subsequently, 25 consumer
education workshops were organised for the target groups, attracting almost
700 participants. Positive comments on the effectiveness of the workshops

were received from various sectors.

The Council is committed to strengthening the collaboration with partner
organisations to promote the consumer rights of the target groups. To encourage
more new organisations to engage in the Programme, the second “Experience
Sharing Session” was held on 13 December 2022 to give an update of the
latest developments of the Programme, while 2 partner organisations were
invited to share their insights and experiences. Furthermore, in support of the
“International Day of Persons with Disabilities” set out by the United Nations on
3 December each year, 6 online public talks on the topics of preventing pitfalls of

fitness and beauty centre sales, as well as online shopping traps were organised.
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Consumer Education for Senior Citizens

The ageing population in Hong Kong has spurred needs for consumer
education catering to retirees and the elderly. In collaboration with different
social service organisations and elder academies, 20 consumer education talks
were held for senior citizens either face-to-face or virtually throughout the
year, engaging 472 participants. A wide range of topics was covered, including
consumer rights and responsibilities, unfair trade practices under the Trade
Descriptions Ordinance, as well as consumer alerts for senior citizens in areas
such as health food, online shopping, Chinese medicine, homes for the aged,
and telemarketing of health checkup plans. One of these talks featuring online
purchase alerts was held at the kick-off event of Senior Citizen's Day 2022,
organised by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service on 16 November 2022.

Premised upon the success of the “Pilot Educator Scheme for Senior
Citizens”, the scheme became regularised in 2022 with continued partnership
with 5 organisations, namely Yan Oi Tong Hong Kong Toi Shan Association
Neighbourhood Elderly Centre, ELCHK Shatin District Community Centre for
the Golden-Aged, Christian Family Service
Centre — True Light Villa District Elderly
Community Centre, St. James’ Settlement
Wanchai District Elderly Community Centre,

and Senior Police Call.

63 Network Members and 24 Senior
Educators were retained in the scheme in |
the past year. Further training was rendered
to the Senior Educators, covering new
consumption topics including food labelling,
online shopping, travel, and sustainable
consumption. Apart from this, they were also trained to use online tools such
as the Council's Online Price Watch, as well as video-conferencing to deliver
talks online. Besides, a guided tour in the Gerontech and Innovation Expo cum
Summit (GIES) 2022 was also arranged for them as post-training activity.
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. Empowering Consumers Through Education & FZEIRFEEE BHEF

During the year, Senior Educators rendered 26 sessions of community
talks physically or online attended by 278 participants. To build on their
strength in sharing knowledge and to help promote social cohesion,
upon the completion of an “Earth 2038’s Learning Journey of Sustainable
Consumption” online workshop, 7 Senior Educators were invited to be
supporting helpers of the primary consumer education activities held from
December 2022 to January 2023.

To recognise the achievements of the Network Members and Senior
Educators, certificates of appreciation were presented to the Network
Members, Senior Educators and partner organisations respectively during a
sharing session held on 12 January 2023. At the event, 2 representatives from
partner organisations and 2 Senior Educators shared their experiences of
hosting consumer education talks for the elderly in the community, whereas
updated tips to avert consumption traps relevant to online purchase and
telemarketing of health checkup plans were also shared.

Providing Support to the Community

To cascade important consumer alerts to wider audiences, the Council
continued to conduct community talks regularly. During the year, 11 community
talks (excluding those for retirees and the elderly) were held for different
target groups including primary school students, secondary school teachers
and students, post-secondary school students, persons with visual impairment
and staff members of a number of public/professional bodies, attended by over
2,130 participants. A host of topics were covered including consumer rights and
responsibilities, unfair trade practices under the Trade Descriptions Ordinance,
sustainable consumption and consumer alerts in areas such as online shopping,

prepayment consumption, fitness and beauty services as well as health products.

Out of the 11 sessions, the Council was invited by the EDB to deliver a talk on
the theme of “Fostering Consumer Trust — Ethical Al in Hong Kong and Online
Shopping Risks” in November 2022, with 197 teachers and senior secondary
students in attendance. Furthermore, in March 2023, the Council joined hands
with the Hong Kong Police Force to co-host a public talk titled “Risks of Online
Purchase, Common Online Deception and Introduction to Scameter” in support
of Hong Kong Money Month 2023, coordinated by the Investor and Financial
Education Council, attracting nearly 270 participants.
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FORGING CLOSER COLLABORATION
FOR CONSUMER PROTECTION

M SEFREEREER :

Partnerships, collaborations and information exchange at local, regional and
international levels are crucial for the Council to discharge its duties in consumer
protection and empowerment. Outside Hong Kong, the Council has established
links with consumer organisations in many countries and regions, and is also active
in international bodies such as Consumers International. On the home front, the
Council engages regularly with relevant Government departments, regulators and
trade and professional bodies. As borders reopened and global travel resumed in
early 2023, the Council was thankful to reconnect with consumer counterparts
around the world both in person and virtually, concluding the year under review with
fruitful meetings and strategic discussions on strengthening consumer rights under
the new normal.
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Local Collaboration Rt g1E

The Council has maintained close liaison with the Commerce and Economic Ag—HEEHEEREBCRWAE LB
Development Bureau, which oversees policy on consumer protection. The BRBEERBE - NEEMBATESPIRATEH#
Council also worked with other Government bureaux and departments, as well BEF ASBHEZERTER  BEAYF
as statutory bodies to provide advice on matters of consumer interest, such as FEMEBF L > LRLRBRRE - AXEE
fair competition and trade practices, financial and insurance services, public health MBERZE ~ B UIREE)EEEHRE

and food safety, telecommunications, and residential property issues.

& %éjﬂﬁ: HBEEE 50 EALEHEEL
Members and staff of the Council sit on over 50 public advisory committees, HEER  IEBEAERMLER -
offering views from consumers’ perspectives.
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. Forging Closer Collaboration for Consumer Protection 585 S1ERIEHE SR

Collaboration with the Mainland (including the
Greater Bay Area)

Dialogue with China Consumers Association (CCA) on
E-commerce Complaints

Responding to the upsurge of complaint cases relating to a Mainland
e-commerce platform in recent years, the Council connected with CCA in
February and March 2023 to explore possible solutions. The outcome of the
meeting was fruitful and CCA agreed to meet with the trader to raise the

concerns on behalf of the Council.

Visitation of Shenzhen Administration for Market Regulation
A delegation from Shenzhen visited the Council on 10 March 2023 to
exchange views on consumer protection issues relating to complaints handling,
online purchases, “Buy Now, Pay Later” products, consumer education, etc.
The main members of the delegation included the Director of Shenzhen
Administration for Market Regulation, Secretary General from Shenzhen
Consumer Council and President from Xiaofei Bao ( 38 & {} ), a complaints

handling platform formed by the China Electronics Chamber of Commerce.
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The Shenzhen delegation met with Council representatives to
exchange views on consumer protection issues.

FINNKEEASEREREH @ JUHBEREZERER -

International and Regional Collaboration

United Nations Conference on Trade and Development
(UNCTAD) — Consumer Protection on Online Platforms
The Council contributed input to the UNCTAD for the 7th session of the
Intergovernmental Group of Experts on Consumer Protection Law and Policy
on building trust in digital markets through enhanced consumer protection
on online platforms. Topics on consumer protection issues related to digital
platforms, measures and challenges to address the issues were covered.
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Virtual Meeting with the Consumers Association of
Singapore (CASE)

The Council met virtually with the President, Executive Director as well as other
key members from CASE. During the meeting, the 2 consumer counterparts
exchanged views and ideas on consumer protection work during the pandemic
and changes in consumer behaviour under the new normal and digital economy.

Thailand Consumers Council (TCC) — Virtual Consultancy
Interview on Successful Management of Consumer
Protection Body

The TCC, being a relatively new consumer body established in late 2020, invited
the Council to share its experience as a proven leader of success in consumer
protection and champion of consumer rights, as well as key success factors for

distinguished governance, organisational management and staff motivation.

Consumers International

The Council is a Board of Trustee and Council Member of Consumers
International (Cl), a global federation championing consumer rights which
comprises over 200 organisations from almost 100 countries and regions
worldwide. Sharing a kindred vision, Cl's mission is to work closely with its
constituent member organisations and to strengthen networks to protect, inform,
give voice to, and secure rights for; consumers at regional and international levels.

The Chief Executive of the Council was appointed for the second time in a
row as Vice President of Cl's Board of Trustees in 2019 following her first-
term appointment in 2015. In this strategic role with a 4-year tenure (2019-
2023), the Council's Chief Executive is involved in setting Cl's strategic priorities,
reviewing its budget and financial plans, and identifying new partnerships to

strengthen global consumer protection.

During the year under review, despite travel being hindered by the pandemic,
the Council actively participated in Cl's various online events, virtually connecting
with other consumer counterparts around the world.

Global Advocacy Leaders Meeting

At the Cl Global Advocacy Leaders Meeting on 25 April 2022, the Council's
Chief Executive was invited to speak at the session titled “The Future of the
Virtual Economy?" to give an overview of emerging technology trends and
consumer implications in Hong Kong and Greater China. The Global Advocacy
Leaders group discussed key consumer trends in the virtual economy in China
and the Asian region with a focus on the metaverse and the increasing use of
non-fungible tokens (NFT). The insights shared will form part of the Cl's focus in

advancing consumer protection and empowerment worldwide.
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International Youth Day 2022 — An Intergenerational
Dialogue on Young People and Consumer Rights

To celebrate International Youth Day on 12 August 2022 and its theme
“Intergenerational Solidarity: Creating a World for All Ages”, Cl hosted an
intergenerational dialogue on the main issues affecting younger consumers, from
digital rights to sustainable consumption, highlighting the value of younger voices
to the global consumer rights movement.

In the dialogue, Members of the Next Generation Leaders Network spoke with
Cl Vice President and the Council's Chief Executive, Ms Gilly Wong Fung-han,
about why young people should care about consumer rights; the greatest
challenges of young consumers; how older generations support the next
generation of consumers; and advice to young people who would like to get

involved in consumer advocacy.

The Network, which comprises a diverse group of 30 consumer advocates
under the age of 30 from Cl Members worldwide, aims to recognise,
develop, and support youth voices from across Cl's global consumer advocacy
membership. Mr Kelson Wong Chi-chung of the Council's Planning and Trade

Practices Division represented the Council in the Network.

HRESES
- consumer councit O

HOW CAN OLDER GENERATIONS

SUPPORT THE NEXT GENERATION OF
CONSUMER ADVOCATES TO CREATE
REAL AND LASTING CHANGE?

Youth Day 200Z ionsl Matages on Rights.
L0 Ricowniiniinunall - - | B P e L TR X

Interview on Sustainable Consumption Strategy

To facilitate Cl in devising its sustainable consumption strategy, the Council was
interviewed by Cl in late 2022 on the current situation of international standards
for ecolabelling in Hong Kong, and also attended a Sustainable Consumption
Taskforce Meeting to follow up and share further views.

Leadership Dialogues —“How to Build Consumer
Protection in Future Virtual Economies”

On 117 January 2023, the Council's Chief Executive moderated a session of the
CI's Leadership Dialogue under the captioned theme, bringing together speakers
from the Government of India, Ministry of Consumer Affairs; Atlantic Council;
Carnegie Mellon University; and Cl. During the session, speakers discussed the
digital concerns related to extended reality (XR) technologies, and the potential
consumer protection risks in the metaverse, including legislation gaps, privacy
risks and data insecurity, fairness and sustainability.
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World Consumer Rights Day 2023

On World Consumer Rights Day (WCRD) (15 March) each year, Cl brings
together the consumer movement to raise global awareness on consumer
rights, protection and empowerment. In support of WCRD 2023 and its
theme “Empowering Consumers Through Clean Energy Transitions”, the
Council published an article about new energy vehicles in the March 2023
issue (#557) of CHOICE Magazine (see chapter Promoting Sustainable
Consumption for more), with the aim to raise public awareness on the
significance of lowering carbon emissions by shifting towards cleaner modes
of transport. An editorial about extreme climate and global warming was
published in the same issue, urging the Government, industry and consumers
to put sustainable practices into action.

Echoing the same theme, the Council's Chief Executive moderated the session

“"Our Consumer Vision for Clean and Affordable

000

Energy” at Cl's Clean Energy Conference held on
WCRD 2023. Speakers included the Commissioner on

and CEO of the World

Energy Council, and

S1SHEERE

Bﬂﬂﬂﬁ'ﬁﬁﬂm ?

senior leaders of the

Electric Power Research
Institute and consumer
organisations from Chile, | =
India and Thailand. =
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The dialogue focused

on how the affordability and sustainability aspects of

the energy trilemma are interlinked in 2023 and beyond, with discussions on
inevitable and challenging trade-offs, and the potential benefits of redesigning

systems and policies with consumers' best interests at heart.

Furthermore, the Council's Chief Executive was invited by CCA and Myanmar
Consumers Union (MCU) to deliver pre-recorded speeches for their respective
WCRD 2023 events in the capacity of ClVice President. The theme of CCA'’s
event was “Reviving Consumer Confidence” ($2#RBE(E/L ), while the speech
for MCU focused on the collective action required to tackle the global energy

crisis and mitigate global warming through a consumer-centric approach.
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COMMENDATIONS AND COMPLIMENTS
FRaT o R

The Council is grateful to receive hundreds of messages of support from CHOICE Magazine readers,
followers of its social media channels and other sources each year, expressing thanks for the Council’s

\ . consumer advice or efforts in complaints resolution. Awards from authoritative bodies also give
recognition to the Council's achievements in various operational dimensions, such as governance and
talent development. Apart from providing assurance that the Council is meeting public expectations,
these commendations and compliments are an invaluable boost for staffs morale and pride in their
mission of protecting and empowering consumers in Hong Kong.

( AEFFHPRRIBLERETR (&%) BHEENMRFRERENEFERER « RS+
O HEH  XEAGRHEERHEBEANESZINIHBEIFAEIGR - R SETAREMERTRZEN
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_____

Directors of the Year Awards 2022 2022 FEBRHESRER /
The Board of Consumer Council is greatly honoured to receive the HESERAEER " 2022FEHHEES
Directors of the Year Awards by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. The 2, BEEARERDIBEAG —BLIKRHER
prestigious award is profound recognition of the Council's longstanding ENEBE RNBNREHEE SN I
commitment to strong corporate governance and dedication to consumer R EHRKELADIEERBEELFR
protection. It also celebrates the effort of all former members of the Council NS ZESRUBBHIRER S BORH
over the years. To uphold high standards for corporate governance, the T BERR RRER - aRMAEERT
Council Members play a critical and active role in the strategic planning, B EE—REEZEREHNEE DIERAS o\
policy development, decision making, risk management, compliance and EATRIEIEE S \

internal control of the Council.

HKloD 25th Anniversary Dinner

cum Presentation of Directors Of The Year Awards
Wednesday 23 November 2022
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The Ombudsman’s Awards 2022 )

The Council was delighted for 2 of its staff to receive the w HRER RS
Ombudsman’s Awards in 2022, for the tenth consecutive THE o i

year. Mr CHAN Tsz-on, Senior Complaints & Advice
Officer, and Ms Katy HA Hiu-tung, Complaints & Advice
Officer, were presented with the Award this year in
recognition of their exceptional performance in customer

service and handling consumer complaints.
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. Good MPF Employer Award 2021-22
(ﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁ,ﬂ;,o, The Council was presented with the Good MPF Employer 5 Years+ and

MPF Support Award under the captioned scheme, organised annually by

the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority to give recognition
Consumer Council . . . .
to employers who strive to enhance retirement protection for their

HREERE
employees.
i FTAEiFEE ) FAFRTEl 2021-22
e o (W AR HEESREFEMN THESFREE ) BTE EEREEREER

RREIFREE - NGLFN 2021-22 FEETLA "HeFREED
F o+ FREE TESHEERE -

Best Annual Reports Awards 2022 .

, maE menT association  HIK -
The Council's Annual Report 2020-21 was awarded the l':'.-'""£'- ; ;;'SETH&N&I;?P;EP&O»;?;?SMRDS o ; IM_-\_ SHANGRILA
“Excellence Award for Small Size Entries” of the Hong Kong g Erallance Award for Sl S Fnties
Management Association’s Best Annual Reports Awards. This =i# Cons ¢

annual competition aims to encourage the publication of
timely, accurate, informative and well-presented annual reports
and to recognise and honour the organisations for their

exemplary achievement in producing such reports.
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Words of Thanks

The Council deeply appreciates the positive feedback from consumers and
readers of CHOICE Magazine in recognition of the professionalism of our staff.
Positive sentiment from the audience of the Council’s various social media

channels is also highly appreciated. Selected examples are shown below:

(Note: The following messages from complainants have been edited to enhance readability and
comprehension)
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. Commendations and Compliments B3 Ei Rl 3
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Case Highlight
[EESE2

The complainant purchased a foldable treadmill from an online shop and
received the damaged machine on 25 April 2022. As no contact number for
the online shop was available, the complainant paid a visit to the shop's office
2 days later, during which his phone number was recorded, and the shop
promised to arrange a replacement.

However, the complainant was unsuccessful in obtaining a replacement and
called the Council's hotline on 5 May 2022 to lodge a complaint. He spoke with
Advice Assistant Ms Chan, who was concerned about potential delays from the
shop and assured the complainant that the case would be handled promptly. The
case was then assigned to Complaints Officer Ms Ha, and after her conciliation,
the complainant received a new machine on 21 May 2022. The complainant
expressed his appreciation to the Council via email for the prompt assistance
provided by Ms Chan and Ms Ha in resolving the matter.
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Case Highlight
(EESEE

The complainant, a retiree, called the telecom company to terminate his fixed
line contract, which was due to end in August 2022 and sent the required
termination form to the company in July to comply with the T-month notice
period. However, in September; he received a bill of $238 from the company,
which he paid, believing it to be the final bill. When the complainant contacted
the company to inquire about the issue, he was told that no termination
form had been received. Despite submitting the termination form again in
October, the complainant continued to receive bills, including a new one for
$446 in November. As a result, he lodged a complaint with the Council on
7 November 2022. After conciliation by the Council's Complaints Officer Ms
Yip, the telecom company agreed to waive the disputed sum of $446.

The complainant sent a thank you card to express gratitude to Ms Yip for her

efficient assistance and care for consumers.
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Case Highlight
(EESEE

The complainant, a Mainland tourist, ordered around HK$20,000 worth of

eye cream and face cream from a Korean brand when visiting Hong Kong
in November 2021. The shop promised to send the products to her in
the Mainland. However, when she received the products, the packaging was
different from what was shown during the purchase. Questioning the products’
authenticity, the complainant requested a full refund from the shop, who agreed
to it after negotiations. Due to the pandemic, the complainant could not visit
Hong Kong again to receive the refund. In January 2022, the complainant
approached the Guangdong Consumer Council for assistance, which referred the
case to the Council. Complaints Officer Ms Chiu handled the case initially and
managed to reach a resolution, but due to disruptions in courier services caused
by the pandemic, the products return and refund process was delayed for several
months. In June 2022, Complaints Officer Ms Tsang took over the case and
liaised with both parties to arrange the return and refund, which the complainant
confirmed to have received later that month.

The complainant sent a plague to the Council in August to express her gratitude

for the Council's assistance in resolving the matter amicably.
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Independent Auditor’s Report 1B 37 i E R

TO THE MEMBERS OF CONSUMER COUNCIL
(Established in Hong Kong under the Consumer Council Ordinance)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Consumer Council (the
“Council”) set out on pages 121 to 149, which comprise the statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the statement of income
and expenditure, statement of changes in funds and reserves and
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Council as at 31 March 2023, and of its financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Council in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter

The financial statements of the Council for the year ended 31 March
2022 were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified
opinion on these financial statements on 29 July 2022.

Other Information

The members of the Council are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

— \
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Independent Auditor’s Report 1B 37 i E R

TO THE MEMBERS OF CONSUMER COUNCIL
(Established in Hong Kong under the Consumer Council Ordinance)

Responsibilities of Council Members and Those Charged with
Governance for the Financial Statements

The members of the Council are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, and for such internal control as the
members determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the members are responsible for
assessing the Council's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the members either intend to
liguidate the Council or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The members of the Council are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Council's financial
reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Council's internal control.

Financial Statements
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Independent Auditor’s Report 1B 37 i E R

TO THE MEMBERS OF CONSUMER COUNCIL
(Established in Hong Kong under the Consumer Council Ordinance)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
(Continued)

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the members.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the members' use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Council's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Council to
cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 July 2023

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

Chan Chi Ming Andy

Practising Certificate number: P05132

— \
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Statement of Income and Expenditure INZ Z5EH 3%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & &

T =F=H=1—HILFE

Financial Statements

EUECEES

Income

Government subvention
Non-recurrent projects subventions
Sales of CHOICE magazine
Administrative service income
Interest on bank deposits

Sundry income

Less:

Expenditure

Staff costs

Non-recurrent projects expenses

Testing and research

Office accommodation and related expenses
Depreciation for property, plant and equipment
Depreciation for right-of-use assets

Production and marketing cost of CHOICE magazine
Repairs and maintenances

IT related services

Minor office equipment and accessories
Consumer International membership fees
Consumer education

Publicity and public relations

Auditor's remuneration

Council member expenses

Interest expenses on lease liabilities

Other administrative expenses

Surplus for the year

Notes
izt
WA
BT RER
IR B MIEEER 5
HE CGEEZY AT 6
TBURBUA 23
IRITHEHRFE
FEIEUA
ok
XH
BTHA 7
EREMEEZH 8
RIE AR ST
B R RAERE A
W ~ HeR ERIBNITEE 9
FRESENITE 10

(E2) BTHmAEES 6
HERRE
BMRHXAREI AR
NBUIRNTE R AN A
BHEEHMESE SR
HEEHE
SE LA
T
REGREFX
HEREMNSX T
HitTHEM

FEERR

2023 2022
BT =F =
HKS HKS
JBIT BT
130,911,513 129,511,487
20,193,802 22,362,918
2,158,753 2,340,347
1,361,747 864,487
1,498,287 322,029
303,959 381,066
156,428,061 155,782,334
99,195,932 96,158,134
13,879,420 16,321,281
9,004,545 8,847,651
3,516,516 3,652,900
8,910,575 8,373,107
1,460,155 1,435,156
2,152,435 2,165,675
2,714,820 2,126,820
2,788,032 1,947,063
361,091 595,335
525,358 529,139
1,394,985 724,328
1,973,247 1,453,952
205,000 200,000
21,200 17,800
104,510 149,866
3,270,132 3,308,006
151,477,953 148,006,213
4,950,108 7,776,121

HBEEES 2022-23 37 121
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Statement of Financial Position BAZ5ARN R
AT31MARCH2023 A _F _=#=H=+—H

2023 2022
< S
Notes HKS HKS
Vi3 BT JBIT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment N3 AR N ER 9 57,640,856 62,152,392
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 10 1,209,199 1,924,341
58,850,055 64,076,733
Current assets TENEE
Account receivables, deposits and prepayments  FEUREETR ~ 2SS K TANFIA 11 2,834,508 2,349,448
Advances to staffs R FETHTES 11 30,432 6,778
Amount due from Consumer Legal Action Fund SHEBETFAESEKEIER 11 1,361,747 864,487
Subventions to be claimed 1HFREEER 12 1,572,268 2,229,689
Bank balances and cash IRITEH MRS 13 94,541,192 86,575,705
100,340,147 92,026,107
Current liabilities =L
Subscriptions received in advance B ETRE B 950,661 1,078,262
Account payables and accrued expenses FENEREZNESTER 14 6,867,361 5,773,670
Provision for untaken leaves KIFEZ B3 E R 6,123,992 6,666,696
Subventions received in advance SN 15 46,239,141 45,067,305
Lease liabilities HEBRE 16 942,205 1,384,320
61,123,360 59,970,253
Net current assets BB ESE 39,216,787 32,055,854
Total assets less current liabilities BEAERTEIEE 98,066,842 96,132,587
Non-current liabilities FEREEE
Lease liabilities HEBRE 16 349,108 599,343
Provision for restoration cost BRI 100,000 100,000
Subventions received in advance SN 15 7,544,694 10,310,312
7,993,802 11,009,655
90,073,040 85,122,932
Represented by: S
Leasehold property control account THEYES4RRIE 17 43,937,180 44,960,835
Equipment control account R 4IBRIE 18 1,484,621 1,894,831
Designated fund for approved projects BEBEBiEEES 19 13,289,787 5,987,898
General fund —fEES 31,361,452 32,279,368
90,073,040 85,122,932

The financial statements on pages 121 to 149 were approved and authorised for issue by the members of Consumer Council on 28

July 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

E

Ms. Gilly Wong Fung-han
BERALL

Chief Executive

BeE

BN 121 EEE 149 BNMBEBRRENR_F_=FtR_1+/\BEHEE

BRESREMENIRERM » WAL TRERE
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Financial Statements Ef#3R%

Statement of Changes in Funds and Reserves E& NGB EIR -
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 B E — S =F=—A=+—HILFE

Leasehold Designated
property Equipment fund for
control control approved General
account account projects fund
HEWMZE RE BOEEBZ —f% Total
HEIRIEA AR EEES B a5
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BT BT BT
(Note 17) (Note 18) (Note 19)

(fzt17)  (Wfz£18) (K7 19)

At 1 April 2021 R_EZE_—FNA—H 45,636,913 2,098,467 4,045,970 25,565,461 77,346,811
Surplus for the year NEERBH - - - 7,776,121 7,776,121
Current year addition AR HINSEE 477,990 973,767 3,101,528  (4,553,285) -
Current year utilisation REE([FHEEE (1,154,068) (1,177,403) (1,159,600) 3,491,071 -
At 31 March 2022 N_EBZ_F=H=+—H 44,960,835 1,894,831 5,987,898 32,279,368 85,122,932
Surplus for the year REERER - - - 4,950,108 4,950,108
Current year addition  AEEEINSEE 250,606 911,722 10,403,415 (11,565,743) -
Current year utilisation ANEE([FHESEE (1,274,261) (1,321,932) (3,101,526) 5,697,719 -
At 31 March 2023 RTZE"=F=RA=+—H 43,937,180 1,484,621 13,289,787 31,361,452 90,073,040

HBEESS 2022-23 F3§ 123
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Statement of Cash Flows IRE&HRER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 B, Z — S " =F=—HB=+—HIFE

2023 2022
_BT=F -
Notes HKS HKS
Kzt BT BT
Operating activities SEEEE)
Surplus for the year NEERBR 4,950,108 7,776,121
Adjustments for: LU TNIBEEEHRE
Subventions utilisation on property, plant and WZE ~ MEER KSR B ERE
equipment (6,314,382) (6,041,638)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEAENERX 104,510 149,866
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment WZE ~ MBS KRS E 8,910,575 8,373,106
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENITE 1,460,155 1,435,156
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  HEYZE ~ #es KRB - (500)
Gain on early termination of leases IRAIR IR Erk s (15,637) -
Interest income A B A (1,498,287) (322,029)
Operating cash flows before movements in working &E&ESEFHHIZ
capital KESIRSTE 7,597,042 11,370,082
(Increase) Decrease in account receivables, deposits FEUERTN ~ IR MTBNFIEZ
and prepayments (1hn) BE (485,060) 279,288
(Increase) Decrease in advances to staffs BHFETINEIFIEY
(#290) F (23,654) 30,420
(Increase) Decrease in amount due from Consumer SHEEFAESHEKTIE
Legal Action Fund (1hn) E (497,260) 287,026
Decrease (Increase) in subventions to be claimed HREETZRA (1) 657,421 (2,015,755)
Decrease in subscriptions received in advance TAaUE] BE 2R (127,601) (65,833)
Increase (Decrease) in account payables and FENRFAETER
accrued expenses a0 (EA ) 1,093,691 (1,188,870)
(Decrease) Increase in provision for untaken leaves  RIEN,Z B EBIEE 2
(B4 ) 1B (542,704) 96,451
Net cash from operating activities RESEREECHR S5 7,671,875 8,792,809
Investing activities BEEE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment e E A IV ] (4,399,039) (4,903,762)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEZE ~ MER N =RERY
equipment Fr8 5518 - 500
Placement in time deposits with original maturity EREREZIHRBE=EA
over three months <~ EHEER (98,082,000) (95,070,000)
Withdrawal of time deposits with original maturity I2ENEREZIEIHBE=@ES
over three months <2 EHER 103,350,000 69,148,000
Interest received [SAE= 1,498,287 322,029
Net cash from (used in) investing activities RE (HAR) BEFE RS TAE 2,367,248 (30,503,233)
Financing activities BEEE
Subventions utilised for non-recurrent projects FARIER BT B 2 B (13,879,420) (16,321,281)
Subventions received for non-recurrent projects JEREMIEB TS B 18,600,020 20,283,672
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities EBIRTHEBEZANSED (1,421,726) (1,408,351)
Interest paid for lease liabilities YTNREaEZF A (104,510) (149,866)
Net cash from financing activities REEEMEC RS EE 22 3,194,364 2,404,174
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash REMRSEEYNREE
equivalents #hn (B ) 13,233,487 (19,306,250)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year NAFENZHERIREEEY 21,725,705 41,031,955
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year PAREECHERIRESEEY 13 34,959,192 21,725,705
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf F& 3R R M=t
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & &2 —_ B " —F=—F=1+—HItFE

OBJECTIVES AND OPERATION OF THE COUNCIL

The Consumer Council (the “Council”) is a body corporate
with perpetual succession established under the Consumer
Council Ordinance 1977 (Chapter 216, Laws of Hong Kong) for
the purpose of protecting and promoting the interests of
consumers of goods, immovable property and services. It is
mainly funded by Government subventions. The Council is
also appointed as trustee for the Consumer Legal Action Fund
under a Deed of Trust for the purpose of offering financial
assistance to consumers in seeking legal redress, remedies
and protection.

The address of the registered office and principal place of
operation of the Council is 22nd Floor, K. Wah Centre, 191
Java Road, North Point, Hong Kong.

The Council is exempted from profits tax under the provision
of section 87 of the Inland Revenue Ordinance.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is also the functional currency of the Council.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

In the current year, the Council has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs which collective term includes all
applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2022 for the preparation
of the financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16  Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions Beyond
30 June 2021

Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Annual Improvements to 2018-2020 Cycle
HKFRSs

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has no material impact on the Council's financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these financial
statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf } &R R =t
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 8, — S " =HF=A=+—HI-FE

2.

3.1

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Council has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective for the current year:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of  Accounting
Policies!
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting

Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction!

Insurance Contracts?®

Amendments to HKAS 12

HKFRS 17

Initial Application of HKFRS 17
and HKFRS 9 - Comparative
Information*

Amendment to HKFRS 17

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?

Liabilities  with

Amendments to HKAS 1

Non-current
Covenants?

Amendments to HKAS 1

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024.

3 The effective date to be determined.

The members of the Council anticipate that the application of
all new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the financial statements in the foreseeable future.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by HKICPA and accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong. These financial statements
have been prepared on a basis consistent with the accounting
policies in the 2022 financial statements except for the
application of amendments to HKFRSs in Note 2.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical
cost basis. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value
of the consideration given in exchange for goods or services
at the date of transaction.
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EUECEES

Notes to the Financial Statements B ¥ R M=t

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &&= =&

_=F=RA=t—HLIHFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3. MERREERELERTERTECR (&)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FTESHEE (&)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

The Council recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when "control" of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Council's performance as
the Council performs;

. the Council's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Council
performs; or
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. the Council's performance does not create an asset . FEEMNBNITATERELENES
with an alternative use to the Council and the Council eEERARNEE  BXE9F
has an enforceable right to payment for performance BEHITRERMUKINESERBAYNER
completed to date. 15 o

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the SR WRENE P ESZE R RIEE

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service. H RERSIESR ©

Government subventions BUFERR

Government subventions for recurrent projects are
recognised when funds are appropriated by the Government.

Government subventions for non-recurrent projects are
recognised as income over the periods necessary to match
with the related costs which the subventions are intended to
compensate on a systematic basis.

Capital contribution

Contribution of cash and capital assets by the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the "HKSAR")
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are accounted for as capital contribution and recognised in BERAANE RN EENESEEEERR
the appropriate funds and reserves account. HFEDR o
Sales of product EmEERA

Sales of CHOICE magazine is recognised at a point in time
when the magazine is delivered to the customer.

Service income

Service income from administrative services is recognised over
time when services are rendered.

HE CEEY ATINKASRATIRM#G
ﬁﬁﬁifﬁﬁwu

BRFUA
TR RV AR A5 WL & 1R BR 75 1R AL B 1

=7
at ©

HEERES

2022-23 3 127



Appendix 1 - ffig&—

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf } &R R =t
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 8, — S " =HF=A=+—HI-FE

3.

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses,
if any.

Assets in the course of development for production supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost less any
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees capitalised in
accordance with the Council's accounting policy. Such assets
are classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets,
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in statement of the
income and expenditure.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
and only when the Council becomes a party to the contractual
provisions instruments and on a trade date basis.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers ("HKFRS 15"). Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL")) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in the statement of income
and expenditure.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf } &R R =t
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 8, — S " =HF=A=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3. NHRBREREERTESHECR (&)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESTECR (8)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRTE (48)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions and are
not designated as at FVTPL subsequently measured at
amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The Council’s financial assets at amortised cost include
account receivables, advances to staffs, amount due from
Consumer Legal Action Fund, subvention to be claimed and
bank balances.

Interest income from financial assets

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Council performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss ("ECL") on financial assets which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
("HKFRS 9") (including account receivables, advances to staffs,
amount due from Consumer Legal Action Fund, subvention to
be claimed and bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf } &R R =t
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 8, — S " =HF=A=+—HI-FE

3.

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Council's historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as
the forecast of future conditions.

The ECL on these assets are assessed collectively using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Council measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Council recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Council compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Council considers both
guantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument's external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor's ability to
meet its debt obligations;
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf } &R R =t
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 8, — S " =HF=A=+—HI-FE

3.

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor's ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Council presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Council
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Council regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

The Council considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Council, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Council).

Irrespective of the above, the Council considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 60 days past
due unless the Council has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf } &R R =t
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 8, — S " =HF=A=+—HI-FE

3.

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Council writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or when the amounts are over one year past
due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Council's recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in the statement of income and expenditure.

(v) Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(a) it has a low risk of default;

(b) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term;
and

(c) adverse changes in economic and business

conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

(vi) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default
is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.
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3.

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(vi) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Council in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Council expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as forward
looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Council takes into
consideration the following characteristics when formulating
the grouping:

. Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar
credit risk characteristics.

The Council recognises an impairment gain or loss in the
statement of income and expenditure for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of accounts receivables, where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.

Financial liabilities

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Council are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including account payables and accrued
expenses, and provision for restoration cost are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method, unless the effect of discounting would be
insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf } &R R =t
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 8, — S " =HF=A=+—HI-FE

3.

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition

The Council derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirely, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
the statement of income and expenditure.

The Council derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Council's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in the statement of income and
expenditure.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Council reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Council estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Council assesses whether there is indication
that corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication
exists, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B ¥ R M=t -

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &&= =&

_=F=RA=t—HLIHFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3. UBRREREELTESBE (8)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 SHIEE (&)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the
Council compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in the statement of income and
expenditure.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group
of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in the statement
of income and expenditure.
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Leases HE

Definition of a lease HEWESE

The Council assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a EEeRASNRBEREENESHED

lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains, a BEHEE - H—HHEeaNRFN—EREEN
oo

lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application or arising from business combinations, the
Council assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf } &R R =t
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 8, — S " =HF=A=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3. MERTREEERTESBER (48)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FTESHEE (&)
Leases (Continued) HE (8)
The Council as a lessee EFEESELAEBEA

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Council applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of land and building and equipment that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-
value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

JERHEREEEEEHE

ZEEn BN B BEERA 12 @A
ﬁl«ﬂ:ﬂﬁﬁ?\@% %Eﬁﬁ%%i%ﬂﬁiim&ﬁ

ARENHE  BREHHEHSHERH
% zc,\aT\E‘M&ﬁﬁ?ﬁ’ﬁﬁfﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁw
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MU BRESN S — R EEREB AE
BABFEIS °

Right-of-use assets AL E
The cost of right-of-use asset includes: ERREEMNRAERE :
. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease . HEaENYTTESEE ;

liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

. any initial direct costs incurred by the Council; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Council in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any

o  REFAMABRHZAFHAEAEEN
R BREAEREREEEE

o ERESREMEMMREERRER X
s ZEBENFBRRFABHEHBEE  ER
HEBEEMESHNEREREES

HE IR KM ATAR ERVAR T T 2
AR AT

EREEEZNAE - BEEART

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and ENBEIELS T Ea G mEFR
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. HEEHFE
Right-of-use assets in which the Council is reasonably certain 2EEE® ﬁ‘éﬁi@i{ﬂﬁﬁ;ﬁTE"%ﬂﬁﬂm R

to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Council presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf } &R R =t
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 8, — S " =HF=A=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3. KA EENTESHHE (8)

3.2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Council as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Council recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Council uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

gatBek ()
BE (&)
ZEREREBEA (B)

HERE

ZEGNHEERKANY - L ARME
ENFEERILFEHEERS - RAE
MENRIRER - HHER AR RE L
BEE x%@iﬁﬁ%ﬂfﬁﬁt HEREE
ARG E

HENRERE

. [ E {4 5% (@%i%l&ﬁ’]liﬁ
R) BBRERELRIEERE

. ERIEREA XN FE8 B BRI
%&%* ROLSAENMAEEEN

/TA ’
o amounts expected to be payable by the Council under . ZEeNFREBERTNTEHARE
residual value guarantees; INEVE

. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Council
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Council exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Council remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)

. BEREENTEE (KEESHE
SEMEETFEZRER) R

. ARSI SR (W EH R B
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REHRBEHE  HESESRERN SRR

FRIEEARIFHAZE -
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whenever: B o
. the lease term has changed or there is a change in the . THERRBESL > BT EES
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which RIBREENEGRE (L 1EHIER
case the related lease liability is remeasured by T 18 gg%ﬂhg\{ﬁ s IR
discounting the revised lease payments using a WIEENZ  BREBREHIEA
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment. R BITMIRE > BHMIRE
% o
. the lease payments change in which cases the related . HESHFERESE  THBERT -
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised B ES E’] HEEE  @BEBELESIHE
lease payments using the initial discount rate. S EH JJ;I;,%L%)J HBLIRE » &
HRLIRETE o
The Council presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on ZESBHEEERMBIRRERTI AE

the statement of financial position.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 B Z"F "=

3.

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Council as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as
lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Council accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an

amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for
the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Council remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification.

The Council accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional lease
or non-lease components, the Council allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of the Council,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on the settlement of monetary items
and on retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in the
statement of income and expenditure in the period in which
they arise.

Short term employee benefits

Salaries and paid annual leave are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees to the
Council.

" \

138 Consumer Council 2022-23 Annual Report

3.

3.2

FZA=+—HILEFE
UHBRRREERTEEBER (&)

SatBeR ()

HE (&)

ZESERFABA (B)

HAIEXK

HESNRELRCES - EXBRRE
ARG —E S - BREZEBESRRIE

HHHEEE - AILIEEEIIARK -

fid HIR LTS
{’FZ%%%L%H?U\EE

. E%IKE&DDA—IEYJ/XJ:WE%%{\EZ
ERRE - DUBRAESEE 5 &

ZEgEREEER

. HENRERMN > AN SERE
RESEEABLEEBIULER
RERBRZENZBEBERBER > M
R EREIT A MEERE -

EHEERAHRBIAK - MAREEHE
K ZESEREXENESHIR - £
RESTHBE R - REEITHNEENT
EHFHMBREKETE -

ZERABHHBEREEEETHER
B COHWHEEEBENESNTELETSE
B BEBHENEGNEIHEAKD
LUK — T 3% 2 TE 48 41 8 15 3% I 7R 65 40 B 26
AR ZEGREBEREANRBONEEE
SER S RIFEEAKRTANEEBIE
% BERENGIRESREREEE
/\\Hmugﬁ\ °

g
ERREE G MBREE  LIDEEG

LS g (GWZ) ﬁzx%i’]}fﬁﬁc%ﬁ
HERERRE - R|ERTER - LU
SMNESHEC SRR ILIE A BRITEXR

BHRE - RINEBERAAEZIFER
IHERIBRENRE -

REERRELRENREGREAELEN
EXERYNZPBNREERARE

i
:v7L,:I\ ©

RHETER

HeNTHFRERERZ
RBAEFERE -

E2RMHAER



Financial Statements Ef#3R%

Notes to the Financial Statements Ejﬁiﬁ?iﬁﬁi
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &% —F=A=1+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3. MRS REERN T B (&)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FTESHHE (&)
Retirement benefit costs BRARENEA
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans RRHEFCRKRER I THIRIE - £&
are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered ,E\TE{,\Eﬁﬁ‘%i.Jtt?—ﬁu%, K9 HA R AR
service entitling them to the contributions. The assets of the RAX - FZEENEEHRZEENEED
plans are held separately from those of the Council in an HERE—EBYEENESH -
independently administered fund.
4. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4. EAEREE
The Council is funded mainly by Government subventions. ZEENREFTEZRBBUTER - £E8
The Council members manage its funds to ensure that the EEE Epiééﬁ L,{EE{%*L:\ BERFE
Council will be able to continue as a going concern. The BIE o RES RN LFAER -
Council's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
5. NON-RECURRENT PROJECTS SUBVENTIONS 5. JER I8 B Bk
2023 2022
s =4 TECTHF
HKS HKS
BT BT
Revamp and develop the signature monthly  ZKUEMZBEEERRMEWN
CHOICE magazine CEEY AT 1,827,715 849,588
Renovation and refurbishment projects RIBF(EEEEHFIEH 3,042,603 3,250,853
Time-limited posts B R IRES AL 3,127,940 4,759,031
Development and enhancement of HAENEBEERRK
information systems and data security BELE 2,377,406 3,212,306
Auto-fuel market study BERAHTSR 845,842 2,344,963
Redevelopment of the Council's official SHESRLEBELETE
website 2,049,210 1,771,614
Sustainable consumption behaviour study S HETAME - 231,306
Job creation scheme under rEiEESET
Anti-Epidemic Fund RSB AIET 2 6,298,490 5,524,122
Accomplishing server virtualisation RAR#EEE - 6,444
Enhancing training programme ns&aEEHIIER 129,289 26,346
Consumer protection studies REEHEE RS - 222,935
Enhancement on the Complaint Case KR ERE EE%%}E
Management system Bzt 126,634 -
Other projects HihigH 368,673 163,410
20,193,802 22,362,918
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf } &R R =t
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 8, — S " =HF=A=+—HI-FE

6. SALES OF CHOICE MAGAZINE 6. e GRIZY BT
Net income from sales of CHOICE magazine after deduction of CGEZEY) BT BEEWAIEINFER -
printing, artwork, postage and promotion costs amounting to hREEEET ~ BUEMIEEE AR A 6,318 BT
HK$6,318 (2022: HK$174,672). (—E——4F 1 174,672 BT ) o
7. STAFF COSTS 7. BTEA
Staff costs include an amount of HKS$6,088,825 (2022: ETRABFE 6,088,825 it (X _—
HKS6,349,750) in respect of contributions to retirement 1F 6,349,750 T ) BYIE KIS R 5T &4
benefits scheme. o
8. NON-RECURRENT PROJECTS EXPENSES 8. gFﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬁtﬂ
2023 2022
s =S
HKS HKS
BT BT
Revamp of and develop the signature monthly  XEEMZBEERRMEN
CHOICE magazine Ce=y BT 1,529,264 426,791
Renovation and refurbishment projects RIBF(ZEENHIEH - 115,750
Time-limited posts BEERE T 3,119,340 4,753,298
Development and enhancement of information BRZFME(LEERLAK N
systems and data security EETa 99,550 929,360
Auto-fuel market study BHRARTHIBE 845,842 2,344,963
Redevelopment of the Council's official website HZE@43ubELEE(LETE] 1,612,703 1,771,614
Sustainable consumption behaviour study B EETAWE - 231,306
Job creation scheme under hEiEERIET
Anti-Epidemic Fund AlZER AT 6,238,835 5,498,808
Enhancing training programme ns&aEEIIIER 129,289 26,346
Enhancement on the Complaint Case KR EREERS
Management system B(stE 112,780 -
Other projects HihiaH 191,817 223,045
13,879,420 16,321,281
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Financial Statements

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 B 2" " —F=—A=1+—HItFE

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 9. L ERY - CINE Y
Leasehold
land and
buildings in Information
Hong Kong Information systems
under long- systems and upgrade in
term lease Leasehold Office computer Furniture progress Renovation in
NEEEH  impr i and fixtures Motor EHITHM progress
HENEE HEWHE WAZE EER# -3 vehicle EER# TR Total
i piET %15 ®iE  REMRE REE HEER FHR HsE Bt
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT
cosT A
At 1 April 2021 RIZE_—FMA—H 62,638,435 24,395,572 1,583,759 27,257,160 750,273 538,046 1,628,206 221,475 119,012,926
Additions B 246,832 135,546 698,225 83,976 3,288,121 451,062 4,903,762
Transfer from (to) ke (F)
renovation and EITRIEE
upgrade in progress MAHZIR 231,158 345,000 19,904 (345,000) (251,062)
Written-off / Disposal e/ RE (3,980) (33,968) (37,948)
At 31 March 2022 RIZ-"H=A=+—H
and 1 April 2022 M_B__&mWA—H 62,638,435 24,873,562 1,715,325 28,300,385 820,185 538,046 4,571,327 421,475 123,878,740
Additions wE 137,506 85,984 628,850 24,892 3,251,159 270,648 4,399,039
Transfer from (to) HEe (£)
renovation and ETHRREE
upgrade in progress FMFARTE 246,694 3,545,017 42,148 (3,545,017) (288,842)
At 31 March 2023 RS =4=A=1+—HQ 62,638,435 25,257,762 1,801,309 32,474,252 887,225 538,046 4,277,469 403,281 128,277,779

DEPRECIATION

At 1 April 2021
Charge for the year
Eliminated on
Written-off / Disposal
At 31 March 2022
and 1 April 2022
Charge for the year
At 31 March 2023

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 March 2023

At 31 March 2022

The above items of property, plant and equipment (other
than information systems upgrade in progress and renovation
in progress) are depreciated on a straight-line basis, at the
following rates per annum:

e

W2 —HFmMA—H
REEXH

HsH/

RE R
W_ZE__F=A=+—H
M-F-__FmA—A
AEEXH
R_®_=F=A=1+—H

RREE
N_R-=F=A=1+—H

WZIZR_"_F#=A=+—H

Leasehold land

Buildings

Leasehold improvement
Office equipment

Information systems and

computer equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicle

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, property, plant and equipment
with an aggregate net book value of HK$12,140,809 (2022:
HKS12,252,652) were pledged to secure a mortgage loan from
the bank with no outstanding balance for both years. All the
leasehold properties are under second mortgage in favour of

the Government.

17,928,847 12,927,167 1,194,355 20,519,019 642,453 179,349 53,391,190
875,972 3,183,919 254,892 3,815,967 63,007 179,349 8,373,106
(3,980) (33,968) (37,948)

18,804,819 16,111,086 1,445,267 24,334,986 671,492 358,698 61,726,348
875,972 3,419,895 95,243 4,253,399 86,718 179,348 8,910,575
19,680,791 19,530,981 1,540,510 28,588,385 758,210 538,046 70,636,923

42,957,644 5,726,781 260,799 3,885,867 129,015 4,277,469 403,281 57,640,856
43,833,616 8,762,476 270,058 3,965,399 148,693 179,348 4,571,327 421,475 62,152,392
P MBS RERE (BRETHNER
%%{Eﬂ-%&&%ﬂ%%) BUTEXDIERE
EATIE -
Over the remaining term of the AELH IRFHA 2 Tl R EAPR
leases
Over the shorter of their useful pi-t==l EHAERERS i
lives or the remaining term of BEZHEGER (L
the lease of land BB ERTE )
20% HEMZEEE 20%
33.33% YN 33.33%
33.33% EERAMEEM 33.33%
B4
33.33% BRREE 33.33%
33.33% KEhE 33.33%
MNIBE_=FR_F__F=H=+—
B - REVFESET 12,140,809 87T (2022

4F £ 12,252,652 T ) M) ~ AR KR
EEMLERITIEGZBER - HXmE
FEHEREEGH - IERSHEYX
BB RS AMEH "% o
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf } &R R =t
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 8, — S " =HF=A=+—HI-FE

10. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Cost
At 1 April 2021
Additions

At 31 March 2022

Additions

Eliminated on early termination /
contract expiry

At 31 March 2023

Depreciation
At 1 April 2021
Charge for the year

At 31 March 2022
Charge for the year

Eliminated on early termination /
contract expiry

At 31 March 2023

Carrying values
At 31 March 2023

At 31 March 2022

Total cash outflow for leases

For both years, the Council
equipment for its operations.

10.

|57
RN_B_—FmWA—H
NE

N B _FZA=1+—H
NE

R L/ & R m s
RZFB_=F=A=*1—H
e
RZF_—FA—H
AEEH
RZB__H=R=+—H
AEEH

AT L/ & R 2Ry s
R-B_=F=R=1+—H

MRIEE
RIB_=F=A=1—H

R_BE_"H#=A=+—H

HERERHBER

leases offices and office
Lease contracts are entered

into for fixed term of one to five years (2022: one to five
years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Council applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

The above items of right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis, at the following rates per annum:

Over the lease term of 2 years to 3
years

Over the lease term of 1 year to 5
years

Office premises

Office equipment
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EREEE
Office Office

Premises equipment Total

BAE PATRE =
HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BT
4,057,761 301,029 4,358,790
626,781 23,679 650,460
4,684,542 324,708 5,009,250
521,658 424,447 946,105
(626,781) (324,708) (951,489)
4,579,419 424,447 5,003,866

1,438,612 211,141 1,649,753
1,330,325 104,831 1,435,156
2,768,937 315,972 3,084,909
1,373,604 86,551 1,460,155
(425,689) (324,708) (750,397)
3,716,852 77,815 3,794,667
862,567 346,632 1,209,199
1,915,605 8,736 1,924,341
2023 2022

s =4 =S
HKS HKS
BT BT
1,526,236 1,558,217

RREEE  EESHERAEZLMAZE
RIEELECH - HEANAIMZEE
ERAE—Z0E (ZE-—# ' —2F
F) - MEGRFKIUBBELEETRER
BEBZARNER LG - REER
RIS RAHEEER > ZESEBAHMN
EEMETEXAH ERAIER -

DU RE RS B B T L B
EATHTE -

%223 FHH
%125 FHH



Financial Statements Ef#3R%

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf } &R R =t
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 8, — S " =HF=A=+—HI-FE

11. OTHER ASSETS 11. HithEE

Other assets included account receivables, deposits and HMWEEEREWERR - S XFENARK

prepayments, advances to staffs and amount due from I8~ Rt %EIE’]?EEE SUEE=E= i

Consumer Legal Action Fund. The amounts are unsecured and @E’g\]},@u&,‘ = %5 K IA NG —Q?&ﬁﬂ&% at

interest-free. Except for the advances to staffs which will be A © _°_ @_%I"_ﬂ E'I_im & Eﬁjﬁiﬂi uﬁ’ﬁi

settled by six (2022: three) monthly instalments, other (_ %}f_gj’ﬁ_ﬂ/ﬂgg{i%ﬁ %E ’\ﬁf'}{

amounts are repayablle on demand. The Council assessed the 21 ﬂ;% %ﬁu ﬁ%\E'J %gﬁﬂﬁiégié fj 7 7

ECL of such balances in Note 21. i o

12. SUBVENTIONS TO BE CLAIMED 12. RIS
2023 2022
- B
HKS HKS
BT BT
Job creation scheme under HEIEESIE T

Anti-Epidemic Fund BRI T2 1,572,268 1,871,518

Sustainable consumption behaviour study A& EE{TANE
(Note (i) (B (—) ) - 358,171
1,572,268 2,229,689

Note: MisE -

(i) The project of the Sustainable Development Fund (—) AFEREES ( TAHEXE
(the “SDF”) was completed in last year and the E$ ) EEINEERE 0 &
amount was fully reimbursed in accordance with ECEBE_=F=A=+—HIE
the terms and conditions of the Application B OEERRESCIHRBAE
Guidelines and Funding Agreement during the 22| R BB S BRI R &
year ended 31 March 2023. %?ﬁlﬁ%ﬁ?%w\ﬁ o

13. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 13. RITRREES

2023 2022
=4 BT THE
HKS HKS
BT BT

Time deposits with original maturity of BEEFHHA=ERZEH
three months Pt - 6,070,000
Cash at bank and on hand PBITIRESNERFRS 34,959,192 15,655,705
Cash and cash equivalent RELIRSHEEY 34,959,192 21,725,705

Time deposits with original maturity over [REZIE BB =181 = EHA
three months B 59,582,000 64,850,000

Bank balances and cash IRITHRRARS

94,541,192 86,575,705

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily fETTﬁ@W%fETT!E&@JT R 2R Y

bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made in between three A 8 = /U_i%ﬁ BROHARAE= J‘f‘:@ H

months and twelve months (2022: between three months and (— "——ﬁ'—; %_—'5/71—— e ) & =

twelve months) and earn interests at the respective time TE 13 75 3R A = \QEEX_?H FREEHE R

034% %] 4.20% ( — &~ 4 :027% %

deposits rates ranging from 0.34% to 4.20% (2022: 0.27% to

9, o
2.08%) per annum. 2.085)
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf } &R R =t
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 8, — S " =HF=A=+—HI-FE

14. ACCOUNT PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES 14. FENERS R ESTER
Account payables are unsecured, interest-free and repayable FER BRI RNERIEH » Rt A B BB
according to the respective credit terms. The Council has EXRAEEERTFLUESERE FTESXLER
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all ENSHERESIERSE  DIEGRENZIE
payables are paid within the credit timeframe. TEEEHRATREE A o
15. SUBVENTIONS RECEIVED IN ADVANCE 15. FEWMER
Subventions unexpended at the end of the reporting period: EARREE R ARG A BT :
2023 2022
=t - 5 =S
HKS HKS
BT BT
Renovation and refurbishment projects RIBF(Z RN IEH 7,189,060 10,479,439
Time-limited posts BEFIRERAL 8,286,116 10,364,054
Revamp of and develop the signature BEEMBEERER MR
monthly CHOICE magazine (Y AT 5,514,627 7,342,342
Development and enhancement of HENEBLEERRK
information systems and data security B2 7,495,546 6,039,952
Promotion of new legislation HER 2 HEE 5,199,999 5,200,000
Redevelopment of the Council's official SBESRLEE R ETE
website 4,672,496 6,721,706
Auto-fuel market study BHRRTHIEE 3,360,032 2,969,391
Consumer protection studies REHEEERMRE 808,765 1,014,138
Environmental responsibility RIFEMT 685,174 685,174
Enhancing training programme ns&aEEIHIER 428,469 557,759
Event Commemorating the 45th Anniversary SHEBEEZE @I N+ TBEE
of Consumer Council AEED 551,464 551,464
Strengthening consumer protection for IEEE A RREHE S
Mainland visitors R IRE 484,043 484,043
Replacement of motor vehicle P E) B 100 163,400
Job creation scheme under Anti-Epidemic EInEESIE T
Fund A& st S 39,823 -
Mobile site for Online Price Watch FHAR TR EER—EE 1,500,000 1,500,000
Enhancement of the Council's Compliant Case SHESEFEREIERS
Management System BibstEl 7,353,366 1,090,000
Other projects HihiaH 214,755 214,755

53,783,835 55,377,617

Current liabilities mEEE 46,239,141 45,067,305
Non-current liabilities JERBIEE 7,544,694 10,310,312

53,783,835 55,377,617
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf } &R R =t
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 8, — S " =HF=A=+—HI-FE

16. LEASE LIABILITIES 16. HEAE
2023 2022
=4 BT F
HKS HKS
BT BT
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEAE
Within one year —FR 942,205 1,384,320
Within a period of more than one yearbut ~ —4FL H{EARBBRLE
not more than 5 years 349,108 599,343
1,291,313 1,983,663
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 3 : I+ _{@ B RNZ)H] - A E8
months shown under current liabilities AN =YES (942,205) (1,384,320)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months A+ _{E S A ZEIL » WEARN
shown under non-current liabilities JEREEE 349,108 599,343
17. LEASEHOLD PROPERTY CONTROL ACCOUNT 17. HEMHERFIRE

ZRRRBERARNBEREYENBUTR
MEALREBEEREENHEF &
ESHBEHNER - BEEBEEENT
% o

=]

The amount arises from capital contribution by the
government for the acquisition of leasehold properties and
appropriation from general fund in previous years for
subsequent purchase of capital assets and is reduced by
depreciation of the related assets.

18. EQUIPMENT CONTROL ACCOUNT 18. H SRR

The amount was appropriated from general fund in previous
years for the acquisition of office equipment, computer
equipment and furniture and fixtures and is reduced by

ZHREBREF-RESPHEH  ARBE
WMAERM ~ BIERE - AMREKE I
BEEBEEZITE °

depreciation of the related assets.

19. DESIGNATED FUND FOR APPROVED PROJECTS 19. REBEEZIEEES

R|ERTER > BREBERLUTEE
TEEME—RESEIMABANES

The amount represents funds for current projects
appropriated from general fund for the below designated
activities not yet incurred by the end of the reporting period:

2023 2022

-t - -
HKS HKS
BT BT
Online CHOICE operation reserve ML CGEE) BTISERE 2,637,344 2,637,344
Office equipment and maintenance WNT X NS 359,026 384,377
Testing and research Sl AR ZS 1,531,033 2,966,177
IT development = ERMFIE 8,762,384 -
13,289,787 5,987,898
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf } &R R =t
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 8, — S " =HF=A=+—HI-FE

20. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 20. BEAEIE
2023 2022
BT = F
HKS HKS
BT BT
Capital expenditure in respect of renovation and ﬁ%ﬁ 1 NI B AR TN -
acquisition of plant and equipment contracted BTN EREMBEREFEL
for but not provided in the financial statements B EARBEY 6,631,382 9,942,441
21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 21. EMTHR
a. Categories of financial instruments . & TEER
2023 2022
B = E:THF
HKS HKS
BT BT
Financial assets SHEE
Amortised cost EEE A 98,677,967 90,266,057
Financial liabilities SRIBE
Amortised cost Y AR 6,663,012 4,877,817
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies Z. SRRAREEBEELREER

The Council's major financial instruments include account
receivables, advances to staffs, subvention to be claimed,
amount due from Consumer Legal Action Fund, bank
balances and cash, provision for restoration cost and
account payables and accrued expenses. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments and
the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The Council members manage and monitor these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Council's maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Council due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties arises from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Council reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual receivable
items at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In addition, the Council performs impairment
assessment under ECL model upon application of HKFRS 9
on receivable balances based on provision matrix.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf } &R R =t
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 8, — S " =HF=A=+—HI-FE

21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 21. SETH (&)

2. CREREREERBCK (&)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

For account receivables, advances to staffs, subvention to
be claimed and amount due from Consumer Legal Action
Fund, the ECL is insignificant as the Council had not
encountered any difficulties in collecting from the debtors
in the past and is not aware of any financial difficulties
being experienced by these debtors.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Market risk

Foreign currency risk

Since majority of the Council’s transactions is
denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HKS$”) and United
States dollars (USS”), the members consider that the
Council’s exposure to foreign currency risk is insignificant.

Interest rate risk

The Council’s exposure to changes in interest rates is
mainly attributable to bank balances and cash.

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rates of bank
balances denominated in US$ and HKS had been 4%
(2022: 4%) basis points higher / lower respectively and all
other variables were held constant, the Council’s surplus
for the year and general fund would increase / decrease
by HK$3,781,608 (2022: HKS3,462,984).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
throughout the year and had been applied to the
exposure to interest rate risk for bank balances in
existence during the year. The 4% (2022: 4%) basis point
increase or decrease on the bank balances denominated
in USS and HKS respectively represent the members’
assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest
rates over the period until the next annual end of the
reporting period. The analysis was performed on the same
basis for 2022.

EERBRBEE (4)

HARZE 2B EREBEABREAZ S
IME MRS - BWEEBIZSEEBA
IR A ISR EE - "tk > FEUERK ~
BETETHFES R « FREUER H
BEFAESHERSIENTEREES
BER -

R 73 R B E BRI ER T
%1§/§§$%& E/‘] ﬁEfT—F ’ JHZﬁETTmu Q%E/] {l:l
ERBER -

g EE
SMEESR

IV SwiIES

HREZEGNARBIRS
SEZ8RREES m%%ﬂ

HE - RE2%8

BRIARER

FI=E,

ZECTHRNANXEGRABETERERN
ﬁﬁ{j—mﬁlﬁ?&iﬁ Stz ©

Fﬁiﬁx =TT A B TTEHER
THEBAEAB AR TR A% (T
:EUMJ%% mEMESARE > Bl
ZESNAFERHI—RES KL
SiEi4 3,781,608 85T (—& 4 o I
I3t 3,462,984 BT )

TRBRBRED B RN REENER
B4 WEANFERNFEEERARER

HISRITHEER o LISk m&%mﬁ@%ﬁﬁ
ERAER AN TR A% (CF
4% ) EE > RERITEESHHREE
WEHA T —FERAUENFNREEH
BT E - OMMEREE _F " 44
ﬁ °
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Notes to the Financial Statements Ejﬁiﬁ?iﬁﬁi
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &% —F=A=1+—HIEFE

21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 21. SETH (&)

SHEAREEERREER (&)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies S

(Continued)
Liquidity risk

The Council is dependent on the government subventions.
The members of the Council consider that the Council is
exposed to minimal liquidity risk as the Government
would provide subvention for the Council based on
budgets prepared by the Council annually. The members
of the Council also closely monitor the Council's cash flow
position.

Bank balances comprise of time deposits with an original
maturity of twelve months or less.

Liquidity and interest rate table

The following tables detail the Council's remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Council can be required to
pay.

T ELRE

ZEGESRKEBIFER - AR
f“‘f‘ﬁﬁ%xﬁ%ﬁfﬁ A Il B9 TR B
0 AL */\EM%KEFE
E%E@?ﬁiﬂé%ﬂ&egﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ ES
EgZENBYREEAERSREMN
ks

BITERBEREINE AT EA
KL PIREER TR o

HENERFIFEZ

TIRBFAI B T EZESITES
mﬁ%{fﬁ’]ﬂﬁ?mﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ A E YN
REEZESARERERTHANRE
E%Z%mﬁ%ﬁﬂiﬂﬁfﬁfﬁﬁmgfﬁ
il o

Weighted
average Total
effective 6 months 6-12 1-5 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate or less months years cash flows amounts
IREFY ~EA "NE —F XMRES BRH
BERAIE mUT +2ER AF MERE S8
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
% BT BT BT BT JBIT
2023 TET=F
Account payables JE{FBRFN - 6,663,012 - 6,663,012 6,663,012
Subtotal /Nt 6,663,012 - 6,663,012 6,663,012
Lease liabilities ~ FAE&(E 5.50 743,030 233,226 371,000 1,347,256 1,291,313
Total &5t 7,406,042 233,226 371,000 8,010,268 7,954,325
2022 TE T —F
Account payables JE{BRFX R 4,877,817 - 4,877,817 4,877,817
Subtotal Nt 4,877,817 - 4,877,817 4,877,817
Lease liabilities ~ fAE&(E 5.74 718,871 737,214 606,855 2,062,940 1,983,663
Total &5t 5,596,688 737,214 606,855 6,940,757 6,861,480
Fair value measurements of financial instruments A SRTECZAFEEEE
The members of the Council consider that the carrying FEQFERE  THBFRERPER

values of financial assets and financial liabilities
recognised in the financial statements approximate their
fair values.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf } &R R =t
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 8, — S " =HF=A=+—HI-FE

22. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ~ 22. mETEHFEEAECHER
ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Council's liabilities TRAEMMETHFELATES@CEEL
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash HEE  BEBESNIFRSES - AE
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those BEHMELA AN ABSREBNER
for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, BehENEa el ReaxNEAKRE
classified in the Council's statement of cash flows from WEESEANESRE o
financing activities.
Subventions
Lease received in
Liabilities advance Total
HEaE TRWEEER A
HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BT
(Note 16) (Note 15)
( K7zt 16 ) (Bt 15)
At 1 April 2021 RZE_—FMA—H 2,741,554 57,456,864 60,198,418
Financing cash flows BERSARE (1,558,217) 3,962,391 2,404,174
Interest expenses FMELZH 149,866 - 149,866
New lease entered SIN ZHHA 650,460 - 650,460
Subventions utilisation on property, ¥ ~ S NEEL
plant and equipment BEREA - (6,041,638) (6,041,638)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 N _F=F=1+—H
M_Z__#mMA—H 1,983,663 55,377,617 57,361,280
Financing cash flows MERSRE (1,526,236) 4,720,600 3,194,364
Interest expenses FMEXH 104,510 - 104,510
New lease entered SIS ZHFRA 946,105 - 946,105
Early termination IERI#LLE (216,729) - (216,729)
Subventions utilisation on property, ¥ ~ S NEEL
plant and equipment B e - (6,314,382) (6,314,382)
At 31 March 2023 B _=HF=RA=4+—H 1,291,313 53,783,835 55,075,148
23. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION 23. BBt A5

The Council charged a fee of HK$1,361,747 (2022: HKS864,487)
for administrative service and office support (comprising salary
costs and attributable overhead) provided to the Consumer
Legal Action Fund (the “Fund”) during the year. The charge is in
accordance with the provision of the Trust Deed governing the
Funds and approved by both the Council and the Board of
Administrators of the Fund.

ZESNERWER 1,361,747 #T (—F_
T4F 864,487 BT )  (ERANEEREE
EFRES ( TES ) ) BETBREN
MAETIE (BEHFeIHREEMAR )

HER  ZWERFEERESZEIRRE
PRETRTE » AR EEREHES RN
EeiTREeiZ -
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PRODUCT TESTING, MARKET SURVEY AND STUDY REPORTS
Emilh - mBRERMAERS

1. ELECTRICAL & ELECTRONIC GOODS ERKEEFEMS kel
+ Cooking Blenders ZFBRE#
+ Dehumidifiers iz
e Electronic Toilet Seats & ¥ /AT
* Home Surveillance Cameras ZRFAESI4RE
* Inverter Split-type Air Conditioners #SE D B8/ T4
¢ Men's Shavers EEZ=1
* Notebook PCs  F12Ef4
* Smartphones #AETF14
+ Soundbars EANBELR
> Speakers ZE2a%
+ Tablet PCs FARER
¢ Thermo Ventilators AZRE &1
* Upright Vacuum Cleaners  E37 70 EEH#
* Washer Dryers #EaXEz %

_1

e T e B B B R B B IR IV

2. PHOTOGRAPHIC EQUIPMENT & MOBILE APPS iBE 8t R RENFEHBIEX
» Cameras #E1# T
* Internet Security Software 3R L 28R
* Virtual Private Networks —FEE#EFA A MBS T

—

3. FOOD & HEALTH FOOD PRODUCTS EYWEREZEEMS
* Baby Snacks ZE4h5/E
* Butter; Margarine and Spreads 45~ A4 B IHKE
+ Chicken Essence Products  ZifS
» Cooking Oils B3
* Dried Edible Fungi &R EAE
* Dried Meat Snacks HWEZE
+ Fish Oil Supplements  fHE7cH
* Font Size of Food Labels B®¥IZE&EFTE /N
e GreenTea 5
¢ Healthy Meals &%
+ Rabbit Feed Pellets Rz E
 Sandwich Bread 758
* Sausages &5

* Seaweed 3

R T T B B B B T T I Y
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4. HEALTH, BEAUTY & PERSONAL CARE PRODUCTS R+ EBEREAZEIER M

* Anti-stretch Mark Products  FUIFREE SR T
+ CareFood MB#ER >
+ Disposable Face Masks BIZEXOE T
+ Disposable Face Towels BIZEZMET S
e Eczema &P !
e Electric Toothbrushes &) F R T
* Fingertip Pulse Oximeters #gzCIM&ET |
- Gel Nail Polishes SEB#5ERH T
+ Guasha Therapy &5 !
e Infra-red Lamps for Home Use  ZFFLIMELE S
* Intermittent Fasting ETRIBAE |
* Irritable Bowel Syndrome  B5 iR & |
+ Mouthwash Products #07K S
* Products Containing CBD K fii _EdE M |
* Rinse-off Hair Masks el 8% T
+ Thermometers for Home Use X FRB&;8 &t T
 Toothpaste HF& T
* Topical Analgesics  4MELEFEZEY) !

5. HOUSEHOLD PRODUCTS ZEHm

¢ Bath Towels &M T
* Bedding FKE T
+ Non-plastic Disposable Tableware IR{REIZEEER T

6. AUTOMOBILE PRODUCTS &
 Electric Vehicles E&hE

7. CLOTHING, FOOTWEAR & ACCESSORIES #*#) - B RE 4

 Runners Backpacks 45 T

8. TOYS, STATIONERY & CHILDREN PRODUCTS InE - XERRZRS

* Baby Pushchairs and Strollers 82452 #EE

* Ballpoint Pens and Gel Ink Pens  RFERIEIEE
« Children’s Balance Bikes FE 8

+ Children’s Foam Play Mats 52E#h#h

* Sunglasses for Children REZEAXBIRE

— = =~

T Test 588/ S © Survey TH5FAE /1 © In-depth Study HZHRE
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. Appendix 3 - fff$=

SURVEYS AND SERVICE STUDY REPORTS
A E BT RAR RS

Market Surveys / Price Surveys TiizaRZE / BIRHE

Annual Supermarket Price Survey FEEBHERAE
Bouldering Gyms =B G5

Clear Aligner Services B2 ERIS

Co-living #/&

Credit Card Cash Rebate /£ &0

Dating Apps X & FEATRRT

Eco-coffins IR{RIB

Infant Milk Powder Price Surveys 8240 SR AN EIR AT *
Music Streaming Platforms &4 F&

Online Price Watch 8 _L{EMS—E 8 *

Pet Insurance SEY{RR

Search Tool for Rapid Antigen Test (RAT) Kits Approved for Use by Various Regions
ARAEB AR BN AR B R ERSES *

Search Tool for Registered Over-the-counter Pharmaceutical Products Containing Paracetamol

BARL EH A MNEAREREZ B *
Textbook Expenditure Survey B34 BEEE &
Textbook Price Survey BRI EEIRAS

Used Clothing Recycling Services B2 [EU AR 75

In-depth Studies ;EAM %

Crypto Assets % & &
ETF Connect ETFEEE @

Retirement Investment Tips R{KE75E

*  Published on the Council's Website  FIB A& 1835
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. Appendix 4 - fff$%rM

TRADE PRACTICES IN-DEPTH STUDIES AND CONSULTATION
PAPERS RESPONDED TO BY THE COUNCIL

EEFIERAMZE KA EE

A) In-depth Studies ;F A7

1. Fostering Consumer Trust — Ethical Artificial Intelligence in
E-commerce
CERERELHAR — REETHRBAL
(8 September 2022)

BrERR)

2. CHOICE Article on Buy Now, Pay Later Products
MMEBERN, ZEEER? RE2HAFSE 28BEHE
& (EEF) RTIXE
(17 October 2022)

3. CHOICE Article on the Unconscionable Contracts Ordinance
(REBEEENERED BIHEENEAE ) CBF) ATixE
(15 December 2022)

B) Response to Consultation from the
Government and Other Public Bodies

R e Xl

1. Travel Industry Authority — Trade Consultation Document
on the Implementation Details of the New Regulatory
Regime of the Travel Industry
REEEER — BIRBENRERES T ERMANT
eSS
(4 April 2022)

2. Hong Kong Monetary Authority — Discussion Paper on
e-HKD: A policy and design perspective
FREMEER — (RBREARFTAESR T8IHET) 1
Ay AR A
(24 May 2022)

3. Narcotics Division, Security Bureau — Control of
Cannabidiol (CBD) Under the Dangerous Drugs Ordinance
REBESRE — RIR (BREDE) EHARM_

(28 June 2022)

4. Water Supplies Department — Draft Drafting Instructions
for the Amendment to Waterworks Ordinance (Cap. 102)
and Waterworks Regulations (Cap. 102A)

IKIEE — BUEET OKBBRIEGEO) (5 102 T) M OKBR
TEARB) (55 102A &) MEREFNERANER
(29 June 2022)

5. Electrical and Mechanical Services Department — Trade
Consultation on the Revision of Code of Practice on Energy
Labelling of Products for the Fourth Phase of the Mandatory
Energy Efficiency Labelling Scheme (MEELS)
HETREE — AFMEERUSRBEIE
IREEEZTAD MEFTHRRER
(11 August 2022)

S IpEER ( EmAE

2y

*  Private Consultation  JE/ABARERA

10.

1.

12.

13.

14.

Competition Commission — Consultation Under Section 2 of
Schedule 2 to the Competition Ordinance — Commission’s
Proposal to Accept Commitments in the Car Warranties Case

(EC/OZUB)

BES — BERARERBGEEZR (EC/02UB) HFA
SRR (EEFEB) MI3k 2 28 2 1ETREH

(15 August 2022)

Law Reform Commission — Consultation Paper on Cyber-
dependent Crimes and Jurisdictional Issues
FRREERES — (KESMRBMRTAREZEEES
H) A

(28 October 2022)

Transport and Logistics Bureau and Transport Department
— Public Consultation on the Review of the MTR Fare
Adjustment Mechanism
B RRNERE —
(19 December 2022)

B B E R EREEEIARTEH

Commerce and Economic Development Bureau — Proposed
Updates to Safety Standards for Children’s Products (Schedule 2)
ABREERRR — 2RENREERRDRE (X 2)
(30 December 2022)

The Hong Kong Association of Banks — Phase 2 Review of
Code of Banking Practice*

ERRITAE — (RITEETRI) B _FEEIRT *

(20 January 2023)

Environmental Protection Department — Proposed Control

of Volatile Organic Compound (VOC) Content of Cleaning
Products

RIBREE — ERETERERNERITERIENEE
(23 February 2023)

Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau — Public
Consultation on Regulation of Crowdfunding Activities
WREBLEBR — ABREEDRENARER
(17 March 2023)

Securities and Futures Commission — Consultation Paper
on the Proposed Regulatory Requirements for Virtual Asset
Trading Platform Operators Licensed by the Securities and
Futures Commission

EENRPEEBHERZES — FEEANERSAIES
%%Wﬁxﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁ’lﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁé%:Féﬁ@%%L%E{;A
ARIERIEA R
(24 March 2023)

Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau — Consultation
Paper on Establishing a Policy Holders' Protection Scheme
MREBLEBR — RIREFBARETBIEEAXME
(29 March 2023)
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CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

AEERREEEEEZEE

Chairman xE Vice-Chairman EBIE[E

Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC Dr LO Pui-yin
RAAEERAEED FMPAARED (Up to 2 2023.03.31)

] l

NS

Ms Astina AU Sze-ting Ms Rebecca CHAN Ching-chu Dr Catherine CHONG Shiu-yin Ms Theresa Lena CHOW
& FFE AR BRBTR I FHARE B AR
(up to & 2022.12.05) (up to & 2022.12.05)

™

Mr Alex FAN Hoi-kit, MH Mr Johnny FEE Chung-ming, JP Mr Richard KHAW WVei-kiang, SC Mr Eugene LIU
SEBLEERERED - SRERE BEREAGRAD - P FHERERALRA B g5t
(up to & 2022.12.05) (from 2022.12.06 #2 )

| |

A

Mr Johnny MA Ka-chun, SC Mr Raymond MAK Ka-chun Mr Alan NG Man-sang | Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han —

ERREFAEM =3 BEE R =Rt
(from 2022.12.06 #2)
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ANNUAL REPORT OF THE CONSUMER LEGAL

ACTION FUND 2022-23
HAEBRREEFH 2022-23

The Consumer Council is the Trustee of the Consumer Legal Action Fund (the
Fund) through a Declaration of Trust executed on 30 November 1994.

Purpose

The Fund was established with an initial Government grant of HK$10 million.
Subsequently two extra grants each in the amount of $10 million were received
in May 2010 and May 2018 respectively. The Fund aims to facilitate easier
consumer access to legal remedies by providing legal assistance to consumers,
particularly for cases involving significant public interest and injustice. Through
granting assistance to eligible cases, the Fund also aims to deter business

malpractices and enhance public awareness of consumer rights.

Administration

The Council, as the Trustee, is responsible, through a Board of Administrators,
for the overall administration and investment of the Fund. The Board of
Administrators is in turn, underpinned by a Management Committee. The
latter, whose members were appointed by the Commerce and Economic
Development Bureau, is responsible for advising on the eligibility and merits of
applications seeking assistance from the Fund.

Operation

[t is the function of the Council to help consumers resolve their complaints with
the traders concerned by means of conciliation. The Council may, if it considers
appropriate or if the complainants so request, refer cases of complaints to the Fund

for consideration. Consumers may also apply to the Fund directly for assistance.

Generally, in processing an application for assistance, the Fund will consider
whether all other means of dispute resolution have been exhausted and will
assess the case against established eligibility criteria. Such criteria include
whether the case involves significant consumer interest; whether a large group
of consumers have been or will potentially be adversely affected; whether the
case has a reasonable chance of success: whether assistance to the matter
concerned can promote the consumer cause and produce deterrent effects on
unscrupulous business practices; and whether it is practicable for the Fund to
offer timely assistance.
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Seek further
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Assessment by
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Fund
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YRR
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TEERR MR
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B (44177
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BITEEEES

Not endorsed
by BA
HITEEE
ERE]

Assistance Declined

TRA1FED

Deliberation

During the year under review, the Management Committee held 8 meetings
and resolved matters by circulation on 59 occasions, while the Board of
Administrators resolved matters by circulation on 21 occasions.

Altogether, the Fund considered 51 applications and 12 previous applications
seeking reconsideration of the Management Committee’s previous decisions,
across different categories during the year under review.

After thorough consideration, the Fund declined 21 applications relating to
complaints involving tenancy, purchase of local and non-local properties, beauty
services, immigration consultancy services, sale of goods, insurance, professional
organisation and property management respectively. During the reporting
period, the Fund affirmed the original decisions of 10 previous applications
seeking reconsideration of the Management Committee’s previous decisions
relating to purchase of non-local properties.

During the reporting period, the Fund granted assistance to 30 applications
relating to time-sharing scheme, immigration consultancy services, purchase of
local properties, legal services, financial services and beauty services.

Number of cases granted assistance

A

BRIZEZE
FEEESEERZEGHETT 8RN
59 MU M BB NFEAREIR - MH
H 21V RUAXMBE I ERER -
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Cases Granted Assistance

EF LB E S

O~

S

Time-sharing Scheme — Aggressive Commercial
Practices

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer was induced to
execute a vacation club membership agreement by aggressive
sales tactics adopted by the trader:

The Fund considered that the case involved sufficient
legal merits and significant consumer interest, and offered
legal assistance to the assisted consumer. However, before
commencement of the assistance, the assisted consumer
withdrew the application due to personal reasons.

HEELRS — BWMEERFE
BEATXWHEEZZSRATNBMMHEE T LY
ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ# J //\¥Q%Am °

HERREREADNWERBEMS RERWHEENS -
REHZBHEEETLURE - NA - ERENRFR > X8
HEEENEAEABEAT

Time-sharing Scheme — Aggressive Commercial
Practices

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer was induced
to execute 3 vacation club membership agreements by

unconscionable and unfair tactics adopted by the trader.

The Fund considered that the case involved sufficient legal

merits and significant consumer interest.

HEELRTS — BWEERFE
BEEATXWHEEXISRATINAGBEENARER
FEHEMRET AL ZTEEE -

2R REZREADNEERBENS RBERIEEER R -
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Immigration Consultancy Services — Breach of
Duties

Evidence indicated that an immigration consultancy services
company had breached its contractual and common law
duties of care towards the assisted consumer, rendering his
immigration application to Canada unsuccessful. The assisted
consumer had since immigrated to the UK.

The Fund considered that the case involved sufficient legal
merits and significant consumer interest. However, before
commencement of the assistance, the assisted consumer
withdrew the application due to personal reasons

BRERRY — ERBE
ERER-APEERATRERSONEBETNER
MEHZENHEEBREMERNBFRERI - ZEH
BEHKEBRERE -
EERHEEFRIWEERBENS NERWEEEN 1 -
AN ERBRFR] 0 ZENEEEEREAZERREFR

Immigration Consultancy Services — Breach of
Duties

Evidence indicated that an immigration consultancy services
company had breached its contractual and common law duties
of care towards the assisted consumer, rendering her unable to
proceed with her immigration process.

The Fund considered that the case involved sufficient legal

merits and significant consumer interest.

BREARY — ERBE
EREN-APREMARER T EANREEELNE
EMEHXHEEREREBETERER -

EEAREREARINEERBENSNBERIEEER % -



Purchase of Residential Property — Breach of
Duty and Contract (23 cases)

Evidence indicated that the developer had failed to provide a
first mortgage plan entailing a 2-year principal and interest free

period offered to purchasers at the time of sale.

The Fund considered that the cases involved sufficient legal

merits and significant consumer interest.

FEMXREE — ERBERSH (23 EX)
BIRBURR R AREEM B IR IS B B R AT AR YW
FRERHAE—IZIBE -

EeRREFRERDNEERBENS NERIEEERN S -

(@)
(0

Beauty Services — Personal Injuries Claim
Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer sustained
personal injuries as a result of facial treatment performed by a

beauty centre.

The Fund considered that the case involved sufficient legal

merits and significant consumer interest.

ER/RH — AFEENRR
BRETRXHEERRZ —BERTOMRANERR

M

BB REREADNEERBENS RBERIEEER R -

Legal Services — Breach of Duties

Evidence indicated that a law firm had breached its duties

of care and fiduciary duties towards the assisted consumers,
causing them to suffer loss as a result of the loss of priority
in the charging order obtained over the judgment debtor’s
property to another client of the law firm.

The Fund considered that the case involved sufficient legal

merits and significant consumer interest.

EERE — ERBE
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Financial Services — Fraud
Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer suffered loss
due to suspected fraud perpetrated by a trader purporting to

offer gold trading services.

The Fund considered that the case involved sufficient legal

merits and significant consumer interest.

ERARTE — HREF
ERATRIEEEXI SR ARALEBREAEEXZMR
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Cases Carried Over From Previous Year

The Fund continued to work on the following cases brought forward from the

previous year:

Columbarium — Refusal to Allow Interment of Ashes

The assisted consumer’s mother purchased a niche from a private
columbarium in 1996. In 2017, the assisted consumer wanted to inter
her mother's ashes into the niche after she passed away. However, the
columbarium refused to do so on the ground that the deceased’s name
printed on the receipt issued by the columbarium was different from the

name on her death certificate and Hong Kong Identity Card.

During the reporting period, the columbarium’s application for licence
under the Private Columbaria Ordinance (PCO) was under review by the
Private Columbaria Licensing Board. Meanwhile, the ashes were interred at
another columbarium and assisted consumer wished to wait for the grant
of licence to the columbarium. In the circumstances, the Fund continued to
monitor the progress of the columbarium's application under the PCO.

Fitness Services — Aggressive Commercial Practices
Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer, being a person suffering
from autism, entered into two membership agreements and one
personal trainer's agreement as a result of the unfair trade practices and
unconscionable conduct of the fitness centre. With the Fund's assistance,
the assisted consumer succeeded in his legal action against the fitness centre
and obtained a winding up order with costs in his favour.

During the reporting period, the scope of assistance to the assisted
consumer was extended to cover winding up proceedings. However, due
to absence of response by the assisted consumer, the Fund decided to

terminate the assistance.

Financial Services — Breach of Duty and Contract

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer sustained loss in investing in
London Gold as a result of the breach of duty and contractual obligation by
the trader. In view of the circumstances of the case, the Fund considered
that there were sufficient merits and significant consumer interest for

assistance to be granted for legal action to be taken against the traden

During the reporting period, follow up actions were in progress.

Purchase of Residential Property — Breach of Duty and
Contract

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer was induced to purchase
a unit adjoining the flat roof in reliance of an improper floor plan and

misrepresentations given by the estate agent.

During the reporting period, follow up actions were in progress.
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Fitness Services —Unfair Trade Practices and
Unconscionable Conduct

The Fund granted assistance to the assisted consumer who, as evidence
indicated, had entered into a membership agreement and 2 personal
training agreements as a result of unfair trade practices and unconscionable

conduct of the fitness centre.

During the reporting period, the District Court ordered that judgment be
entered in favour of the assisted consumer against the trader. As the trader
did not pay the judgment debt to the assisted consumer; the Fund extended
the scope of assistance to the assisted consumer to cover enforcement
proceedings. The trader was ordered by the court to be wound up and the

case concluded accordingly.

Time-sharing Scheme — Aggressive Commercial Practices
Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer was pressurised into
executing a vacation club membership agreement by aggressive sales tactics
adopted by the trader including prolonged and persistent sales pitching.

During the reporting period, legal proceedings were commenced against
the trader: After rounds of negotiation, the assisted consumer received a
negotiated settlement sum and the case was settled.

Beauty Services — Personal Injuries Claim
Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer suffered personal injuries as a

result of facial treatment provided by the trader.

During the reporting period, follow up actions were in progress.

Beauty Services — Personal Injuries Claim
Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer sustained personal injuries
as a result of facial treatment performed by a doctor at a medical beauty

centre.

During the reporting period, follow up actions were in progress.

Immigration Consultancy Services — Breach of Duties
Evidence indicated that an immigration consultancy services company
had breached its contractual and common law duties of care towards
the assisted consumers, rendering them unable to proceed with their
immigration process.

During the reporting period, follow up actions were in progress.
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Statistics

During the reporting period, the Fund has received a total of 58 applications and
has granted assistance to 30 applications’.

Finance

The Fund's income is derived from:

(@) investing the capital sum in fixed deposits;

(b) charging applicants a fee of $100 each for cases within the jurisdiction of the
Small Claims Tribunal and $1,000 each for other court cases;

(c) recovering legal costs from defendants in successful cases; and

(d) receiving from each successful case a contribution of 10% of the benefits
gained by the assisted consumern.

As at 31 March 2023, the Fund had a balance of approximately HK$10.5 million?.
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1. See Annex A for the Statistics for Assisted Cases and Applications of Consumer Legal Action Fund in 2022-23.
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2. See Annex B for the Fund's Auditor's Report and Financial Statements for the period under review.
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MEMBERSHIP AND KEY FUNCTIONS
RERTERSE

Consumer Legal Action Fund Board of Administrators By circulation
HEERLAEESHITRES 1«132#155575'%“*
Chairman /& Key Functions FZEHsE

Mr Paul LAM Ting-kwok, SBS, SC, JP The Board of Administrators shall:
MEBIERAERM @ REFEE - KFH#LT (up to & 2022.06.30) 1. be responsible to the Trustee;

Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing, BBS, MH, JP 2. report all its proceedings to the Trustee in
BREBESSEA - ARFEE - LEIHT » KFHL (from 20220715 #E) due course; and

_ 3. perform such duties as may be prescribed
. . =
Vice-Chairman  BIE% by the Trustee from time to time,

Mr Antonio KWONG Cho-shing MH BB ESERET » 8BRS and may exercise such powers as may be

- delegated by the Trustee to it from time to
Members E£E&

Mr Matthew LAM Kin-hong, BBS, MH, JP e

MEZRER » IRFEE - LEHE - AFML BITEESE

DrVictor LUI'Wing-cheong  EE7K 2584 1. HZFEABE

Ms Gily WONG Fung-han & BIf%+ 2. BRRAEEARSHEER &

3. BITEREANSRENBE -
ATRERARFE THIES -

Consumer Legal Action Fund Management Committee Number of Meetings
HEERREEEEERZSTE RN 8
Chairman & Key Functions FZERAE

Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC = sRZAE &R AEAD The Management Committee is responsible

. . _ for advising on the eligibility and merits of
Vice-Chairman  BIE% applications seeking assistance from the

Dr LO Puiyin - ZEMARERAD (up to £ 2023.03.31) Consumer Legal Action Fund.

Members £&

EERERRTEUSFHEBERLESH
Ms Astina AU Sze-ting  BFFEAREAD B FRSE S A A FR S R R RS
Ms Rebecca CHAN Ching-chu  BUEZRZ+ (up to 2 2022.12.05) Rt .

Dr Catherine CHONG Shiu-yin  JHRE B4 (up to & 2022.12.05)

Ms Theresa Lena CHOW  EZEENALZED

Mr Alex FAN Hoi-kit, MH SBELEEARERT KEE

Mr Johnny FEE Chung-ming, JP ZEFRBAZEET - AL (up to & 2022.12.05)
Mr Richard KHAW Wei-kiang, SC #5808 R AREHD

Mr Eugene LIU  BEREDSEA (from 2022.12.06 &2 )

Mr Johnny MA Ka-chun, SC = BEERB & RAREAD (from 2022.12.06 #2)

Mr Raymond MAK Ka-chun =& %4

Mr Alan NG Man-sang RE4E KT

Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han  E Bzt
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STATISTICS FOR ASSISTED CASES AND APPLICATIONS OF
CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND IN 2022-23

1t 2022-23 FEARERIREERANERRBFENRE
Assisted Cases ZBh{EZ

Assisted Cases 9
ZEHEZE
Status of Assisted Cases”
ZEHEEER" (5) (34)

Brought forward . Assistance granted . Assisted cases cleared Carried forward assisted
assisted cases BEESH FHBIAIRE during the year cases
EHERENSZ AR HINE SRS EMESRE ERERENSZEEZRE
# Breakdown on status of assisted cases:
# ZEEZERAIMIT
Compensation recovered 58 {E
* out-of-court settlement FEES}MF0fi# 1
* judgment obtained #ER5EFIERY 1
Cases not pursued further KRB IR i
* no recovery prospect X #EHZ{E ] 42 0
» application withdrawn E B zEH#][E] 2
* terminated by the Fund #{E £#2.F 1
In process TEEEIEH 34

Other Applications to be Handled HfthHFEIZAIRAE

'y 58
(51) m (12

Brought forward applications . New applications
SHERENZBESE ESRENHRHE
Applications handled * Problem solved Carried forward applications
EERIEAYRES * RIRECS ERRR ERIERERRE
* Breakdown of cases with application handled:
* ERERISRERT |
Assistance granted EEE#FIHBIRIEREE 30
Assistance declined EEREMIIEE 21

2022-23 Carried Forward Assisted Cases and Applications
2022-23 FEEEERENZ B ERRBHF

34 I

Assisted cases . Other applications to be handled
L EES HithB1SEEIERIRE
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Independent Auditor’s Report 1837 xS EHsR<

TO THE TRUSTEE OF CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND
(Established in Hong Kong under the Deed of Trust dated 30 November
1994)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Consumer Legal Action
Fund (the "Fund") set out on pages 169 to 183, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the statement
of income and expenditure, statement of changes in capital and
reserves and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Fund as at 31 March 2023, and of its financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Fund in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "Code"), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter

The financial statements of the Fund for the year ended 31 March 2022
were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion
on these financial statements on 29 July 2022.

Other Information

The Board of Administrators of the Fund is responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and
our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report 1837 xS EHsR<

TO THE TRUSTEE OF CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND
(Established in Hong Kong under the Deed of Trust dated 30 November
1994)

Responsibilities of Board of Administrators and Those Charge with
Governance for the Financial Statements

The Board of Administrators is responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, and for such internal control as the Board
of Administrators determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Administrators is
responsible for assessing the Fund's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of
Administrators either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Administrators and those charged with governance are
responsible for overseeing the Fund's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's internal control.

Financial Statements Bf#iR3<
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Independent Auditor’s Report &7 & FTsRE

TO THE TRUSTEE OF CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND
(Established in Hong Kong under the Deed of Trust dated 30 November
1994)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
(Continued)

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Board of Administrators.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of
Administrators' use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Fund's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 July 2023

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

Chan Chi Ming Andy

Practising Certificate number: P05132
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Financial Statements Bf#iR3<

Statement of Income and Expenditure I{Z#&5E K
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 B ZE —_ S _=F# =B =+—HI-FE o

2023 2022
B =F =

Note HKS HKS
wsz AT #

Income WA
Bank interest income $RITR BT A 259,470 59,742
Application fee from assisted consumers  ZBEHBEERFE 52,600 21,500
Sundry income L=l N 40,000 221,477
352,070 302,719

Less: B

Expenditure *H
Auditor's remuneration B RN £ 15,000 17,500
Administrative service expenses THRE S 6 1,361,747 864,487
Bank charges RITER 4,615 4,580
Legal fees for assisted consumers ZEPHEE RIS 1,886,469 303,006
Sundry expenses HMIEY H 19,791 9,147
3,287,622 1,198,720
Deficit for the year KEEEE (2,935,552) (896,001)
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Statement of Financial Position Ef#ARTIR
AT31 MARCH2023 A _F _=F=HA=+—H

2023 2022
S =F T

Note HKS HKS
g3 B BT

Current assets TENEE
Interest receivables FEWARI B 230,477 36,055
Bank balances and cash SRITHEMMAIRS 4 13,312,383 14,521,047
13,542,860 14,557,102

Current liabilities mEEE
Account payables and accrued expenses FENEZRNETER 1,672,761 248,711
Amount due to the Trustee FENMZFEATIE 5 1,361,747 864,487
3,034,508 1,113,198
Net current assets BB ESE 10,508,352 13,443,904

Capital and reserves BER S

Capital =N 30,000,000 30,000,000
General fund —EE (19,491,648) (16,556,096)
10,508,352 13,443,904

The financial statements on pages 169 to 183 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Administrators on 28 July 2023
and are signed on its behalf by:

HINEE 169 HES 183 HNUBREZCN B _=F LA +/\RERTEESIELIEERM > YAMTRERES !

Mr. Clement CHAN Kam-wing, BBS, MH, JP Ms. Gilly Wong Fung-han
BREFESSTA - REHEE - £EHE  KFM+ EREZ L
ADMINISTRATOR ADMINISTRATOR
BITEE HITEE
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Statement of Changes in Capital and Reserves B K (R E)IR
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 B E _FE " =H=-A=+—HI-FE

Capital General Fund Total

BX —fES &3
HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BT
At 1 April 2021 N_FE_—FINBE—H 30,000,000 (15,660,095) 14,339,905
Deficit for the year NEEEIE - (896,001) (896,001)
At 31 March 2022 N "_F=A=+—H 30,000,000 (16,556,096) 13,443,904
Deficit for the year NEEEIE - (2,935,552) (2,935,552)
At 31 March 2023 R_B_=F=HA=+—H 30,000,000 (19,491,648) 10,508,352
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Statement of Cash Flows IR& R ER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 B ZE —_ S _=F# =B =+—HI-FE

Operating activities
Deficit for the year
Adjustments for:

Bank interest income

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital

Increase (Decrease) in amount due to
the Trustee

Increase (Decrease) in account
payables and accrued expenses

Net cash used in operating activities

Investing activities

Interest received

Placement in time deposits with
original maturity over three months

Withdrawal of time deposits with
original maturity over three months

Net cash from investing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the year

Note
Kzt
BEEE
REEEBE
RTIIEE (EL A% -
IRITRIBMA

HEESBHY
LERLNE

ENSEASEY
0 ()

FEN SRR R ES TR
0 (e )

RAREETBREFHR
BEES
2 gESy
FHRRESHAR=EHZ
TERER
RINRESHAR=EAZ
TR
REREEE RS FE
RENFSFEVNZELZ

B

RAEFNRERFREFEY

RAEFERERREFEY 4
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2023 2022
ST =4F s
HKS HKS
BT BT
(2,935,552) (896,001)
(259,470) (59,742)
(3,195,022) (955,743)
497,260 (287,026)
1,424,050 (38,310)
(1,273,712) (1,281,079)
65,048 111,075
(13,500,000) (17,690,000)
14,590,000 18,628,000
1,155,048 1,049,075
(118,664) (232,004)
1,331,047 1,563,051
1,212,383 1,331,047




Notes to the Financial Statements BA}EERIRMI=E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & & —

1.

OBJECTIVES AND OPERATION OF THE FUND

The Consumer Legal Action Fund (the "Fund") was
established on 30 November 1994 under a Deed of Trust
with the Consumer Council as the trustee (the "Trustee")
for the purpose of offering financial assistance to
consumers in seeking legal redress, remedies and
protection. The Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (the "HKSAR") has granted a sum of
HK$10 million as initial capital to the Fund. The capital
should be repayable to the HKSAR upon termination.
Additional capital amounting to HK$20 million was further
injected by the HKSAR to the Fund on 6 September 2010
and 31 May 2018, with HK$10 million each time, increasing
the capital to HKS30 million.

The address of the registered office and principal place of
operation of the Trustee is 22nd Floor, K. Wah Centre, 191
Java Road, North Point, Hong Kong.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is also the functional currency of the Fund.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Fund has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs which collective term includes all
applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2022 for the
preparation of the financial statements:

Amendments to Covid-19 - Related Rent

HKFRS 16 Concessions Beyond 30 June
2021

Amendments to Proceeds before Intended Use

HKAS 16

Amendments to Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRS3  Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Annual Improvements 2018-2020 Cycle
to HKFRSs

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has no material impact on the Fund's financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these financial
statements.

Financial Statements Bf#iR3<
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Notes to the Financial Statements BA}EERIRMI=E
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 B ZE _ S _=F =B =+—HI-FE

FERH I RGBT (EARMBREEA)
( T ABBMBHREREAD) 1) (&)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND ANDAMENDMENTS 2.
TOHONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

ERMEMARERNIFT] KRBT (FHEME
HEZEA)

ESRAFEIARIERER FIIEEMEHR
LRI RASERTH) (BBY M E %

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Fund has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective for the current year:

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKAS 12

HKFRS 17

Amendment to
HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

Disclosure  of  Accounting
Policies?
Definition  of  Accounting
Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction?

Insurance Contracts?

Initial Application of HKFRS 17
and HKFRS 9 — Comparative
Information?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture3

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2024.

3The effective date to be determined.

The Board of Administrators anticipates that the
application of all new and amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the financial statements in the

foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BA}EERIRMI=E
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 B ZE _ S _=F =B =+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 3. R RAEIEEELRFTES R
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements 3.1 R RAmmNEE
The financial statements have been prepared in AU HRRDIZBEBLFTRASESLZ (&
accordance with HKFRSs issued by HKICPA and accounting B EER ) MEBARNDTRAR
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. These Bl o KEEMBRFTWBREMRE T~ — 4
financial statements have been prepared on a basis ﬁzﬁ%#ﬁgeqzmggﬁﬁz — > fEMEE 2 FERRW
consistent with the accounting policies in the 2022 RIEZ] (EBMIEREED) B3] RBRIS o
financial statements except for the application of
amendments to HKFRSs in Note 2.
The financial statements have been prepared on the IR TIIRBE R A ERRE o BEAAA
historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based on —EIRENRRZ BB RESFIATFREZAE
the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for BEMEE o
services at the date of transaction.

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 HEeSBeR
Cost of financial assistance MEEEER

All costs connected with the provision of financial
assistance rendered to consumers are recorded on an
accrual basis and charged against the statement of

RHBEEREYBEDNATBEERERZES
BB - WERSERREMERINSHE
FRARR « EAEXBEEEWREINEH

income and expenditure in the period incurred. Any costs EWEUTER RS LUS AN BRRESR o
recoverable from assisted consumers are recorded as

income upon receipt.

Capital contribution REBEN

Contribution of cash and capital assets by the
Government of the HKSAR are accounted for as capital
contribution and recognised in the appropriate capital
and reserves account.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when and only when the Fund becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments and on a trade
date basis.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BA}EERIRMI=E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 B ZE _ S _=F =B =+—HI-FE

3.

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates

to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The Fund’s financial assets at amortised cost include
interest receivables and bank balances and cash.

Interest income from financial assets

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Fund performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss ("ECL") on financial assets which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) (including interest
receivables and bank balances and cash). The amount of
ECLis updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BA}EERIRMI=E

Financial Statements Bf#iR3<

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 B ZE _ S _=F =B =+—HI-FE

3.

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 3.

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-months ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within
12 months after the reporting date. Assessments are done
based on the Fund's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both
the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

For all other instruments, the Fund measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-months ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Fund recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Fund compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Fund
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument's external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations;
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Notes to the Financial Statements BA}EERIRMI=E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 B ZE _ S _=F =B =+—HI-FE

3.

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 3.

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor's ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Fund presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Fund has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Fund regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

The Fund considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Fund, in full (without taking
into account any collaterals held by the Fund).

Irrespective of the above, the Fund considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 60 days
past due unless the Fund has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;
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Notes to the Financial Statements BA}EERIRMI=E

Financial Statements Bf#iR3<

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 B ZE _ S _=F =B =+—HI-FE

3.

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter  bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Fund writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or when the amounts are over one year past
due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Fund's recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in the statement of income and expenditure.

(v) Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if:

(a) it has a low risk of default;

(b) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term; and

(c) adverse changes in economic and business

conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BA}EERIRMI=E
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 B ZE _ S _=F =B =+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

MHBERBUEERTES B (K)

FESEE (&)
WA (&)
CHEE (&)
TREEREE (E
(7<)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

TR EERENTENER

(vi) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that s
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Fund in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Fund expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

The Fund recognises an impairment gain or loss in the
statement of income and expenditure for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of accounts receivables, where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Financial liabilities

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Fund are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including account payables and
accrued expenses and amount due to the Trustee are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method, unless the effect of discounting
would be insignificant, in which case they are stated at
cost.

Derecognition

The Fund derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements BA}EERIRMI=E
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 B ZE _ S _=F =B =+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

MBEERRUBERTESBER (K)

EEETBOR (&)
THMTA (&)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2

Financial instruments (Continued)

E'l‘lt

2 (&

Derecognition (Continued)

ECRMEEDMBRAENERK  ZREENKRE
EHBWMEBRAERENEZRER AR
KPR °

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirely, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in the statement of income and expenditure.

EREEESTENER  BUEERE -
TRABETSREE BHFHENSHER
MEEmMEAENAENNEZENEESN
WS AEE R AR ©

The Fund derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Fund's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in the statement of income and

expenditure.

4. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 4. BITRRERSE
2023 2022
HKS HKS
BT BT
Cash at bank and on hand as cash and  $R{T R ERERESEA
1,212,383 1,331,047
cash equivalent RELIRESEEY
) L . ) oz o — .
Time deposits with original maturity JEEEJ,H\HE@_@H Z 12,100,000 13,190,000
over three months ERTER
Bank balances and cash RITHBRTIIRS 13,312,383 14,521,047
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on EITIRSRIERITE B Y B a0FN RENF
daily bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made in B o EHIEFMEEA I+ _@EA (=&
between six months and twelve months (2022: between T T NFA A ) BERETERER
six months and twelve months) and earn interests at the FIZEEF S - 7 E E A 0.34%%] 4.00%
respective time deposits rates ranging from 0.34% to (T T4 1027%%)1.82% ) o
4.00% (2022: 0.27% to 1.82%) per annum.
5. AMOUNT DUE TO THE TRUSTEE 5. (e ATRIE
The amount represents administrative service expenses AN EANTERRESE @ 5515
payable to the Trustee, details of which are set out in note B s 6 o sZSRAMIKH « B NIREE
6. The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable 2o
on demand.
6. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 6. ) B

During the year, the Fund incurred administrative service
expenses amounted to HK$1,361,747(2022: HK5864,487)
for the administrative service and office support
(comprising salary costs and attributable overheads)
provided to the Fund. The charge by the Trustee is in
accordance with the provision of the Trust Deed
governing the Fund and approved by both the Trustee
and the Board of Administrators of the Fund.

FR - BSpERHPITERBMNBAE
& (BRFSXHMEEMBERX ) A%
ITE RIS L 1,361,747 BT (Z&F -
4F £ 864,487 ;BT ) ° ZRFEAMIMETIIR
RERBPTNRREDS 2B AKRTE
ANEESHTERE S -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 B ZE _ S _=F =B =+—HI-FE

7. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The capital structure of the Fund consists of the capital
from the HKSAR.

The HKSAR has granted a total sum of HK$30 million as
the additional capital to the Fund as at 31 March 2023.
The Board of Administrators of the Fund manages the
Fund's capital to ensure that the Fund will be able to
continue as a going concern. The overall strategy of
capital management remains unchanged from prior year.

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets SHEE
Amortised cost B A
Financial liabilities TSRaE

Amortised cost

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Fund's major financial instruments include
interest receivables and bank balances and cash,
account payables and amount due to the Trustee.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The Board of
Administrators of the Fund manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Fund's maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Fund due to failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties arises from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets
as stated in the statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Board of
Administrators of the Fund reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual receivable item at the end
of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In addition, the Fund performs impairment
assessment under ECL model upon application of
HKFRS 9 on receivable balances individually.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 B ZE _ S _=F =B =+—HI-FE

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 8. SETH (&)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The credit risk on interest receivables and bank
balances is limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Fund’s exposure to changes in interest rates is
mainly attributable to bank balances and cash.

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rates of
bank balances denominated in HKS had been 4%
(2022: 4%) basis points higher / lower respectively
and all other variables were held constant, the Fund’s
deficit for the year and general fund would increase /
decrease by HK$532,495 (2022: increase / decrease
by HK5580,842).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred throughout the year and had been applied
to the exposure to interest rate risk for bank balances
in existence during the year. The 4% (2022: 4%) basis
point increase or decrease on the bank balances
denominated in HKS represent Board of the
Administrators of the Fund’s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rates over the
period until the next annual end of the reporting
period. The analysis was performed on the same basis
for 2022.

Liquidity risk

The Fund is exposed to minimal liquidity risk as the
Board of Administrators closely monitors its cash
flow.

The earliest date on which the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities, representing non-interest
bearing financial liabilities of the Fund, can be
required to pay is 3 months or less.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

The Board of Administrators of the Fund considers
that the carrying values of financial assets and
financial liabilities recognised in the financial
statements approximate their fair values.
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CONSUMER COUNCIL
SERVICES CENTRES

HEEZRBRHHPL

Consumer Complaint &
Enquiry Hotline
HEEWRERR ARG

2929 2222

Elderly Hotline
BEOERTHR

2110 2288

Hong Kong &E[& Kowloon SLEE[E
Consumer Council Services Centre (North Point)  Consumer Council Services Centre (Tsim Sha Tsui)
Room 1410, 14/F, Kodak House |l 3 Ashley Road, Tsim Sha Tsui
39 Healthy Street East, North Point MBERESERIETL (L0E)
HEERSERBPO (EB) SOPMEEET/EE 3 57

LA RERA 39 FIMERE_HH 1412 1410 F

New Territories 52 [E

Consumer Council Services Centre (Shatin) Consumer Council Services Centre (Tsuen Wan)
Room 442, 4/F, ShaTin Government Offices Room 105, 1/F, Princess Alexandra Community Centre
1 Sheung Wo Che Road, ShaTin 60 Tai Ho Road, Tsuen Wan
HEERSERBPO (PH) HEEREERBIO (BE
WH EREBEE 1R EERM%E 60 5
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Remark: Consumer Council Services Centre (Shatin) and Consumer Council Services Centre (Tsuen Wan) were closed permanently on
24 July 2023 for more effective utilisation of the Council's resources.
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Consumer Council HEEZXEE

Tel EFE:2856 3113  Fax {8E 2856 3611
Website #8if : http://www.consumer.org.hk
E-mail EEP : cc@consumer.org.hk
22/F, K. Wah Centre, 191 Java Road, North Point, Hong Kong
ERABEE 191 SREEREBERL 22 42
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